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THE UNITED STATES NATIONAL MUSEUM:
AN ACCOUNT OE THE BUILDINGS OCCUPIED BY THE

NATIONAL COLLECTIONS.

By Richard Rathbun,

Assistant Secretary of the Sialthsonian Institution, in charge of the U. S. National Museum.

INTRODUCTION.

The object of this paper is to In-iefly describe the history and

character of the several building's in which the science and art collec-

tions belonging- to this Government have })een housed and cared for,

the time for such an account seeming especiall}" opportune, in view of

the recent beginnings of an additional, larger, and more elaborate

structure to meet th(^ demands for increased space. No attempt is

made to contrast the present accommodations with those provided

elsewhere for a like purpose, only such criticisms l)eino- offered as

are directl}^ suggested by the buildings themselves.

The scope of the U. S. National Museum, as defined by acts of

Congress, is exceedingly broad, including, besides natui'al historj^

geology, archtiDology and ethnology, the various arts and industries of

man. Its development, resulting largely from Government explora-

tions, has been greatest in the four subjects first mentioned. The
collections illustrating the industrial arts, though now mainly in

storage, are nearly as extensive in the amount of exhibition space

required, and they can be rapidly enlarged and perfected as soon as

a place is found for them.

Since the seventh decade of the last century the Museum has been

continuously in a state of congestion, and with ever increasing- acces-

sions, it earl\' )>ecame necessary to resort to outside storage, in which

the amount of material is now extremely large. The demand for

additional room, therefore, dates back over twenty years, being based

partly on the need of placing these valuable collections under safe

conditions and partly on the important requirement of bringing them

into service by classification and arrangement. Last j^ear an impor-

tant step in this direction was realized—the passage of an act of Con-

gress under which a more commodious and worthy building- will

speedily be secured.
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As to the saitiil)ility for inuseuin purposes of the existing buildings

it may be said that the Smithsonian building was erected l)efore

nuich was known of museum needs, and it was moreover designed

onl}' in part for nuiseum use. Its public halls,* though exhibiting

man}' important defects, have as a whole served their purpose well.

The acconnnodations for laboratories and the storage of reserve collec-

tions are, on the other hand, ver}' poor, being mainly found in base-

ment and small tower rooms, inconvenient and badly lighted.

The Museum 1)uilding, constructed soon after the Centennial Exhi-

bition of 1S76, primarily for the extensive collections brought to

Washington from that source, was put up hastily and cheaply, and

therefore not as substantially as was advisable. It is practically one

great exhibition hall, since its partition walls are pierced at frequent

intervals with broad and high arched openings. The lighting in the

main is not unsatisfactory, though with a different roof construction it

could be much improved. Here again, however, fault is to be found

with the space available for workrooms and storerooms, since, having

practicall}^ no basement, these rooms are confined to the towers and

pavilions.

In planning the new granite building an opportunity is offered for

correcting these faults. Good and convenient laboratories and storage

rooms have been provided for, and it is intended that the exhi))ition

halls shall show a decided improvement over those in the older

structures.

The history of the buildings is briefly as follows:

In 1840 a society was organized in the city of Washington under the

name of the National Institution, afterwards changed to the National

Institute, among whose objects was the direction of the Smith-

son bequest, then under discussion by Congress, and the bringing

together of collections in natural history, ethnology, and such other

subjects as fall within the scope of a general museum. Its member-
ship included man}^ prominent persons, among them members of the

Government and of Congress, which gave to the society a recognized

position and secured to its purposes extensive quarters in the building

of the Patent Office. Here w'ere assembled the many valuable speci-

mens brought home by the famous United States Exploring Expedition

around the world, as well as others derived from both Government
and private sources, which formed the nucleus of the present national

collections, soon to pass under other control.

Under date of December 6, 1838, the President announced to Con-
gress the receipt in this country and the investment of the Smithson
bequest, amounting to a little more than half a million dollars, and
also invited the attention of that body to the obligation devolving upon
the United States to fulfill the objects of that ))equest. During the

seven and three-quarters years which ensued to the time of the actual
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foundation of the Smithsonian Institution, this matter was constant!}^

before Congress, the subject of numerous propositions and of extended

debates. By the will of Smithson the city of Washington was to be

the home of the establishment, but the character and extent of its

buildings, as well as their site, depended upon the policy which

Congress might adopt for carrying out the wishes of the benefactor, so

tersel}' yet wisely expressed.

The bill which was finally passed and received the approval of the

President on August 10, 1816, gave to the Smithsonian Institution the

custody of the national collections, and provided for a site and building

in the following terms:

AN ACT To establish the "Smithsonian Institution," for the increase and diffusion of knowledge

among men.

Sec. 4. And he it further enacted, That, after the board of regents shall have met and

become organized, it shall be their duty forthwith to proceed to select a suitable site

for such building as may be necessary for the institution, which ground may be taken

and appropriated out of that part of the public ground in the city of Washington

lying l)etween the patent office and Seventh Street: Provided, The President of the

United States, the Secretary of State, the Secretary of the Treasury, the Secretary of

War, the Secretary of the Navy, and the Commissioner of the Patent Office, shall

consent to the same; but, if the persons last named shall not'consent, then such loca-

tion may be made upon any other of the public grounds within the city of Washing-

ton, belonging to the United States, which said regents may select, by and with the

consent of the persons herein named; and the said ground, so selected, shall be set

out by proper metes and bounds, and a description of the same shall be made, and

recorded in a book to be provided for that purpose, and signed by the said regents,

or so many of them as may be convened at the time of their said organization; and

such record, or a copy thereof, certified by the chancellor and secretary of the board

of regents, shall be received in evidence, in all courts, of the extent and boundaries

of the lands appropriated to the said institution; and, upon the making of such rec-

ord, such site and lands shall be deemed and taken to be appropriated, by force of

this act, to the said institution.

Sec. 5. And be it further enacted. That, so soon as the board of regents shall have

selected the said site, they shall cause to be erected a suitable building, of plain and

durable materials and structure, without unnecessary ornament, and of sufficient

size, and with suitable rooms or halls, for the reception and arrangement, upon a

liberal scale, of objects of natural history, including a geological and mineralogical

cabinet; also a chemical laboratory, a library, a gallery of art, and the necessary

lecture rooms; and the said board shall have authority, by themselves, or by a com-

mittee of three of their mem1)ers, to contract for the completion of such building,

ui)on such plan as may be directed by the board of regents, and shall take sufficient

security for the buil.ling and finishing the same according to the said plan, and in

the time stipulated in such contract; and may so locate said l)uilding, if they shall

deem it proper, as in appearance to form a wing to the patent office building, and

may so connect the same with the present hall of said patent office building,

containing the national cabinet of curiosities, as to constitute the said hall, in whole

or in part, the deposit for the caliinet of said institution, if they deem it expedient

to do so: provided, said building shall be located upon said patent office lot, in the

manner aforesaid: Provided, however, That the whole expense of the building and

enclosures aforesaid shall not exceed the amount of , which sum is hereby

appropriated, payable out of money in the treasury not otherwise appropriated,
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together witl._.such sum or .un,s out of the annual interest accruing to the institution, as may, in any year, remain unexpended, after pavin- the cnrmnf
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SMITHSONIAN PARK

^^=^3
Plan of the Smithsonian Park, Showing Location of the Present Buildings,

AND Site of the New Museum Building, Now in Course of Erection.
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on the Mall, but alono- its northern edg-e, directly facing the Smith-

sonian building. Upon its completion, the Museum will be in occu-

pancy of a group of throe buildings, counting a part of the Smithso-

nian as one, and it ma}' safely be predicted that none will long contain

any \acant space.

THE SMITHSONIAN GROUNDS.

In a bill for the organization of the Smithsonian Institution, pre-

pared by Representati\e John Quincy Adams, and presented to the

United States Senate on February 18. 1839, " provision was made for

an astronomical obserxatory, to be erected under the direction of the

Secretary of the Treasury upon land belonging to the United States,

which, after its selection, should be g-ranted for the purpose and con-

ve3'ed as a deed of gift to the trustees of the Institution. The locality

known as Camp Hill, near the banks of the Potomac River and the

mouth of Rock Creek, opposite Analostan Island, seems to have been

under consideration at that time. It was the same site that Washing-
ton had designated for the National University, and was sul^sequentl}'

used for the object Mr. Adams had in mind, but under the direction

of the United States Naval Establishment.

In another bill, introduced in the Senate by Lewis F. Linn, on Feb-
ruary 10, 1841/' it was proposed that the entire tract known as the

Mall be appropriated for the uses of the Smithsonian Institution, with
the provision that the buildings should be erected in accordance with
plans prepared by and under the supervision of the National Institu-

tion, to be approved by the President of the United States. In bills

submitted to the same body in June and December, 1844, by the

Library Committee, consisting of Senators Rufus Choate, Benjamin
Tappan, and elames McP. Berrien, appeared the first detinite charac-

terization of the building, which was to l)e placed upon a site to be

selected in that portion of the Mall lying west of Seventh street.

The bill for the establishment of the Smithsonian Institution which
finally passed Congress and received the a])proval of the President on
August 10, I84t),^' was drafted by Representative Robert Dale Owen.
The sections relating to the site and building are quoted on pages 183
and 184 of the introduction.

Ui)on the organization of the Board of Regents attention in regard
to the site seems first to have been directed toward the Mall, and here
its location was finally established, though not without some difficul-

ties and delay, the choice being subject to approval by the President
of the United States, the Secretaries of State, the Treasury, War, and
the Navy, and the Commissioner of Patents. At a meeting- of the

Regents on September l>, 184(3, the chancellor, the Secretary, and the

« Senate bill 293, 1839. ''Senate bill 245, 1841. f Statutes IX, 102.
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executive committee, live in all, were con.stituted a committee on

grounds and buildings, whose iirst report, su))mitted on November 80

of the same year, resulted in the passage of the following resolution:

That the Regents of the Smithsonian Institution do select and adopt as a site for

their buildings so much of the Mall, in the city of Washington, as lies between

Seventh street and the river Potomac, if the consent of the persons named in the

fourth section of the act to establish the Smithsonian Institution for the increase and

diffusion of knowledge among men be obtained thereto; and that upon such consent

V)eing obtained in due form, the Secretary is hereby instructed to cause the said

ground so selected to be set out by proper metes and bounds.

On Decem])er 1 following .the Board amended the above resolution

by adding the following clause after the word Potomac:

Subject to the power of Congress to grant any portion of the same west of Four-

teenth street to the Washington Monument Society for the purpose of erecting a

monument thereon.

As consent to this proposition was not obtained, it was resolved by

the Regents on December 9:

That a committee of three be appointed by the chancellor to confer with the

President of the United States and the other persons name<l in the fourth section of

said act, and ask their consent to the selection by said Regents of that portion of

said reservation lying between Seventh and Twelfth streets west, in said city, as the

site for the necessary buildings of said institution; and, if such consent be given

—

It is further resolved, That said buildings be located thereon, and at least two hun-

dred and fifty feet south of the centre thereof.

The committee designated consisted of Representatives Hough and

Owen and Senator Evans, but failing in the object of their mission,

the Board resolved, on December 23:

That the Regents of the Smithsonian do select and appropriate as the site for

their buildings the south half of so much of the "Mall," in the city of Washington,

as lies between Ninth and Twelfth streets.

The consent to this choice by the President and other persons

"named in the fourth section of the fundamental act was conmnmicated

to the Board on January 20, 1847, and the further provisions of the

act were then carried out, namely

:

And the said ground so selected shall be set out by proper metes and bounds,

and a description of the same shall be made, and recorded in a book to be provided

for that purpose, and signed by the said Regents, or so many of them as may be

convened at the time of their said organization; and such record, or a copy thereof,

certified by the chancellor and Secretary of the Board of Regents, shall be received

in evidence, in all courts, of the extent and boundaries of the lands appropriated to

the said Institution; and upon the making of such record such site and lands shall

be deemed and taken to be appropriated, by force of this act, to the said Institution.

After the close of these proceedings, however, which at the time

seemed to be conclusive and did tinally prevail, the subject of a site

was again reopened' and led to further inquiries and considerations.

These can best be told in the words of the late Dr. George Brown
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Goode, as recorded in his paper on the Sii'.iflisoniaii Building- and

Grounds.'*

After the present site had l)een selected there appears to have heen some dissatis-

faction in regard to it; nor is this to be wondered at, since at that time the Mall was

remote from the inhabited portion of the city, being a part of what was then known
as "The Island," now called South Washington. This portion of the city was cut

off by an old and unsightly canal running to the Potomac and crossed by simple

wooden bridges at four 2)oints lietween the Capitol and the Potomac River. It was

unfeneed and waste, occupied from time to time by military encampments and by
traveling sho^nnen. After the completion of the east wing in 1850, when the first

lectures were held in the Institution, the Regents were oljliged to build plank walks

for the accommodation of visitors. Indeed, with the exception of the Capitol

grounds and those surrounding the Executive Mansion, the open places in the city

were entirely unimproved.

Soon after the selection of the present site the question was reconsidered by the

Board, and a committee appointed to obtain, if possible, another location. In the

bill as it finally passed Congress permission had been given to locate the building

on the space between the Patent Office and Seventh street, now occupied by the

building used for the offices of the Interior Department. This was partly to enable

the Institution to utilize for its collecti(ins the large hall in the Patent Office then

assigned to the "National Cabinet of Curiosities," partly, no doubt, to secure a more
central location. To obtain this ground, however, it was necessary to have the

approval of the President of the United States and other public officials, which was

not found practicable. The committee fixed upon Judiciary Square, an open space

of rough ground, in which at that time the city hall (a portion of the present struc-

ture), the infirmary, and the city jail were located. Though the adjoining streets

were entirely vacant, this site was regarded as much more accessible than the ]\Iall.

A proposition was submitted to the common council of the city of "Washington,

that the site of the city hall should be resigned for the use of the Smithsonian Insti-

tution upon its offering to pay to the city $50,000, a sum deemed sufficient to erect a

building for the use of the city government upon the site south of Pennsylvania

avenue, between Seventh and Ninth streeis, now occupied by the Center Market.

A bill was introduced into Congress, authorizing the Regents to purchase the city

hall, but the common council refused to consider the proposition and the site of the

Mall was used.

That part of the Mall appropriated to the Institution has been known
as the Smithsonian reservation, while to the entire square between

Seventh street and Twelfth street, west, includino- the reservation,

the name Smithsonian Park has been commonly applied.

At their meetings of December 4, 184:6, and January 28, 1847, the

Regents appropriated a total sum of $1,000 for grading, la3dng out,

and planting the grounds of the Institution, tinder the direction of the

building committee, which was also authorized to expend not over

$10,000 in the construction of a permanent fence around the grounds.

The latter, however, was erected for less than $500.

In 1818, the building committee entered into a contract with John
Douglas, of Washington, to the extent of $1,050 for inclosing the

reservation with a hedge and for planting trees and shrubs. The

^'The Smithsonian Institution, 1846-1896. The History of its First Half Century,

pp. 247-264.
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architect of the building marked out the paths and roads and indicated

the positions of the trees and shrubs, to comprise about 100 species,

principally American, The surrounding hedge was to consist on each

of the four sides, respectivel\% of pyrocanthus, osage orange, cherokee

rose, and hawthorn. Although considerable progress in this work

seems to have been made during the year, the contract was considered

not to have been properly complied with, and it was canceled in 1819.

The same .year, for the convenience of those who attended the lec-

tures in tlie east wing of the Smithsonian building, a walk was built

from Seventh street to the eastern gate of the grounds and the path

from the Twelfth Street Bridge was repaired. In speaking of the

considerable expense which such improvements outside the reservation

entailed upon the Institution, Secretary Henry, in his report for 1810,

said

:

It is hoped that the authorities of the city of Washinijjtoii will cause bridges to

be erected across the canal and walks to be constructed through the |)ublic grounds,

to facilitate the approach to the building, and that the Institution will not 1)e expected

to provide accommodations of this kind.

In their report for 1850, the building committee stated that up to

the end of that year $3,747.51 had been spent upon the grounds, and

that probably little more expenditure on that account would be neces-

sary. Portions of the roads about the building had been graded and

man}' trees and siirubs set out. An appropriation having been made

b}" Congress for the purpose, Mr. Andrew J. Downing, at the request

of the President, was then preparing a plan for converting the entire

Mall, including the Smithsonian grounds, into a landscape garden. If

this plan were adopted, tiie Smithsonian lot would form part of an

extended park, of which the Smithsonian building, by its site and

picturesque style of architecture, would be a prominent and attractive

feature.

In 1851, according to the report of the same committee, the Mall

was in course of rapid improvement under Mr. Downing, The cor-

poration of the city appropriated $^,500 for an iron bridge across the

canal at Tenth street, and a gravel walk was carried thence to the

building. The Smithsonian reservation of It) acres had been inclosed

with a fence and planted with trees at an expense to the Institution of

about $1,000, but the execution of Mr, Downing's plan, at tlie cost

of the General Government, would, in the view of the committee,

render unnecessary any further disbursements by the Institution.

Without surrendering the right of use of the reservation appropri-

ated to the Institution, the partition fence between it and the other

part of the Mall had been removed and the whole given in charge of

Mr. Downing.

Although relieved at this period, and at its own request, of the care

and improvement of its gi-ounds, which have since remained under the
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supervision of the oflScer in charge of public grounds, the Institution

has always maintained a deep interest in the condition of its surround-

ings, and has in fact aided materially toward their betterment, as fre-

quently noted in the reports of Secretary Henry and his successors.

In 1855 Professor Henry wrote that since the death of the lamented

Downing but little had been done to complete the general plans of the

improvement of the Mall proposed by him and adopted by Congress,

although an annual appropriation had been made for keeping in order

the lot on which the Smithsonian building is situated. Regret was
expressed that Congress had not made an appropriation to promote
the suggestion of Dr. John Torrey and other botanists of establishing

here an arboretum to exhibit the various ornamental trees of indi-

genous growth in this country.

This scheme was never more than tentatively carried out, but in 1899

the Secretary of Agriculture revived the subject, in his annual report,

from which the following extract is taken:

One of the needs of the Department is an aboretnm in which can be brought
together for study all the trees that will grow in the climate of Washington. The
need of such an establishment was felt early in the history of the capital and was
brought forward more than fifty years ago among the various plans proposed for the

use of the Smithson bequest, which was finally devoted to the founding of the pres-

ent Smithsonian Institution. In the report of the building committee of that Insti-

tution for 1850 the following statement occurs:

"Mr." Downing, the well-known writer on rural architecture, at the request of the
President, is now preparing a plan for converting the whole Mall, including the

Smithsonian grounds, into an extended landscape garden, to be traversed in different

directions by graveled walks and carriage drives and planted with specimens, prop-
erly labeled, of all the varieties of trees and shrubs which will flourish in this cli-

mate."

This admirable plan, apparently from lack of financial support from Congress, was
never systematically prosecuted, and the plantings at first made were so neglected

that the nurse trees themselves are now being rapidly broken down and destroyed
by storm, disease, and decay. When the grounds of the Department of Agriculture
were laid out, in 1868, Mr. William Saunders, then, as now, horticulturist of the
Department, established a small arboretum commensurate with the size of the
grounds. An arboretum in this climate, however, requires an area of several hun-
dred acres. The time has come when the economic needs of the Department and
the education and pleasure of the people demand a rich collection of trees planted
so as to secure the best effects of landscape art, furnishing complete materials for

the investigations of the Department of Agriculture, and so managed as to be a
perennial means of botanical education. We are now engaged in introducing useful

trees from all parts of the world, such as those producing fruits, dyes, nuts, oils, and
tans, those useful for ornamental purposes, and especially those promising shade,
shelter, and fuel in the arid region.

At the present time we have no central place in which to plant and maintain a

series of these trees for study and i)ropagation. The importations must be sent out
as fast a they are received, without any opportunity for our investigators to make
any observations on their behavior under cultivation, and in the case of small and
valuable importations subjecting the whole stock to the possibility of total loss. In
view of these conditions, I wish to bring to the attention of Congress the importance



190 REPORT OF NATIONAL MUSEUM, 1903.

of placing at the disposal of this Department an area of suitable size and situation

for a comprehensive arboretum. In order to give a si)ecific basis for considera-

tion of this project, I suggest that the area known as the Mall be set aside for this

purpose.

"No part of the public domain," said Professor Henry in 1856, "is

more used than the reservation on which the Smithsonian building

stands, but as 3 et no special appropriation has been made by Con-

gress for continiung the improvement of the grounds, and it is to be

regretted that years should be suffered to pass without planting the

trees which are in the future to add to the beauty, health, and comfort

of the capital of the nation." In the same connection mention is made
of the beautiful monument erected that year near the Institution by

the American Pomological Society to the memory of Downing—a just

tribute to the worth of one of the lienefactors of our country. The
adoption of his ornamental plan for the ]^ul)lic parks of this city was

in part due to the example of the Regents in embellishing the grounds

around the Smithsonian building.

In 1858 Professor Henry remarked that

—

The proposition to supply the public grounds with a complete series of American
trees has long been contemplated, but as no appropriation has been made by Con-

gress for this purpose, the Patent Office, conjointly with the Institution, has taken

the preliminary steps by issuing a circular asking for seeds of every species of our

forest trees and shrubs that would be likely to thrive in this latitude. This circular

has been widely distributed, and it is hoped will meet with a favorable response from

all who are interested in making more generally known, and in introducing into more
extensive cultivation, the natural ornamental products of our own soil. The seeds

are to be sent by mail to the Connnissioner of Patents and placed in charge of the

officers having the care of the public grounds.

In 1862 Professor Henry reported that the trees and shrubbery in

the grounds were growing finely under the care of the commissioner

of public grounds, 13. B. French, esq. He also called attention to

the city canal forming the boundary of the Smithsonian grounds on the

north, and across the basin or widest part of which most of the visi-

tors to the Institution had to pass. This basin, 'since the introduction

of Potomac water, had become the receptacle of the sewage of the

city, and was then an immense cesspool, constantly emitting noxious

effluvia prejudicial to the health and offensive to the senses of all who
approached the locality. Certain methods of abating the nuisance were

suggested.

As before noted, the fence and hedge which originally marked the

outlines of the Smithsonian reservation were removed in the time of

Downing, thus destroying all visible traces of its limits. On the

south this reservation is bounded by B street south, on the west by

Twelfth street west. Its depth from B street is 759 feet 9 inches

and its length from Twelfth street 1,086 feet 8 inches, its eastern line

coinciding with the western line of Ninth street. Its area, therefore,

amounts to about 825,590 square feet, or a little less than 19 acres.
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The Smithsonian building occupies a central position in the reserva-

tion, its main entrance being on the axis of Tenth street extended.

The Museum building, finished in 1881, stands 50 feet to the eastward

of the Smithsonian ))uilding, with its front face nearly on a line with

the rear face of the latter. It extends back to B street south, and on

the east overreaches by about 65 feet the limits of the reservation.

There still remains at the southwest corner of the reservation, border-

ing on B and Twelfth streets, sufficient space for another structure of

smaller size than the Museum building, should it ever be considered

advisable to make such use of it, but otherwise all new buildings must

be placed outside of the reservation.

The Army Medical Museum, erected in 1880, at the corner of B
and Seventh streets southwest, is the only other structure in the

Smithsonian park, and further extensive building operations within

this square must be carried to its northern side. Such action has been

necessary in regard to the additional large building for the National

Museum authorized by Congress in 1903, the center of which, like

that of the Smithsonian building, will be on a line with the axis of

Tenth street.

As to the present condition of the park it ma}" be said that all traces

of the old canal and creek have long since disappeared, and fairly

good paths and driveways now lead to the Smithsonian and Museum
buildings. Unfortunately, however, no improvement can be noted in

regard to the trees and shrubs, which were to be made so prominent

a feature. None have been planted for many years, and the older

ones are dying out or being destroj^ed by natural causes, much injury

having been produced by severe storms. There has been a constant

trimming and cutting down, but no attempt to add or build up in this

direction, and the general effect is of a park lacking care and culti-

vation.

THE SMITHSONIAN BUILDING.

HISTORICAL ACCOUNT.

In his account of the Smithsonian building and grounds, ^'^ the late

Dr. George Brown Goode has said:

That the Smithsonian Institution, before it could begin active, operations, must
have a liome of its own, wcnild doul^tless have been regai-ded as a necessity by any
one considering the requirements of tlie future. Richard Rusli, liowever, ajipears to

have Iteen the tirst to state this idea in words, wliich lie did in a letter addressed,

November 6, 1838, to the Secretary of State, in response to a request of the President

for suggestions in regard to the proper manner of carrying out the bequest. * * *

In bills introduced in the Senate in June and December, 1844, by the Library

Committee—Rufus Choate, Benjamin Tappan, and James McP. Berrien—appeared

the first definite characterization of the building, which was to be plain and durable,

«The Smithsonian Institution, 1846-1896: The History of its First Half Century,

pp. 247 et seq.



192 REPORT OF NATIONAL MUSEUM, 1903.

without unnecessary ornament, and to contain provisions for cabinets of natural

history and geology, and for a library, a chemical laboratory, and lecture rooms.

* * * The cost was at that time limited to 180,000. In 1846, however, the bill of

Dr. Robert Dale Owen, without change of phraseology from those which had pre-

ceded it in regard to location and character of the structure, was adopted, but the

limit of the cost was increased, and $242,129, the exact amount of the Smithsonian

interest which had at that time accrued, "together with any additional interest

which might remain after paying the current expenses of the succeeding years," was

designated for that purpose. * * *

From the very beginning Doctor Owen was the chief advocate of a large and

showy building. In this matter he was supported by the sympathy of the people of

Washington, and especially INIr. William W. Seaton, mayor of the city and one of the

Regents, whose interest in the realization of the plan of 8mithson undoubtedly did

much at last to secure action from Congress. Outside of Washington there was much
opposition to an expensive building, owing partly to the manner in which the

bequest of Stephen Girard had been rendered for many years inoperative by the

action of its trustees. * * * Dr. Owen, nevertheless, more than any other person

at that time concerned in the establishment of the Institution, seems to have felt

that much of its future success depended upon the erection of a building which

should perform a legitimate duty in dignifying and making conspicuous the work of

the organization to which it belonged. Scarcely anyone can doubt that Doctor

Owen was right and that the usefulness of the Smithsonian Institution has been

materially aided by the fact that' its building has for fifty years been one of the chief

architectural ornaments of the national capital.

1846 and 1847.

The first formal action of the Board of Regents, in respect to the

building called for in the fundamental act, was the passage of a reso-

lution on Septeml)er 9, 1846, authorizing aud instructing the Chan-

cellor, Secretary, and executive committee

—

to take such measures as may be deemed by them most proper to obtain plans

for the erection of buildings, fulfilling all the conditions in reference to them con-

tained in the law organizing this institution, and that said committee report such

plan as they may approve to this Board at its next meeting; and, further, that said

committee specially report in regard to the best material for said buildings, and to

the best modes of warming, lighting, and ventilating the same, with estimates of the

cost when constructed of different materials, etc.

The committee so organized consisted of Vice President George

M. Dallas, chairman; Representatives William J. Hough and Robert

Dale Owen, Gen. Joseph G. Totten, and W. W. Seaton, mayor of

Washington.

A notice to architects, inviting competitive designs, was published

in the Washington newspapers of September 22, 1846, and with the

object of accumulating information that might guide the Board in the

choice of a plan for the building, a subcommittee, consisting of Messrs.

Owen, Hough, and Totten, visited the principal cities of the United

States; examined many of their most noted structures; had confer-

ences with several eminent architects; collected specimens of the best

stone material, and obtained data regarding the cost of construction.
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This .subcommittee reported the results of their inquiries on Novem-
ber 30, 1846. After which the full-

committee unanimously selected out of thirteen plans that were submitted to them
by some of the principal architects throughout the country, two by ]Mr. James Ren-
wick, jr., of the city of New York, the architect of Grace Church, the Church of the

Puritans, Calvary Church, and other structures in and near New York; and they

recommended to tiie Board for adoption one of these, being a design in the later

Norman, or, as it may, with more strict propriety, be called, the Lombard style, as

it prevailed in Germany, Normandy, and in southern Europe in the twelfth cen-

tury. The design comprises a center building, with two wings, connected with the

main building l)y low ranges and a cloister. The entire front is 421 feet, and the

extreme depth in the center, including the carriage porch, 153 feet. The height of

the principal tower is 145 feet, and that of the main building, to the summit of the

battlement, 58 feet. The design includes all the accommodations demanded by the

charter, to wit: A museum, 200 feet by 50; a library, 90 feet by 50; a gallery of art,

in the form of a T, 125 feet long; two lecture rooms, one of which is capable of con-

taining from 800 to 1,000 persons, and the other is connected with the chemical

laboratory; a committee room for the Board of Regents; a Secretary's room; a room
for the effects of Mr. Bmithson; a janitor's room, etc.

At a meeting of the Regents on January 23, 1847. the following

resolution from the committee was brought up for consideration, but

no action upon it was taken, namel}':

That the Norman j^lan of a building for the Smithsonian Institution, furnished by
James Renwick, jr., of New York, substantially as amended, agreeably to the sug-

gestions of the committee, is approved and adopted liy this Board.

On January- 26, 18-47, the chancellor submitted the following reso-

lutions, Avhicli were read and laid upon the table:

Resolved, That in view of the vast field of knowledge, to the increase and diffusion

of w'hich the act of Congress directs the efforts and funds of the Smithsonian Insti-

tution, this Board deem it inexpedient and hazardous to appropriate to the erection

of a building a larger sum than one hundred thousand dollars.

Resolved, That John Haviland, of Philadelphia, architect, be recjuested to state in

writing, formally to this Board, whether he will undertake to erect a building upon
the model of the central structure he has already planned and furnished to this

Board, with slight changes of arrangement, which will embrace all the chief objects

expressed in the act of Congress, for the sum of one hundred thousand dollars; said

building to be of granite or sandstone.

Resolved, That the committee of three, hereinafter appointed, be authorized to

(confer with Mr. Haviland, and that, upon this Board receiving from him the written

and formal undertaking mentioned in the foregoing resolution, they be authorized to

engage his services as architect for the execution of his plan and to complete all the

necessary contracts.

Mr, Alexander D. Bache, one of the Regents, submitted to the

Board on January 27, 1847, two resolutions of similar import, the

consideration of both of which was deferred. One of these was as

follows:

Resolved, That in tlie opinion of the Board of Regents of the Smithsonian Institu-

tion it is unnecessary and inexpedient to expend, in erecting a building to meet the

requirements of the act creating the establishment, from the principal of the fund of

NAT >us 1903 13
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two hundred and forty-two thouisand one hundred and twenty-nine dollars referred

to in the first section of the act, a sum exceeding one hundred thousand dollars.

The resolutions tinally iulopted preliminary to the work of building-

were agreed to by the Regents on fTanuary 2S, 1847, nearly all being-

offered by Mr. Owen. The most important follow:

Resolved, That the Norman plan of a building for the Smithsonian Institution,

furnished by James Renwick, jr., of New York, substantially as amended and

reduced agreeably to the suggestions of the committee, is approved by this Board.

Resolved, That a building committee of three members of the Board, as provided

in the fifth section of the act of Congress, be appointed, who are hereby authorized

and empowered, on behalf of the Smithsonian Institution, to enter into contracts for

the completion of the buildings; and that said connnittee have jiowerto employ one

or more persons to superintend the erection of the buildings and the fitting up of

the rooms of the institution; and that the work shall l)e done to the entire satisfac-

tion of the said superintendent or superintendents; and that the said superintendent

or superintendents shall have power, and shall be required, to reject any of the

material proposed to be employed, and also to object to inferior or insufficient work,

and to direct its change, at his or their discretion.

Resolved, That in the performance of the duty intrusted to them, the building com-

mittee of three hereinbefore referred to shall give the contracts to the lowest bidder

of good reputation, who shall give unexceptionable security, to the entire satisfac-

tion of the committee, for the performance of said contracts; and such security shall

in all cases be taken. No advance shall in any case be made; and fifteen per cent.

of all payments shall be retained until the faithful performance of the work.

Resolved, That the building committee, after taking counsel with the Secretary,

shall carefully revise the specifications of the plan furnished to this Board by the

architect before entering into any contract; and if, after such examination, they

shall be of opinion that any modifications of the said plan and specifications are nec-

essary for the safety, durability, or better adaptation of the structure, the)' may
incorporate these in the said specifications; but no addition to the dimensions of the

building shall be made, nor any ornament of any kind added; and the said modifi-

cations shall have sole reference to the safety, duralnlity, and adaptation of the

building. And the whole amount of the contract for the said building, including

the modifications alcove provided for, shall, under no circumstances, exceed the

amount of the original estimates of the architect, to wit: the sum of two hundred

and two thousand dollars, with a percentage not exceeding ten per cent, on the said

sum.

Resolved, That the building committee be also authorized to contract for the warm-
ing and lighting of the building; provided that the contract for the above objects

shall not exceed five thousand dollars.

Resolved, That the building committee be also authorized to contract for the fitting

up and furnishing of the building of the institution; provided that the contract for

the same shall not exceed twenty thousand dollars. * * *

And it Ijeing on the one hand desirable that a portion of the buildings to l)e

erected by the institution be ready for use at an early day, and on the other hand it

is essential to the solidity and durability of a structure of the size required to

embrace all the objects specified in the act of Congress that its erection l)e gradual

and not too rapidly hastened forward: Therefore

—

Resolved, That the building committee be instructed to arrange the contracts for

the buildings of the institution so that the wings of said buildings may be completed

in two years from the ])resent time, and the whole completed in five years.

Resolved, That the building committee be instructed, in the arrangement of the

buildings, to extend the gallery of art throughout the western range and western
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wing, and to arrange two lecture rooms, and no more, in the building. Temporary

arrangements shall be made to receive in the west wing of the building the library

of the Institution, until the library proper be completed.

2. Resolved, That the building committee invite proposals for the construction of

the exterior walls of the building of upper Potomac sandstone, of marl)le, of granite,

and of blue gneis.s, respectively, and adopt that one of these four named materials which

shall be deemed to combine the requisites of clieapness, beauty, and durability.

The manner of providing for the cost of l)uildino- and other matters

relating thereto were explained by Secretar}" Henry in his report for

1850, in which he say.s that

—

The law of Congress incorporating the Institution, while it did not forbid the

expenditure of a part of the income for other objects, authorized the formation of a

library, a museum, and a gallery of art, and the erection of a building, on a liberal

scale, for their accommodation. It was, indeed, the opinion of many that the whole

income ought to he expended on these objects. The Regents did not consider them-

selves at liberty to disregard the indications of Congress and the opinion expressed

in favor of collections, and after much discussion it was finally concluded to divide

the income into two equal parts, and after deducting the general expenses, to devote

one-half to the active operations set forth in the plan just described and the other

to the formation of a library, a museum, and a gallery of art.

* * * It therefore became absolutely necessary that the income should be

increased, and in order to do this it was proposed to save the greater part of the

1242,000 of accrued interest which Congress had authorized to be expended in a

building, l)y erecting at a cost not to exceed $50,000 the nucleus of an edifice which

could Vje expanded as the wants of the Institution might require, and to add the

remainder to the principal.

ITnfortunately, however, for this proposition. Congress had presented to the Insti-

tution the great museum of the exploring expedition^ and a majority of the Regents,

sui)posing it necessary to make immediate provision for the accommodation of this

gift, had taken preliminary .steps, previous to my appointment, to construct a large

building, and, indeed, a majority of the committee to w hich the matter was referred

had determined to adopt the i)lan of the present edifice. Strenuous opposition was,

however, made to this, and as a compromise it was finally agreed to draw from the

United States Treasury $250,000 of accrued interest, and instead of expending this

immediately in completing the i)lan of the proposed building to invest it in Treasury

notes, then at par, and to finish the l)uilding in the course of five years, in part out

of the interest of these notes, in part out of the sale of a portion of them, and also in

part out of a portion of the annual interest accruing on the original bequest. It was
estimated that in this way, at the end of five years, besides devoting $250,000 to the

building, the annual income of the Institution would be increased from $30,000 to

nearly $40,000, a sum sufficient to carry out all the provisions of the programme.
It is t(j be regretted that * * * instead of the plan of a costly building there

had not been adopted the nucleus of a more simple edifice, which could have been
modified to meet the wants which experience might indicate.

The original estimate for the l)uilding, furniture, and improvement of the grounds
was $250,000, and could the actual cost have been confined to this sum all the results

anticipated from the scheme of finance which had been adopted would have been
realized at the end of five years. During the past year, however, it has been found

necessary, for the better protection of the collections, to order the fireproofing of

the interior of the edifice, at an increased expense of $44,000. This additional draft

on the funds can only be met by extending the time for the completion of the build-

ing, and even this will require the appropriation of a portion of the income which
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ought to be devoted to other purposes. The active operations will suffer most by
this draft on-the income, since it will be made for the better accommodation of the

library and the museum.

On February .5, 18-1:7, it was resolved by the Regents

—

That the building committee, in conjunction with the Secretary, be authorized to

publish, in such form as they may deem most appropriate, one thousand copies of a

brief treatise, to be entitled "Hints on Public Architecture," and to be illustrated

with designs of the plan of the building adopted for the Smithsonian Institution,

and, at the option of the committee, with any other designs that are the property f)f

the Institution, provided that the cost of the same shall not exceed one thousand

dollars, which sum is hereby appropriated for that purpose.

This allotment was subsequently increased to $1,200. The work
was prepared by Doctor Owen, with the assistance of Mr. Renwick,

and was published in 1849, under the title "Hints on Public Archi-

tecture, containing-, among other illustrations, views and plans of the

Smithsonian Institution, together with an appendix relative to build-

ing materials. Prepared on behalf of the Building Committee of the

Smithsonian Institution, b}' Robert Dale Owen, Chairman of the Com-
mittee." It is quarto in size, but does not belong to an}" of the regu-

lar series of Smithsonian publications.

The first building committee of three members, appointed on Feb-

ruary 5, ISiT, consisted of Mr. Robert Dale Owen, Mr. W. W. Sea-

ton, and Gen. Joseph jj. Totten. Changes were made in the compo-

sition of the committee from year to year, and after a brief period

none of its early members reiuained. Reports were submitted annu-

ally to the Board of Regents up to the close of 1857. The w^ork of

the committee during 1847 was extremely arduous, comprising the

selection of the stone for the building, the preparation of specifica-

tions, the making of contracts, etc., all of which was accomplished

within an incredibly short space of time. Forty-one meetings were

held during the year.

Various marble, granite, and freestone quarries within a moderate

distance of Washington were examined, with the gratuitous assistance

of David Dale Owen, a brother of the regent and a prominent geolo-

gist, and nuich information regarding them and the ([uality of their

products was obtained. The in(iuiries embi-aced the chief marble and

granite quarries of Maryland; the freestone quarries of Aquia Creek,

Virginia, where the material for the older part of the Capitol, the

White House, Treasury, and other pul)lic buildings in Washington

had been secured; and the freestone quarries of the upper Potomac

River, mostly in the vicinity of Seneca Creek, on the banks of the

Chesapeake and Ohio Canal, about 28 miles above Washington.

The mar))le (juarries of jMaiyland (mostly in the vicinity of Clarks-

ville, about lo miles from Baltiiuore) were found to yield two (luaii-

ties of stone—one tine grained and of excellent quality, the other
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somewhat coarse, liiohly crystalline, and inferior in quality, known as

"alnni liniestono."

The quarries in the neiohborhood of AN'oodstock, Mar3'land, fur-

nished a granite equal to that of Quincy, and not excelled for beauty

of appearance, compactness of structure, and uniformity of color,

texture, and composition by any other granite quarries in the United

States. There was no objection to this stone except on the score of

expense, unless it be considered that in this material the effect of lioht

and shade from projecting surfaces is in a measure lost, while in marble

and good tinted freestone ever}'^ shadow is sharply marked.

The Aquia Creek freestone was not to be trusted, ])eing pervaded

b}' dark specks of the protoxide and peroxide of iron, which, in per-

oxidating, acquire a yellowish or reddish color, and hav^ing occasional

clay holes, such as disfigure the Treasury and Patent Office ))uildings.

The freestone from the upper Potomac, in the vicinity of Seneca

Creek, was considered the best and most durable of all the Potomac
freestones. The lilac-gray variety found in the Bull Run quarrv, 23

miles from Washington, was especially recommended and pronounced

to be equal, if not superior, to that supplied for Trinity Church, New
York, from the quarries of New Jerse3\ It has a quality that specially

recommends it to builders. When first quarried it is comparatively

soft, working freely before the chisel and hammer; but, by exposure,

it gradually indurates, and ultimatelv acquires a toughness and con-

sistency that not only enables it to resist atmospheric vicissitudes,

but even the most severe mechanical wear and tear. It can, there-

fore, be worked at less expense than granite or marble and was the kind

selected for the building.

All of the above varieties of stone were subjected to tests for dura-

bility under exposure to the weather, etc., by Prof. Charles G. Page.

Their cost per cubic foot, delivered in Washington, in accordance

with the lowest prices quoted b}^ quarry owners, was as follows:

Cents.

L Coarse-grained marble or alum limestone, according to quality 50 to 60

2. Fine-grained marble 70

3. Granite 46

4. Aquia Creek freestone 40

5. Seneca Creek freestone, lilac-gray variety, from Bull Run quarry 20

Bids for the construction of the building were received up to March
15, 1817, and were opened on March IH. Several were found to be

proposals for doing oidy a part or some jiarticular kind of the work,

l)ut for the erection oF the entire building there were fourteen bids,

varying in amount fiom $IVM;.()0(» to $818,000. James Dixon t'c Co.,

of Washington, were tli(> lowest bidders for S(Mieca freestone laid in

rubble masonry, and also for ashlar finish, as follows:

Marble ashlar $228, 500

Seneca freestone ashlar 205, 250
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The committee decided that regularly coursed ashlar was best suited

to the design and would make a more substantial piece of work than

rubble. They also concluded that, with a doubt whether Seneca free-

stone did not assort even lietter with the Lombard style of architec-

ture adopted than marble, it was inexpedient to expend $23,000 addi-

tional for the latter. The bid of James Dixon & Co. (consisting of

James Dixon, of Washington, and Gilbert Cameron, of New York),

at $205,250, was therefore accepted. Mr. Dixon retired from the

firm on June 1, 1847.

The contract was signed on March 19, 18-17. It included the most

expensive part of the furniture, such as the shelving, cases, desks,

drawers, and tables in the lal)oratory and apparatus room; the book-

cases, large tables, and alcove desks in the library; the glass cases in

the museum; the seats in the lecture rooms, elevators, toilet rooms,

rain-water cisterns; the chairs and tables in the Regents' rooms, flues

for heating and lighting, etc., but not the heating and lighting plant

nor the drainage.

One condition of the contract was that the work should extend

through five 3^ears, or to March 19, 1852. It was also stipulated that

the building should be erected in such proportions during each year

as the conuuittee might direct, but so that the pa3uuents to the con-

tractor in each of the first four years of the contract should not exceed

$41,000 annually, and that the wings and connecting ranges should be

completed in two years from the date of the contract.

It was subsequently appended to the contract that in case the Reg^^nts

should thereafter determine to make important alterations in the plan

of the building or in the time of its execution, the contractor was to be

paid pro rata according to the prices in the contract for work executed,

and reasonable damages if the nature of the case should justly demand it.

The architect, James Renwick, jr., who resided in New York and

made approximately monthly visits to Washington, was paid at the

rate of $1,800 a year, with traveling expenses amounting to about $300

more. An assistant architect and superintendent, Mr. Robert Mills,

was also employed on the grounds, at $1,000 a year.

The probable cost of the building had been estimated as follows:

Contract for building .' $281, 000

Fitting up and furnishing 20, 000

Warming and lighting 5, 000

Superintendence ($3,000 annually ) 15, 000

Drainage 1, 350

Supplying water to building 650

Total 273, 000

Owing, however, to the contract being lower than was expected, and

to other facts, the conuuittee judged that the expenditures for the

building for the five years would amount to only about $236,000.
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The location of the building was fixed in the middle of the Smith-

sonian reservation as to north and south, the center of the main

structure being upon the axis of Tenth street southwest.

Toward the close of the year 1847, as stated in the committee's

report, the contractor was covering in the east connecting range, and

hoped still to cover in the east wing before the frost interfered. He
had also begun to la}" the foundations of the west wing and connecting

range, but nothing had yet been done toward the erection of the main

building.

The corner stone was laid on May 1, 1847, with imposing Masonic

ceremonies, the day being regarded in Washington in the nature of a

public holidaj'. A procession over a mile in length, composed

of the various lodges of Free and Accepted Masons of the District

of Colum])ia, with a large delegation of Masons from Baltimore and

Philadelphia, the District militia, and three militar}- bands, having

formed at the city hall, proceeded to the Executive Mansion, where

it was joined by the President, heads of Departments, members of

the diplomatic corps, etc., and thence to the Smithsonian grounds.

The marshal in chief was Mr. William Beverly Randolph. After

prayer l\v the grand chaplain of the Grand Lodge of MarA'land, the

ceremony of laying the stone was performed by Grand Marshal Ben-

jamin B. French, assisted by Col. James Page and Mr. Charles Gilman,

grand masters of Penns3dvania and Marvland, respectively. An
address was then delivered by Hon. George M. Dallas, chancellor of

the Board of Regents. A national salute was fired by the Columbia

Artillery and one of the bands played a national air. The ceremonies

closed with the benediction, pronounced b}^ Rev. Frank S. Evans.

The gavel used and the apron worn b}^ the grand marshal were the

same that had been used by Washington in conducting the Masonic

ceremonies upon the la_ying of the corner stone of the national Capi-

tol. In a cavity of the stone were deposited, in a leaden box and

leaden casket, many articles appropriate to {he purpose, and among
them an engraved plate, inscribed with the names of the members of

the establishment, the officers and Board of Regents of the Institution,

the building committee, and the architects. The ceremonies were
witnessed by at least 6,000 or 7,000 persons.

1848.

At the close of 1848 the building connnittee reported that the east

wing and adjacent range would probably be ready for occupation early

in January. The interior of this part was at that time finished except

the shelving of the cases for the apparatus and the furnaces and ven-

tilating apparatus. Battlements, not in the original plan, had been

added to the eastern cloister, as the roof seemed too conspicuous.
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The west wing and connecting range were completed externally, and

the hall of the gallery of art (intended to be used teraporaril}^ for the

library) was well advanced. Work upon the bookcases was in prog-

ress. The foundations of the main part of the building, including

the towers, were laid, and the superstructure carried about 5 feet

high. The campanile, octagonal towers, and two smaller corner

towers of the center building were 30 feet above their foundations.

1849.

The entire Smithsonian building, according to the annual statement

of the building committee for 1849, was under roof before winter, the

work having been pushed to protect the large amount of masonry and

woodwork. The central front towers and four corner towers of the

main ))uilding were carried up as high as the walls of that l)uilding,

and the central rear tower 30 feet high. The work of fitting the west

wing and connecting range for temporary library purposes was still

in progress. The east wing was taken possession of for the uses of

the Institution April 10, 1849.

The following changes were made during the year: The lecture hall,

as originally constructed, in the east wing, proving entirely too small,

the adjoining apparatus and laboratory rooms were removed and the

entire wing formed into one large lecture hall provided with seats for

1,000 persons. The proposed lecture room in the lower main hall

was given up, and the space thus obtained was divided, a room 65 ])y

50 feet being assigned as a depository for physical apparatus, the

remaining space being allotted to the library. The east range was to

be used for the laboratory and working apparatus rooms, connecting

on the one side with the lecture hall and on the other with the

apparatus museum.
The two stairways, which in the original plan were carried up

between the two north front towers and the main building, were

dispensed with and the place the}^ occupied added to the library,

as was also the central hall, and, as before said, a portion of the

proposed lecture hall. The space for the library was thereby nearly

doubled in size, and the staircase was to occup}' the interior of one of

the front towers. A clerestory to the long upper room, or museum,
of the main l)uilding was adopted by the committee, but was never

constructed.

Secretary Henry's part in the above changes is thus referred to in

his report for 1849:

The plan of the Smithsonian building wan designed l)y the architect and recom-

mended to the Board by a committee of the Regents before the programme of organi-

zation was adopted. It is not strange, therefore, when the building came to be

occiipied, that changes in the internal arrangement should be deemed advisable,

which would better udaj^t it to the wants of the Institution. Such changes, at my
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suggestion, have been made; and for the propriety of these I am responsible. They
are [.lincipally, however, those of simplification, and in themselves add nothing to
the cost of the edifice. An increased expense, however, will arise out of the furnish-
ing of new rooms which have been acquired by the alterations.

1850.

The operations during- 1850, as shown hy the bniklincr committee's
report, were mainly directed toward the completion of the exterior.

The central buildino- was roofed and slated, and inclosed in such man-
ner as to he perfectly protected from the weatliei-. The principal

front tower was carried up to a height of 122 feet and covered in

temporarily for the winter. The lower central tower was completed.
The campanile and northeast corner towers were roofed in. The cen-
tral south tower was carried to a height of 40 feet, and the southeast
and southwest corner towers were l)uilt to the height of the cornice of
the cell of the main building.

At this time Secretary Henry reported on the general state of the
finances as follows:

After all the expenditures which have 1>een made on the building, grounds, publi-
cations, researches, purchase of books and apparatus, not oidy is the original bequest
untouched, but there is now on hand upward of $200,000 of accrued interest. This
will be sufficient to finish the exterior of the building, including all the towers, the
interior of the wings, ranges, and a part of the interior of the main edifice; which
will afford sufficient accommodation for some years to come, and leave $150,000 to
be added to the principal.

On February 26, 1850, a portion of the interior framing and floors

of that part of the main building intended to contain the museum of
apparatus, fell into the basement, and a meeting of the building com-
mittee was immediately called to examine into the conditions. This
accident also led to a meeting of the Regents on March 2, at which the
following resolution was adopted:

Resolved, That the building committee be requested to take under consideration the
reports of the architect, superintendent, and contractor, on the suljject of the late
accident; that they associate with them Professor Bache, General Totten, the Secre-
tary of the Institution, and some competent and entirely impartial architect or archi-
tects; that they make a survey of the whole building, report the manner, faithful-
ness, and security in which the l)uilding contract has hitherto been executed, and
upon the i)lan most i)roper, in their estimation, to repair the damages and finish that
portion of thi' Imildiiig in whii-h the acci.lent happened and other unfinished por-
tions thereof.

The committee so d(?signated reported on July 3, 1850, its principal
conclusions and reconunendations being as follows:

1. That the workmanship of the cut stone of tlie exterior is good, and the masonry
generally, tliougii in some respects not of the best <iuality, is of a passable character
with reference to the terms of the contract.

2. That the interior of the main building is defec^tive in the kind of materials orig-
inally adopted, and to a considerable degree in the quality of the materials employeil.
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These consist principally of wood, and are not of a proper character for a building

intended to contain valuable deposits, many of which will be donations to tlie insti-

tution, presented with the implied condition that they are to be properly secured

against danger from fire. This mode of construction was probably adopted by the

original building committee, in order to lessen the cost of the edifice and to !)ring it

within the sum appropriated by the Board.

3. Although the committee are anxious to save the accrued interest, and to devote

it to objects more in accordance with the spirit of the original bequest than the erec-

tion of a costly building; yet, they would recommend that the interior work of the

center building, as now existing, be removed, and that there be substituted for it a

fireproof structure, in accordance with the plan recommended in the reports of Mr.

Renwick and of the commission of architects.

4. The completion of the building on this plan, according to the estimate of the

commission, requires an additional outlay of about $44,000. To meet this additional

expense, the committee recommend the adoption of the suggestion of their chairman.

Colonel Davis, that the exterior of the building and the interior of the towers be com-

pleted in accordance with the plan and within the time specified by the contract,

and that the remainder of the interior be finished agreeably to the new plan, in the

course of a number of years, and in such portions as can be jiaid for out of the annual

interest of the Smithsonian fund, not otherwise appropriated. The object of this

part of the proposition is to prevent the derangement of the plan of finance origi-

nally i)roposed by Doctor Bache and adopted by the Board of Regents, viz, of saving

out of the accrued and accruing interest, after paying for the building, the sum of

$150,000, to be added to the principal.

5. By the addendum to the contract, the Regents have the power of stoptping the

building at any stage of its progress on paying the contractor jjro rata for the work

done, according to the prices specified in the contract, and allowing for reasonable

damages if the circumstances require the payment of them. The estimates in this

case are to be made by the architect of the institution or other architects selected

by the Regents. But with reference to the quality of the work which has been

done, it is the opinion of the legal adviser of the committee that the decision of the

architect of the building is final, both with regard to the Regents and the contractor.

6. In accordance with the forementioned stipulations of the contract, the commit-

tee have requested Mr. Renwick to furnish an estimate pro rata for completing the

whole exterior of the l)uilding and the interior of the towers, making deductions

for materials and workmanship which he would have condemned had the building

been completed according to the original plan. The following is tlie decision of the

architect, which has been agreed to by the contractor, with the understanding

that nothing is to be paid him on account of profit on work omitted by the proposed

change, viz:

For finishing the whole exterior of the building, all the interior rooms of

the towers and of the wings, the sum of $18.5, 154

7. The committee recommend to the Board of Regents that they agree to this

proposition, and that a resolution be adopted directing the contractor to proceed with

the work in accordance therewith. In recommending this course to the Board, the

committee act in conformity with the advice of two of the commission of architects,

viz: Mr. E. B. White and Mr. J. R. Niernsee, who undertook the examination in

detail of the parts of the building, and gave an estimate as the basis of an eciuitable

settlement.
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8. By adopting the above sum of $185,154 as the amount to be paid to the con-

tractor, Mr. Renwick gives the followiiig estimate of the cost of finishing the building

in accordance with the fireproof plan, viz:

Amount of proposed contract. |185, 154

Expense of fireproofing the entire (;enter building according to plans and

estimates of the architects 44, 000

Expenses common to both plans:

Plastering center building $8, 000

Gallery fronts ^ 2, 000

Staircase of library and Museum 425

Furniture of librarj' and Museum 4, 700
15,125

Extra cartage 200

Materials now on the grfnind, but which may not be useil 1, 000

Total expense of the building, including fireproofing 245, 479

9. The original contract, with the addition made to it by direction of the

building committee, is 209, 810

Add the estimate of fireproofing 44, 000

Thus we have for the cost of the building, according to the estimate

of the commission 253, 810

Note.—The foregoing estimates are exclusive of the salaries of the architect and
superintendent; also of the cost of the improvement of the grounds and part of the
furniture.

This last sum is greater than the preceding by $8,331. The difference, according
to the statement of Mr. Renwick, is due to the various deductions he has made on
account of defective materials, imperfect workmanship, and changes in the plan.

In conclusion, the committee are fully of opinion—and in this they are sustained

by the commission of architects—that, by adopting the plan of fire-proofing proposed
by Mr. Renwick and the proposition of the contractor, the building will be ren-

dered safe and durable at a very reasonable cost, considering the amount of work
which has been bestowed upon it.

The committee do not consider it necessary to offer any remarks on the cause of the
accident which led to these investigations. If these recommendations be adopted,
the whole structure of the interior of the main building in which the accident
occurred will be exchanged for one more in accordance with the permanence and
utility of the edifice, and in this case they will consider the accident as a fortunate
event.

1851.

In view of the report of the special committee followino- the acci-

dent in 1S,50, the Regents found it necessary to deviate from their

origitud intention, and to order the removal of the woodwork which
had been erected in the interior of the main build ing and dii-ect that

its place be supplied I)}' fireproof materials. During LS51 all the exte-

rior of the building, including the towers, was completed. Some
minor changes in interior construction, insuring l)etter tireprooting,

was also arranged for.

At a meeting of the Regents on Febniary 27, 1851, it was resolved
that the executive committee be requested to incpiin' into the feasi-

bility of providing buildings for the residences of the officers of the
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Institution on the Smithsonian gronnds or other convenient location,

and, if they deem expedient, to report plans and estimates for such

buildings to the Board at their next meeting. The reply of the execu-

tive committee, made on May 1, 1852, was as follows

:

That after due reflection they liave come to the conclusion that it would conduce

very much to the interests of the Institution if the officers were provided with

houses on the Smithsonian grounds, so that they might be present on all occasions

and be as much as possible at all times identified witli the operations of the Institu-

tion; yet at present, while the main edifice is unfinished, they do not consider it

advisable to incur the expense of additional buildings, and would therefore recom-

mend that in lieu of the rent of a house $500 be added to the salaries of Professors

Jewett and Baird, to be paid from the ])eginning of the present year.

1852.

In this year the contract with Gilbert Cameron, including the linish-

ing of the exterior of the entire building and the interior of the winos,

connecting ranges, and towers, was declared completed, leaving the

whole interior of the main building to be linished. All the woodwork

and plastering of the interior of the main building was, by resolution

of the Board, to be removed and its place supplied by fireproof mate-

rials. Mr. Renwick withdrew his services, as it was not thought best

to continue his salary, and Capt. B. S. Alexander, U. S. Corps of

Engineers, was employed to prepare detailed drawings and plans for

the balance of the work.

Referring to this subject in his report for 1852, Secretary Henry
wrote

:

From the report of the building committee it appears that the contract for finishing

the interior of the wings and ranges and the rooms of the towers has been completed.

The whole interior of the main building, comprising a rectangular space of 200 feet

long, 50 wide, and about 60 high, remains to be finished with fireproof materials.

It is proposed to divide this space into two stories and a basement. These stories

will be devoted to the library, the museum, and a large and convenient lecture

room.

The business of the Institution would be much facilitated were this part of the

building completed. Since Congress has authorized the establishment of a library

and museum, it will be well to place all the objects of interest to the public in the

main building and make this exclusively the show part of the establishment, devot-

ing the wings and ranges and rooms of tlie towers to the Inisiness operations and

other purposes of the Institution. In the present condition of affairs there is no part

of the edifice to which the public has not access, and, consequently, business has to ])e

transacted amidst constant interruptions. The loss of time and effective life to which

all are exposed who occupy a position of notoriety in the city of Washington is truly

lamentable, and where this is enhanced by facility of access to gratify mere curiosity

the evil becomes scarcely endurable. Progress in business under such circumstances

can only be made by an encroachment on the hours usually allotted to rest, and

that, too, at the expense of wasted energies and shortened days.
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1853.

Mr. Gilbert Cameron was given the contract for completing the

structure in accordance with his previous terms, and the building-

committee kept constantly in view the idea of rendering the main

building entirel}' fireproof and of constructing it in the most durable

and substantial manner. These changes of arrangements delayed

work until June 13, 1853, from which time onward it was actively

prosecuted. The committee found great ditiiculty in deciding upon

a proper position and plan of a large lecture room, but finally con-

cluded to place it in the second story in the middle of the main build-

ing, where the greatest width could be obtained.

1854.

At the close of 1851 the building committee reported that the main

or center building was finished, with the exception of a few unim-

portant additions. Many changes had been required for the better

security and adaptation of the building, and they involved an addi-

tional expense.

1855.

During this year the entire edifice was completed, and the final

report of the architect was approved by the committee. The follow-

ing account of the interior of the building at this time is taken from
Secretary Henry's report for 1855, with some annotations from the

report of the building committee:

The building is at length completed, and its several apartments are now in a c-on-

dition to be applied to the uses of the Institution. As various changes have been
made in the original plan, the following brief description may not l)e inappropriate at

this time. It consists of a main edifice, two wings, two connecting ranges, four large

projecting towers, and several smaller ones. Its extreme length from east to west is

447 feet, with a breadth varying from 49 feet to 160 feet. The interior of the east

wing is separated into two stories, the upper of which is divided into a suite of rooms
for the accommodation of the family of the Secretary. The lower story principally

comprises a large single room,« at present appropriated to the storage of publications

and the reception and distribution of books connected with the system of exchange.
The upper story of the easteVn connecting range is divided into a numl)er of small

apartments devoted to the operations in natural history, and the lower story is fitted

up as a working Ial)oratory.

The interior of the main edifice is 200 feet long by 50 feet wide^ and consists of

two stories and a basement. The upper story is divided into a lecture room capable
of holding 2,000 persons '' and into two additional rooms, one on either side, each 50

« Seventy-five feet by 45 feet.

*And 60 feet high from the basement floor to the upper ceiling.

<'The lecture room, the optical and acoustic properties of which are probably
unsurpassed by any apartment intended for the same purpose in the United States,

occupies one- half of the upper story of the main building, besides a portion of the

front and rear towers. Its precise length is 96 feet and extreme width 62 feet. It

will comfortably seat 1,500 persons, and when crowded will contain upward of 2,000.
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feet square, one of which is appropriated to a musenni of apparatus and the other,

at present, to a gallery of art. Both are occasionally used as minor lecture rooms

and for the meetings of scientific, educational, or industrial associations.

The lower story of the main building consists of one large hall, to be appropriated

to a museum or a library. It is at present unoccupied, but will be brought into use

as soon as the means are provided for furnishing it with proper cases for containing

the objects to which it may be appropriated.

«

The ])asen)ent of this portion of the building is used as a lumber room and as a

receptacle for fuel.

The west wing is at present occupied as a library, and is sufficiently large to

accommodate all the books which will probably be received during the next ten

years. The west connecting range is appropriated to a reading room.

The principal towers are divided into stories, and thus furnish a large number of

rooms of different sizes, which will all come into use in the varied operations of the

Institution. A large room in the main south tower is appropriated to the meetings

of the "Establishment" and the Board of Regents; three rooms in one range, in the

main front towers, are used as offices; and two rooms below, in the same towers, are

occupied by one of the assistants and the janitor; other rooms in the towers are used

for drawing, engraving, and workshops. There are in the whole building, of all

sizes, 90 different apartments; of these 8 are of a large size, and are intended for

public exhibitions.

The delay in finishing the building has not only been attended with advantage in

husbanding the funds, but also in allowing a more complete adaptation of the inte-

rior to the purposes of the Institution. It is surely better, in the construction of

such an edifice, to imitate the example of the mollusk, who, in fashioning his shell,

adapts it to the form and dimensions of his V)ody, rather than that of another animal

who forces himself into a house intended for a different occupant. The first point

to be settled in commencing a building is the uses to which it is to be applied.

This, however, could not be definitely ascertained at the beginning of the Institution,

and hence the next wisest step to that of not commencing to build immediately was

to defer the completion of the structure until the plan of operations and the wants of

the establishment were more precisely known.
* * * The whole amount expended on the building, grounds, and objects con-

nected with them is f318,727.01. This exceeds considerately the original estimate

and the limit which was at first adopted by the Regents.

The excess has been principally oi'casioned by substituting fire-proof materials for

the interior of the main l)uilding instead of wood and plaster, which were originally

intended.

* * * We should not forget that the ordinary expenses of the Institution have

constantly increased, and that, while the nominal income has remained the same,

the value of money has depreciated; and, consequently, the capability of the original

«The ceiling is supported by two rows of columns extending the whole length. At

the middle of the space corresponding to the principal entrances are two wing walls,

by which, with the addition of screens, the whole space may be divided into two

large rooms, with a hall extending across the building between them. This story

may be used for a library or a museum, or for both, as the wants of the Institution

may require. It is finished in a simple but chaste style and has received general

commendation. Indeed, it is, perhaps, in appearance one of the most imposing

rooms in this country, apart from adaptation to its purposes. The floor through

the middle part is formed of cut stone, that of the other parts is of wood, which,

resting on the arches beneath, without space between to contain air, is considered

sufliciently fireproof and not subject to dampness from the variation of temperature

9,nd humidity of the atmosphere.
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bequest to produce results has been abridged in a corresponding proportion. Besides,

when the l)uilding is entirely occupied, the expense of warming, attendance, etc.,

must necessarily be much increased beyond its present amount. The repairs, on

account of the peculiar style of architecture adopted, will ever be a heavy item of

expenditure. The several pinnacles, buttresses, and intersecting roofs all afford

points of peculiar exposure to the injuries of the weather.

1857.

In 1857 the building- committee stated that at its last session Congress

had appropriated $15,000 for cases for the collections belonging to the

Government. These were then finished and formed a beautiful addi-

tion to the large hall on the first floor, being apparently well adapted

to the purpose intended. The west wing, devoted to the librar}-, had

been furnished with alcoves and a gallery extending around three

sides of the room, an arrangement serving to increase greatly the

accommodation and security of the books.

No report was made by the building committee after this year.

1858.

In his report for 1858 Secretary Henry states that

—

In order to increase the capacity of the large room appropriated to the collection,

the cases have been arranged in two stories, forming a series of alcoves and a gallery

on each side. By the adoption of this plan space can lie provided for douljle the

number of specimens which were exhibited at the Patent Office.*******
Comparatively few repairs have been required during the past year on the 1)uild-

ing, though the changes which have been necessary to accommodate the increasing

operations of the Institution have involved considerable expense. The corridors,

which were entirely open to the northwest wind, have been inclosed with glazed

sashes; a large amount of space has thus been rendered available, and a considerable

jiortion of the interior of the building protected from the inclemency of the weather.

During this 3^ear the (jovernment collections at the Patent Office

were transferred to the lower main hall of the Smithsonian building,

in accordance with the provisions of the act of Congress of August

10, 1816.

FIRE OF 1865, AND RESTORATION OF THE BUILDING.

On Janiuuy 21, 1865, the building of the Smithsonian Institution

was visited by a destructive fire, which burned out the upper story of

the main building and the large towers at the north and south

entrances. The following account of this disaster is taken from Sec-

retar}^ Henry's report for 1865:

The most important event of 1865 was the destruction of a part of the building and
its contents by the fire of January 24. This event must continue to form an epoch
in the history of the Institution; and though it can not but be considered a most
serious disaster, it may yet lead to changes of importance in the correction of ten-

dencies which might ultimately have al)sorl)ed the aimual income and neutralized

the more liberal policy which has thus far iH'en pursued. In view, tiierefore, of tiie

character of the event, as v.ell as the continuity of the history, it is deemed expe-
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client, before proceeding with an account of the operations: of the year, to repeat

triefly the facts connected with the origin and results of the tire.

It may be well, however, for the better information of those not acquainted with

the Smithsonian building, to premise in regard to it the following particulars: It

consists of a main edifice 200 feet long and 50 wide, with two large wings and two
connecting ranges, having in all an extreme length, in an east and west direction,

of 450 feet. In front and rear of the middle portion are projections, terminated l)y

high towers, two on the north and one on the south side; moreover, on each corner

of the middle building is a smaller tower, and also one on each of the two wings.

The whole of the first story of the main building, in a single room, is devoted to

tlie museum; the upper story, in three apartments, was assigned to the lecture room,

the gallery of art, and the cabinet of apparatus. The west wing is entirely appro-

priated to the library; the east wing to the residence of the Secretary and a store-

room for publications and specimens of natural history. The east connecting range

contains the laboratory and office rooms; the west range is an extension of the

museum. In the large towers were the Regents' room, the offices of the Secretary,

storerooms, and workshop.

Though the original jjlan was mucli admired for its architectural effect, it was
soon found that, in relation to the means at the disposal of the building committee,

it was too expensive to admit in its construction of the exclusive use of fire-proof

materials; hence, while the exterior was to be constructed of cut freestone, it was
concluded to finish the interior in wood and stucco. Fortunately, this plan, which
was carried out in regard to the wings, the connecting ranges, and the towers, was
abandoned before the completion of the main building. After the exterior of this,

including the roof, had been finished and the framing of the interior was in place,

the latter suddenly gave way and was precipitated into tlie cellar—a mass of broken

timber. The attention of the Regents having been called by this accident to the

insecurity of the woodwork, they directed that the further progress of the building

should be stopped until means could be accumulated for finishing the remainder of

the edifice in a more stable manner and with fire-proof materials. In accordance

with this direction, after an interval of several years, the construction was recom-

menced under the direction of Capt. (now Gen. ) B. S. Alexander, of the Engineer

Corps, and the whole of the main building, except the inside of the towers and the

framing of the roof, which had previously been completed, was finished in a sub-

stantial manner in iron and brick work. The architect advised the removal of the

roof, but as this would have swelled the cost of the l)uilding still further beyond the

estimate and the means at connnand, and as the covering was of slate, the framing

under it was thought to be in no danger from fire. This, however, was destined to

be the part on which the first attack of the element was to be made. Through a

mistake in some workmen, the i)ipe of a stove which had been temporarily used in

one of the ui)per rooms was introduced through the wall into a furring space resem-

l)ling a Hue, but which discharged the heated air from the combu.stion into the loft

immediately under the roof, instead of into the air through the true chimney.

«

^Previous to the fire the large room partly occupied by the Stanley collection of

Indian portraits had been fitted out with about 200 feet of cases around the walls to

receive the ethnological specimens in the possession of the Institution. While
engaged in rearranging the pictures above these cases, the workmen, with a view to

their own comfort, unfortunately placed the pipe of a stove in a ventilating flue

which opened under the roof, and thus caused the conflagration which destroyed

the ujjper part of the main building. Fortunately, none of the ethnological articles

had been placed in this room, and consequently these specimens, with those of the,

nuiseum and of the general collections, have been preserved. (Secretary Henry.

Report for 1864, p. 31.

)
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The rafteri^ were net on lire, and before the burning was discovered tlie entire wood-

work under the covering was in flames. The progress of tlie fire was so rapid that

but few of the contents of the upper rooms could be removed before the roof fell in.

The flames soon extended to the large towers, and, as these acted as high chimneys,

they greatly increased the intensity of the combustion. The conflagration was only

stayed by the incoml)ustible materials of the main building. Had the original plan

of constructing the interior of the edifice in wood and plaster been fully carried out,

the whole structure would have been destroyed and the valuable library and rich

collections of specimens of natural history entirely lost.

The aperture which deceived the workmen was probably made ])y those who origi-

nally plastered the building. It occupied a middle point between two windows, and
from its position would naturally lead to the infei'ence that it was designed to con-

duct the products of combustion directly into the chimney, from which it was only

separated by the thickness of a single brick. For what reason it had not been

placed in the middle between the two windows is unknown. It is remembered that

some ten years previous to the fire this opening was during several weeks* used for

the insertion of a stove pipe, without suspicion of accident at the time; but in the

interval the wood had undergone a process of drying which rendered it more com-

Inistible.

Constantly impressed with the fact that the interior of the two w'ings and the con-

necting ranges were constructed of combustible material, I have always felt great

anxiety on account of the liability to conflagration of these parts of the building.

The rest of the edifice, with the exception of the interior of the towers, was sup-

posed to be secure from injury of this nature. A night watch was constantly kept,

barrels and buckets filled with water were placed at suitable points, and strict rules

were adopted prohibiting the carrying of exposed lights, as well as the practice of

smoking, in any part of the edifice. That these precautions were unavailing has been
seen, the fire having been communicated at a point where danger was least sus-

pected, and in a manner which rendered its occurrence sooner or later almost

inevitable.

The weather at the time was extremely cold, and before the engines could be
brought into operation the whole of the roof was in flames. Commencing at the

west end of the center building, the flames were driven by the wind, which blew
from that direction eastwardly, and, fortunately, away from the library, in the west

wing. The destruction of the roof of the main building involved that of the con-

tents of the rooms immediately beneath it and also those of the three principal

towers adjacent. In the former were the Indian portrait gallery, the lecture room,

an<l the apparatus room. The first of these contained the large collection of paint-

ings by Mr. Stanley and a series of Indian portraits belonging to the Government.
The lecture room was constructed on acoustic and optical principles, and not only

answered perfectly the ends for which it was immediately intended, but had served

also as a model for lecture rooms in various parts of the country. The apparatus

room contained the principal part of the articles presented by the late Dr. Robert
Hare, and a large number of instruments of recent construction intended both for

ilhistrationand original research.

The losses in the south tower were, first, the contents of the Regents' room,
including the personal effects of Smithson; second, those of a large room above it, in

which were stored the private library of Reverend Doctor Johns, of \'irginia, and the

public library of Beaufort, South Carolina, deposited thereat the request of Hon. Mr.

Stanton, for preservation until the end of the war; and, third, in the attic, a targe col-

le(;tion of public documents and i-omplete sets of the Smithsonian Reports, intended

for distribution. The effects of Smithson had but little intrinsic value, and were
chiefly prized as mementos of the founder of the Institution. They consisted of a

number of articles of chemical and physical apparatus, such as were used by him in

NAT MLS 1903 14
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his perambulatory excursions, two small cabinets of minute specimens of minerals,

a silver-plated dinner service, and a trunk tilled with manuscripts. The portrait

of Smithson while a student at Oxford, a medallion likeness of him in bronze, his

library, consisting of 1 50 volumes, and a small jiainting were saved. The marmscripts

consisted principally of notes on scraps of paper, intended apparently for alphabetical

arrangement in a commonplace book, after the manner of a philosophical dictionary.

The losses in the north towers were the contents of the offices of the Secretary,

including the records and copies of the correspondence of the Institution, the wood-

cuts to illustrate the publications, the steel plates of an expensive memoir, several

boxes of stereotyi)e plates, a large number of manuscripts of the Secretary on scien-

tific subjects, four memoirs accepted for publication, about a hundred volumes of

valuable books fi-om the library, used for constant and immediate reference; a large

number of copies of the Smithsonian Reports and (lu])licate documents; the contents

of the workshop, consisting of a lathe, forge, a full set of tools, and an assortment of

hardware and materials for the construction and repair of apparatus; and of the

upper ro'om of the highest tower, including the clockwork of an anemometer for

recording the direction and force of the wdnd. Not only was this instrument itself

lost, but all the records which had been obtained by the use of it for the last seven

years. Fortunately, nearly all the other meteorological records, which were in a

lower room, were saved.

The Indian portraits, as far as they were the likenesses of particular individuals, in

most cases can never be reproduced, but we are gratified to learn that the extensive

collection of Mr. Catlin of a similar character has been purchased in Europe by Mr.

Harrison, of Philadelphia, and will be rendered accessible to the student of ethnology.

Besides this, there are in existence, particularly in Canada, other portraits sufficient

in number and variety fully to illustrate the characteristics of the race. At the same

time the loss has fallen very heavily upon Mr. Stanley, the painter and owner of

this collection. It was the result of the labor of many years among the Indians; it

constituted the pride, as it has been the crowning effort, of his life, and he ardently

desired that it might be transmitted to posterity as a monument of his enterprise and

industry. The ho^je is entertained that the Government will see fit to give him an

order to paint a picture for the Capitol, in which the principal figures of this collec-

tion and the characteristics of the Indian race may be portrayed.

The apparatus presented by Doctor Hare was interesting on account of its associa-

tion with the history of the advance of science in this country. The collection con-

tained most of the articles invented by the donor, and which are described in the

scientific journals of the first half of the present century. Among the chemical

implements were those used by that distinguished chenust in procuring for the first

time, without the aid of galvanism, calcium, the metallic basis of lime. A number
of the articles of apparatus presented by Doctor Hare, though injured by the fire,

may be repaired, and I have taken measures for their restoration.

Among the articles of historic interest which were lost is the lens used by Priest-

ley for the evolution of oxygen from the oxide of mercury, and by means of which

the first distinct recognition of this elementary substance was effected. It had been

presented to the Institution ])y the nephew of the celebrated philosopher, as was

also the apparatus employed by Priestley in his experiments on bodies in condensed

atmospheres. The latter was but slightly injured and can readily be repaired. The

other articles of apparatus may be replaced at an expense of about $10,000.

The most irreparable loss was that of the records, consisting of the official, scien-

tific, and miscellaneous correspondence, embracing 35,000 pages of copied letters

which had been sent, at least 30,000 of w^hich were the composition of the Secretary,

and 50,000 pages of letters received by the Institution; the receipts for publications

and specimens; reports on various subjects which have been referred to the Institu-

tion; the records of experiments instituted l)y the Secretary for the Governmeiit;
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four manuscrii)ts of original imx'stigations which had Ijeuu adopti'd by the Instilii-

tion for pubhcation; a large number of papers and scientific notes of the Secretary;

a series of diaries and memorandum and account ])ooks. Fortunately, however, a

detailed history of the general operations of the Institution is preserved in the

printed reports, and a large amount of correspondence connected with natural his-

tory and meteorology was saved.

Since the occurrence of the fire all the operations have been carried on in the lower

story of the east wing of the building (the upper part still continuing to be the resi-

dence of the Secretary) and in the several rooms of the adjoining east range. Con-

nected with an office in the latter, the lower story of the tower attached to the

southeast corner of the main building has been converted into a fireproof vault, in

which all the valuable papers and records are constantly kept, except for the usually

short time they are required for consultation. To insure the wakefulness and fidelity

of the watchmen we have introduced the use of an instrument called a "detector,"

which records the number and the times of his visits to the several parts of the

building. For this instrument, which has rendered good service during the past

year, we are indebted to the liberalitv of its inventor, Mr. J. E. Bauerk, of Boston,

who, in consideration of the loss which the Institution has sustained by fire, kindly

presented it free of charge.

A circumstantial account is given by the building committee of what has been

done toward the reconstruction of the edifice. From this it will l)e seen that the

plan adopted contemplates not merely the repair of the damage by the fire, but the

restoration of the several parts in firejiroof materials, and with such alterations in

the division of the interior space as will better adaj)t it to the uses of the Institution.

The plans have been jirepared and the work superintended l)y 'Mr. Adolph Cluss,

an architect who v,-as w'armly recommended by the mayor of Washington as having

been successful in designing and erecting the public schoolhouses of the city, as well

as a number of churches and other buildings. These plans have been critically

examined and, in some cases, modified by the chairman of the building committee.

General Uelafield, who, by his knowledge and experience in the line of engineering,

has rendered the Institution valuable service.

No appropriation has yet been made by Congress to aid in the restoration of the

building. Considering, however, the large amount of Government property intrusted

to the care of the Institution, it can scarcely be doubted that in a normal condition

of the national finances, an appropriation for such purpose would have been readily

granted.

In consideration of the extraordinary outlay required for the reconstruction of the

building, an effort has been made to reduce as much as possible the miscellaneous

expenses, and to engage in no enterprise that is not absolutely necessary to the con-

tinuance of the general operations. So many articles, however, of furniture and
stores of hardware and stationery were to be replaced that we have not Iwen able to

reduce the expenditures to as low a point as we could wish; yet it will be seen that

they fall somewhat below those of the preceding year. * * ^

The cost of the restoration of the building in fireproof materials without changing
the external appearance has, as formerly stated, been far greater than was antici-

pated. Whether the portion of the work yet to be executed will much exceed in

cost that which has already been completed will depend upon the price of materials

and of labor. The Institution may in time be able to finish this work without

encroaching on its present capital, provided the Secretary of the Treasury shall

recognize the inadetjuacy of the i)ayments of interest whii'h for three years were
made in the depreciated currency of the time. If this allowance be not made and
no as;?istance be received from Congress, then, in order to secure the l)uildiiig and
its contents from injury by the weather the Institution will be obliged to sacrifice a
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portion of its extra fund, and to the extent of this forever diminish its power to

"increase and diffuse knowledge among men."
* * * As the public museum of the Institution occupied the portion of the

l)uilding constructed of fireproof materials, it escaped destruction by the fire, yet the

smoke and water to which they were exposed caused some damage to the specimens,

and much labor and expense were requisite to restore them to their proper appear-

ance.

The report of Secretary Henry immediately following the tire con-

tains some important statements, which, though made before those

aboA'e quoted, can better supplement them. They are partly as

follows:

Although greatly to be regretted on account of the losses incurred, the accident is

not without compensation in considerations of a different nature; thus it has served

to call forth the expression of a large amount of kind feeling in regard to the Institu-

tion and to direct the attention of Congress to the character and importance of its

operations.

* * * Two grave errors were committed in the adoption of the present one

[building] ; first, the plan was but little adapted to the uses to which the edifice was

to be applied; second, the style of architecture recjuired a far greater expenditure

than the amount to which the cost of the building was limited. For the purpose of

architectural effect the interior was very inconveniently divided. The buttresses,

turrets, and towers, while they add very little to the accommodation of the building,

greatly increased the cost. To have constructed the building in a substantial

and durable manner in strict conformity with the Lombard style of architecture,

which was adopted, would have required an expenditure of at least double the

amount of the sum appropriated for the purpose. It was therefore necessary, in

order that the exterior might be constructed of freestone, that the interior should be

finished in wood and stucco, and that thus recourse should l)e had to the presenta-

tion of a falsehood to the eye in the very inauguration of an enterprise for the

advancement of truth. The two wings and the two connecting ranges were com-

pleted in this manner. The main building, which is 200 feet long and 50 feet wide,

embellished with six towers, was also in process of completion, the framing of the

interior having been finished, when the underpinning gave way and the whole of

the woodwork fell to the ground.

After the occurrence of this accident a commission of architects appointed to

examine the building reported that the exterior walls were well built, both in

regard to construction and materials, but that the plan of finishing the interior

in wood and stucco was improper for an edifice intended to contain valuable articles.

It was therefore recommended that fireproof materials should be employed for the

portions of the work which remained to be constructed. In conformity with this

recommendation the interior of the main building was completed in iron, stone, and

brick, with the exception of the roof, which, being covered with slate and not sup-

posed to be exposed to danger from fire, was suffered to remain. It was this change

in the mode of constructing a portion of the edifice which, during the late fire, saved

the contents of the whole from destruction. It however increased the cost of the

building to upward of $300,000, leaving the remaining parts of the interior of the

structure in perishable materials.

* * * Nothing definite can be said at present as to the financial arrangements

for the repair of the building. The subject is still before Congress, and although the

idea has been confidently entertained that an appropriation would be made for the

purpose, yet, from the discussion Avhich took place in the meeting of the joint com-

mittee of the two Houses ap])ointed to consider this matter, I do not think a resolu-

tion authorizing such an appropriation wall be adopted.
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The first meeting of the Regents after the fire was hold on -lanuar}^

1^8, 1865, liaving been caUcHl principally in consiMiiuMU'O ol" that event.

The Secretary' presented a brief account of the lire, and of the stejw

immediately taken, through the Secretary of War, to place a tempo-

rary roof over the main building. This work was done under the

Quartermaster's Department of the Army, which furnished the neces-

sary materials and men, the expense being subsetj-uentl}^ refunded by

the Institution. This roof w^as adequate to protect the building fioni

storms without interfering with the construction of a permaniMit

covering.

It was announced that the committees on Public Buildings and

Grounds of both the Senate and House had already been directed to

inquire into the origin of the lire, the approximate loss to the Gov-

ernment and to private persons, the means necessary to preserve the

remaining portions, etc. In anticipation of the work of these com-

mittees it was thought advisable that a special committee be appointed

to report directly to the Board, Mr. R. Wallach, a Regent, and Pro-

fessor Henry, the Secretary, being designated as such committee,

under the following resolution :

That a committee be appointed to inquire into the origin of the fire, to ascertain

the extent and character of the loss sustained, and to make suggestions as to what

measures should be adopted for the. repair and improvement of the building.

The report of this committee, submitted at a Board meeting on

February 2, 1865, after reciting the origin of the fire and explaining

the losses sustained (amounting, besides the damage to the building,

to about $20,000 for the Institution and $26,000 for individuals), as

well as the parts saved from injury, all of which have been sufliciently

described above, made the following suggestions as to what they con-

sidered should be done.

There can be no hesitation in adopting the conclusion that steps should be imme-
diately taken not only to repair the injury, but to improve the condition of the

building.

1. The main edifice should be provided with a metallic roof.

2. For the wooden conical terminations of the towers should be substituted metallic

coverings.

.3. All valuable articles belonging to the Institution or deposited in it, including

the library, should be placed in the main building, which should 1)e cut off from the

wings by iron doors.

4. Provision sliould l)o ma<le for a thorough heating of tlie whoie building by steam

or hot water.

5. Suggestions should be requested from competent arcliitects and engineers as to

work to be done, and those which are adopted should be eml)odied in working i)lans

and drawings.

6. A building committee of the Board should be appointed to have charge of the

work.

No very exact estimate can as yet be made as to the cost of the repairs, etc., for it

has not been possible, without erecting a scaffolding, to determine whether it will be
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necessary to take down the high northern tower. Colonel Alexander, of the Engineer

Corps, however, has informed the committee that he thinks $100,000 will be required

to make the necessary repairs and improvements.

The committee can not conclude without adding that, in their opinion, the occur-

rence of the fire ought not to l)e allowed to interfere with the active operations of

the Institution, on whicli essentially depends the reputation it has established

throughout the world and its efficiency as an instnunent for "the increase and dif-

fusion of knowledge among men." To the support and extension of these opera-

tions, therefore, the annual interest from the original fund should, as far as possible,

continue as heretofore to be conscientiously applied.

At the same meeting measures were discussed for the repair and

improvement of the building", and the opinion was expressed by the

Congressional Regents present that an appropriation for the purpose

would be made by Congress without opposition, ))ut such relief was

not obtained.

The joint committee of the Senate and House of Representatives,

above referred to, made its report to Congress on Februar}^ 21, 1865,

after visiting the building, having adopted the report of the Smith-

sonian committee. At a subsequent meeting of the joint Congressional

committee Secretary Henry was requested to describe his connection

with the Institution, to give an account of its objects and operations,

the origin of the building, and such other facts as might be of public

interest. Secretary Henry's statement, together with the report of

the committees and of the testimony, were printed conjointly as Senate

Report No. 129, Thirty-eighth Congress, second session, February,

1865.

At a meeting held on March 1, 1865, it was resolved by the Regents:

"That the whole subject of the repairs and reconstruction of the

building * * * be intrusted to the Chancellor, the Secretary, and

the executive committee." This committee reported annually during

the three years from 1866 to 1868, inclusive, and the following extracts

are from that source:

1865. The first step toward the reconstru(;tion of the building was to secure the

services of a competent person as architect and engineer to prepare plans and super-

intend the work. For this purpose Mr. Adolph Cluss, who had designed and

directed the building of the principal schoolhouses of the city, was employed.

The next thing to be done was the making of a critical survey to ascertain the

actual state of the walls, and to determine what parts it was necessary first to rebuild.

This survey forced uj)on the committee the conviction that the original construction

of the building, as a whole, was very defective, and, in many respects, unsuited as a

receptacle of records and other valuable articles, the loss of which could never be

repaired. The exterior of all the walls consists of a facing of red sandstone, bound

to an irregular backing of l)]uestone of verj^ bad workmanship. In the main build-

ing and in the lower jiortion of the large south tower was inserted a 4-inch brick

lining separated by an air space from the main walls. This lining is not bound to

the walls, and, therefore, does not add to their strength. It is merely a furring,

intended to prevent dampness by the condensation of moisture from the atmosphere.

This furring is open at the toj), and it was into this Ihat (he stovepipe was inserted
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which led to the accident l)y fire. In all the other rooms of the towers the plaster-

ing was upon the rough rubble work.

The heavy projecting cornice of the south tower was mereh^ set in place without

fastening, and, consequently, could not withstand any disturbing action.

The parts of the building which were not injured by fire, namely, the two wings

and connecting ranges, as far as the committee have had the opportunity of examin-

ing, are defective in materials and construction. The floors, in some cases, though

covered with flagging and filled in with deafening, rest upon 1)eams of pine wood,

which is decayed, and in the course of a iew years the interior of these parts will

recjnire renewal.

It is proper to state that the foregoing remarks on the character of the materials

and the construction of the building are not applicable to the work on the main edi-

fice, subsequently executed under the superintendence of Gapt. (now General) B. S.

Alexander, of the United States Engineers. This work, which principally consisted

in the arching of the basement and the main story of the upper building, was exe-

cuted in fireproof materials and prevented the extension of the fire, and, conse-

(]nently, the destruction of the entire edifice and all its contents.

From the foregoing account of the original construction of the building, it will not

be surjirising that the effect of the fire was found to be much more serious tlian pre-

\i()us to tliis survey it had been su]iposed, and that the work to be done could not

be confined to the mere repairing of the injury caused by the fire, but would include

also the rebuilding of a considerable part of the edifice; and this was particularly the

case on account of the decision of the Board that the restoration should be in all

parts indestructible by fire.

The heavy projecting cornice of the south tower had fallen down, in part, and the

remainder was unfit to receive a new roof.

The high brick columns, extending from the cellar to the eaves of the main building,

and supporting the northern wall of the south tower, were so nuich damaged l)y the

fire as to require to be removed, and consequently, with them the above-mentioned

wall itself. The lining of the upper story of the main building was also so much
injured that the greater portion of this will require renewal. But the most unstable

portion of the building, and that which gave rise to most anxiety, was the prin-

cipal northern tower. This, which is 140 feet high, starts from a square base, and
is gradually transformed into a regular octagon of smaller dimensions. Four sides

of this octagon rest upon the sides of the original square, but jtroject into the inte-

rior, while its other four sides extend diagonally across the angles of the square,

and are supported by rough and imperfect corbel work, consisting of masses of blue-

stone very seriously affected by the fire. The tower was originally divided into a
series of stories by transverse wooden beams and plank floors, which were entirely

destroyed. The anxiety in regard to this tower was increased by observing a vertical

crack extending a considerable portion of the height of the tower, but whether this

had previously been produced by unequal settling, and had merely been increased

by the unequal expansion of the exterior and interior walls, due to the fire, or

entirely produced l)y the latter cause, could not be definitely ascertained. As this

part of the building imperatively demanded innnediate care, the architect was
dii-ected to give it his first attention. After a due consideration of its then present

condition and its future use as a receptacle of iieavy articles, it was considered neces-

sary to erect within it a lining of solid brickwork 9 inches thick, laid in cement,
from the bottom to the top, firndy unite<l to the original wall, and serving as the

support to iron beams of the brick floor. And, furthermore, it was concluded to fill

up in brickwork a numl)er of the high, narrow windows in each story, which would
add to the strength of the structure without affecting externally its architectural

appearance.
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A ^liiiiilar eonstriu-tioii was directed in the otlier principal nortli tower, and the

work in Imtli lias l)een executed in such a manner as to give assurance that these

])arts of the building will not merely be restored, but will also be rendered more

stable than they were before the conflagration. The crack above mentioned has been

found, by the undisturbed condition of a thin stratum of plaster placed over it, to

have remained the same, and the walls, for several months previous and during the

winter, have not undergone any perceptible change.

While the work immediately required for the safety of the front towers was in

progress, plans were discussed and prepared for the interior of these as well as for

that of the south tower, with a view to their better adaptation to the wants of the

establishment.

The original plan of the building included four principal staircases leading to the

upper story of the edifice, one on each side of the north entrance, and a similar

arrangement on the right and another on the left of the south entrance. As these

occupied a large portion of useful space, it was thought best to increase the size of

those at the north entrance, dispense with those on the southern, and so arrange the

heights of the stories of all the towers as to render them more available for the

])usiness operations of the estal)lishment.

The work which has been done on the southern tower consists in the removal of

the north wall and a considerable part of the upper portion of the other three walls;

the preparation of a part of the freestone, from which to reconstruct the exterior

wall; the greater portion of the l)rickwork of the basement, and the furnishing of

the cast-iron columns intended to replace the brick piers which supported the

northern wall of this tower. * * *

This temporary roof, covered with felt saturated with tar, has served the purpose

intended. It will, however, rapidly deteriorate, and, consequently, the first object

of the committee, during the coming season, will be to decide on the character of

the roof, and to hasten its completion as rapidly as the work can properly l)e

accomplished.

In the restoration of the building the committee have been governed by the

following considerations:

First. To render the work entirely stable, both in regard to material and mode of

construction.

Second. To render it thoroughly fireproof.

Third. In view of the great cost at present of material and workmanship, and the

condition of the funds of the Institution, at first to do such work as should be

necessary to preserve the stabiUty of the several parts of the building, and prevent

injury to the property by the weather. * * *

1866. The restoration of the building has been prosecuted during the last year as

rapidly as the funds at the disposal of the committee and the character of the work

would permit. * * *

The large south tower was so much injured that 30 feet of the upper portion had

to be taken down and rebuilt, the cost of which was much enhanced by the neces-

sity of recutting a large amount of new stone for the facing. This tower has been

divided into six stories, affording as many large rooms, the lower for an extension

of the museum, an upper one for the meetings of the Kegents, and the others for

storage, etc. The offices for the accommodation of the Secretary and assistants will

be in the nothern tow'ers and connecting space.

The principal access to the second story of the main Iniilding is l)y two large iron

staircases, one on either side of the northern entrance. These have been completed.

All the towers and connections with the main building have been covered with

substantial roofs. After much inquiry and personal investigation, it was concluded

to adopt the plan for the roof of tiie main Iniilding of wronght-iron framing and slate
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covering, the latter secured in place by wire to iron |iur]incs and pointed iniderneath

b}' a coating of cement.

The inside lining of the walls of the .second story of tiie })nilding, which had l)een

much injured by the fire, has ])een removed and its place supplied by a new 9-inch

brick wall laid in cement, securely tied, and clamped to the outer stonework.

The chairman of the committee has given personal attention to the work in its

progress and can state from actual knowledge that the plans, material, and work-

manship are of a satisfactory character, alike creditable tf> the talents and careful

supervision of Mr. Cluss, the architect.

1867. Jt was statetl in the report presented to tlu- Boanl at its last sessi(in that it

was proposed, during the year 18B7, to roof the main building and towers and finish

the interior of all the rooms, halls, staircases, and )nain entrance, leaving the large

room of the upper story over the museum unfinished until funds could be provided

for the purpose and its future use be determined.

In accordance witli this proposition the ironwork of the roof over the museum
was erected early in the spring, and covered with slate, fastened to the iron purlines

with wire and jylastered inside witli wall plaster. The iron gutters, as well as the

roof, were found perfectly secure from leakage during the hardest summer rains.

The severe test of ice and snow during the present winter has-shown the necessity

for additions in the arrangements for conducting the water from the roof. Plans for

this purpose are now under discussion with the architect for persevering in the orig-

inal plan, or adopting some additional security that the late severe season has indi-

cated to be advisable.

The adaptation of new to old work in restoring the building from the destructive

effects of the fire by substituting incombustible materials for wooden partitions,

floors, and roofs, has been attended, as was foreseen, with much labor and expense,

as well as making additional means indispensable for rendering the roof surfaces,

valleys, and gutters water-tight in winter, when covered with snow and occasionally

ice, as well as the summer rains. Like the public l)uildings generally in this citv

(and we may say elsewhere) where Ijattlements extend above the eaves, with gutters

behind them upon the roof, or resting upon the walls, much inconvenience, and at

times damage, arises from leaks the result of such a system. It is experienced in

the Smithsonian building in consequence of the stone battlements capping all its

exterior walls. The present architect's original design, approved by the committee,

is set forth in his report of the operations of the year annexed hereto. Neither

time nor the funds of the Institution would permit his carrying this part of his plan

into operation; and until it is done, together with some additions that the late

inclement season has pointed out as advisable and necessary, the building is not

secure, nor the property within it, from dampness and moisture.

The introduction of the propo.sed warming apparatus for all the apartments is

the next most essential particular to be undertaken, to he commenced whenever the

funds of the Institution will justify.

The security of the several apartments and contents are in a great measure depend-

ent upon such an apparatus as a substitute for the stoves temporarily in use, and for

which no permanent smoke flues or other arrangements were jirovided.

All the rooms in the north tower, forming three suites of three in each, with two

rooms on the entrance floor, one for the janitor and the other for a reception room

for visitors, have been completi'd and are now used and occupied as offices for con-

ducting the operations of the Institution. The several apartments in this north

tower above these offices have also been completed. The rooms and apartments in

the south tower have also been finished and are now occupied. The lower one, or

that on the first floor, forms a part of the general museum and is now devoted to the

reception of the larger and most weighty articles of ethnology, such as the stone

images from Central America and the stone sarcophagus from Syria.
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The apartments on tlie next story have been fitted up with shelves, bins, and other

fixtures for the transaction of the business of the hterary and scientific exchanges,

j)acking and distributing the same.

Tiie apartments next above have been finished for the meetings and convenience

of the Board of Regents, and tliose on the three remaining floors have also been fin-

ished and appropriated to storage and sucli otlier purposes as may become necessary.

In this tower are also provided an elevator with convenient mechanical power for

removing books, specimens, etc., to and from the basement and four stories above

it, etc. * * *

To increase the accommodation two additional floors have been added to the

original subdivision of the stories of the north and south towers. To furnish ligiit to

the new rooms in the south tower, circular windows have been opened through the

walls, without interfering with the original architectural effect of the exterior, thus

furnishing sufficient liglit for the purpose for which these apartments are intended.

The cost of the roconstructioti during 1865, 18(56, and 1867 amounted

to $119,528.01, all of which was paid from Smithsonian funds, except

the sum of $8,883.69 taken from the Congressional appropriation for

the preservation of the Government collections.

At the Regents'' meeting of January 27, 1868, it was resolved that

the great hall of the second story of the building and such other rooms

as are not required for the regular operations of the Institution be

devoted to the preservation of the scientitic collections. It should l)e

explained in this connection that before this time the library of the

Institution had been transferred to the Library of Congress, thus

increasing the amount of space available for museum purposes.

A resolution was also adopted at the same meeting that a committee

be appointed to report to the Regents at their next meeting what
amount of appropriation should l)e asked of Congress for the care of

the Museum and for fitting up the great hall for the safe-keeping and

exhibition of specimens. Ofi May 1, 1868, as a result of this action

the following tnemorial was presented to Congress:

To the honorable the Senate and House of Representatives in Congress asseinhled:

In behalf of the Board of Regents of the Smithsonian Institution, the undersigned'

beg leave respectfully to submit to your honorable body the following statement,

and to solicit such action in regard to it as may be deemed just and proper:*******
It is true that Congress, at the time the specimens were transferred to the Institu-

tion, granted an appropriation of $4,000 for their care and preservation, that being

the ecpiivatent of the estimated cost of the maintenance of these collections in the

Patent Office, where they had previously been exhibited. But this sum, from the

rise in |)rices and the exj^ansion of the museum by the specimens obtained from

about fifty exploring expeditions ordered by Congress, scarcely more than defrays

at the present time one-third of the annual expense. In this estimate no account is

taken of the rent of the part of the louilding devoted to the museum of the (iovern-

ment, which at a moderate estimate would be $20,000 per annum.
Besides the large expenditure which has already been made on the liuilding, at

least $50,000 more will be required to finish the large hall in the second story,

necessary for the full display of the specimens of the Government. But the Regents

do not think it judicious further to emiiarrass the active operations for several years

to come by devoting a large part of the income to this object, and have therefore
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concluded to allow this room to remain unfinisheil until other means are provided

for comjileting it.

It is not by its castellated l)uilding nor the exhibition of the museum of the Gov-

ernment that the Institution has achieved its present reputation, nor by the collec-

tion and display of material objects of any kind that it has viudicated the intelligence

and good faith of the Government in the administration of the trust. It is by its

explorations, its researches, its publications, its distribution of specimens, and its

exchanges, constituting it an active, living organization, that it has rendered itself

favorably known in every part of the civilized world, has made contributions to

almost every branch of science, and brought more tlian ever l)efore into intimate

and friendly relations the Old and New Worlds.*******
The Board of Regents are confident that upon a full consideration of the case, your

honorable body will grant an adecjuate support for the collections of the Govern-

ment, and also an ap})roi)riati()n for finishing the repairs of the building.*******
In conclusion, your memorialists beg leave to represent on behalf of the Board of

Regents that the usual annual appropriation of |4,000 is wholly inadequate to the

cost of preparing, preserving, and exhibiting the specimens, the actual expenditure

for that purpose in 1867 having been over ?12,000; and they take the liberty of

respectfully urging on your honorable body the expediency of increasing it to

$10,000, and that a further sum of $25,000 be appropriated at this session of Congress

toward the completion of the hall required for the Government collections.

And your memorialists will ever pray, etc.

S. P. Chase,

Chancellor Smithsonian Institution.

Joseph Henry,
Secretary Smithsonian Institution.

In his report for the same and the succeeding- ^^ear. Secretary

Henry explained that the only exhibition rooms to which the general

public had had admission since the fire were the large hall on the first

floor of the main building and the adjoining apartment in the south

tower. This large hall, containing rich collections in ornithology and
ethnology, presented to the eye a succession of large pillars, which
obstructed the view of the cases. In fitting up the room of corre-

sponding dimensions in the second story, an opportunity would be
afforded of adopting arrangements far better suited for a comprehen-
sive display of the vast number of objects with which in time it would
be furnished, as it was intended that the ceiling of this hall should be

attached to the long iron girders which span the space from wall to

wall, thus obviating the necessity for introducing cohnnns. In addi-

tion to the above the west connecting range was provided in 1868 with

cases for ethnological specimens and opened to the pubJc in 1869.

The west wing was at this time temporaril}^ appropriated to the alco-

holic specimens and miscellaneous purposes.

During each of the years 1870 and 1871, Congress appropriated

110,000 for the fitting up of the large second-stor}- room and other

work of reconstruction. Those sums, together with about $9,000 from
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the income of the Smithsonian fund, |25>,00() in all, were expended for

that purpose in the latter year.

A readjustment of quarters in the Smithsonian buildinjj- was

announced by Secretary Heniy in his report for 1871, as follows:

Arrangements have been made for appropriating the east wing and range to the

business which may be considered as belonging exclusively to the essential objects

of tlie Institution, and devoting the main building, west wing, and towers to the

Museum. For this purpose the large room on the first floor of the east wing, which

was formerly used as a museum laboratory and storeroom, has been fitted up with

bins and conveniences for assorting and packing the literary and scientific exchanges

to be sent to foreign countries. Preparation has also been made for removing the

chemical laboratory from the first floor of the east range to the space immediately

below it in the basement, and for applying the whole of the first floor of this part

of the building to the business offices of the Secretary and his assistants in the line

of what are called the "active operations."

For the special accommodation of the Museum the large room in the west wing,

formerly occupied by the library, has been prepared for the reception of cases for

mineralogical and geological specimens, while the great hall, 200 feet by 50, in the

second story of the main building, has been completed and is now ready to receive

the cases for the anthropological and other specimens.

Estimates are now before Congress for fitting up these rooms with cases for the

reception and display of the Government collections, and it is hoped that in the

next report we shall be able to chronicle the commencement, if not the completion,

of the work.

The changes consequent upon the extension of the Museum mentioned made a

rearrangement necessary of the greater part of the basement, so as to obtain addi-

tional security against fire and greater convenience for the storage of fuel, packing

boxes, and specimens. A floor was laid through the basement, and new passage-

ways opened, furnishing better access from one extreme of the building to the other.

In introducing the fireproof floor into the west wing, advantage was taken of the

opportunity to increase the height of the room below it, and to convert it and the

adjoining rooms in the west range into laboratories and storerooms for natural

history.

Furthermore, for better security, the fireproofing of the floors of the four towers

on the corners of the main building has been commenced. The rooms in the towers

furnish studies and dormitories for the investigators in the line of natural history

who resort to the Institution, especially during the winter, to enjoy the use of the

library and the collections for special researches.*******
For defraying the exi)enses of the care and exhibition of the National Museum,

Congress has annually, for the last two years, appropriated $10,000. Although this

appropriation was more than double that of previous years, still it fell short of the

actual expenditure. The amount of items chargeable to the Museum during the past

year, independent of the rent which might have been charged for the rooms occu-

pied, or for repairs of the building, was a little more than $13,000. Deducting from

this sum the $10,000 appropriated by Congress, there remains $3,000, which was paid

from the income of the Smithson fund.

A statement of this deficiency has been presented to Congress, and we trust that

the sum of $15,000 will be appropriated for the same purpose for the ensuing fiscal

year.

By the completion of the large room in the second story and the appropriation of

the west wing and connecting range to the same purpose, the space allotted to the
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Museum in the Smithson building has been increased to about threefold. It is pro-

posed, as was stated in the last report, to devote the room in the west wing to speci-

mens of geology and mineralogy, and the large room in the second story to specimens

of archaeology and paleontology. As preparatory to the fitting up of these rooms,

a series of designs has bt'en prepared at the expense of the Institution l)y B. Water-

house Hawkins, the well-known restorer of the ancient animals which illustrate the

paleontology of the Sydenham Palace, near London.

ALTERATIONS AND REPAIRS SUBSEQUENT TO 1877.

On December 10, 1877, the President of the United States trans-

mitted to Congress the report of a commission, consisting of Lieut.

Col. Thomas L. Casey, U. S. Army, the Supervising Architect of the

Treasur}^,^ and the Architect of the Capitol, appointed b}^ him on

September 27, 1877, to examine the several public buildings in this

city and determine the nature and extent of their security against

conflagrations and the measures to be taken to guard the buildings

and their contents from destruction or damage by fire. This com-

mission recommended in respect to the Smithsonian building that

—

All the combustible materials used in the construction of the museum portion of

the building should be removed and the parts renewed of fireproof construction,

and the openings connecting with other parts of the building should be supplied

with fireproof doors.

On the same date the Secretary of the Interior submitted to Con-

gress an estimate "to provide additional security against tire in the

Smithsonian building for the Government collections, $3,000," and on

March 27, 1878, Secretary Henry wrote as follows to Senator A. A.

Sargent:

I have the honor to inform you that shortly after the fire at the Patent Office the

Smithsonian building was visited by the Government committee of inspection and
suggestions made by them as to the fireproofing of the portion of the edifice devoted

to the collections of the National Museum. These suggestions were at once acted

upon, at an expense of $2,803.29, as per detailed memorandum herewith, and I

write to beg that you will kindly consider the propriety of having an item intro-

duced into the deficiency bill whereby the Smithson fund may be reimbursed for this

outlay.

The action taken was described as follows:

Attention having been specially called to the condition of the public buildings in

this city on account of the destruction by fire of part of the Patent Office, it was
deemed advisable to give additional security to the valual)le collections deposited in

the Smithsonian edifice. The main building, which contains the National Museum,
is entirely fireproof, but the connecting ranges and the two wings are not so. It

was therefore highly desirable that the main building should be entirely isolated

from the ranges and wings. For this purpose the large windows facing the wings

were bricked up and all the doorways leading from the museum into the ranges

either bricked up or fitted with iron instead of wooden doors. The carpenter's and
machinist's shops were removed to the main basement and inclosed in brick walls.

The storage rooms were made fireproof by replacing wooden partitions and fioors

by those of brick. In the high central tower brick partitions have been constructed

on the stairways, to prevent the passage of fire from one story to another.
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Secretary Baird also refers to this subject as follows in his report

for 1880:

The Smithsonian building was one of those carefully examined )jy the commis-
sion, and it was recommended that iron doors should be placed in the passageways

between certain rooms. An appropriation of $3,000 was subsequently « made by
Congress for this purpose; and a contract for its execution was accordingly entered

into with Mr. George L. Damon, of Boston. After considerable delay in the per-

formance of this contract, the doors were delivered and put in place by Mr. Damon,
to the entire satisfaction of the executive committee. This arrangement has greatly

promoted the safety of the building and its contents from the risk of the spreading of

any fires which might accidentally occur within its walls. A few additional changes

are still desirable to give still further security to the public property placed in the

charge of the Institution.

In his report for 1879 Secretary Baird writes that during- the year

other alterations had been made in order to increase the efficiency of

the building and reduce the expense of superintendence and mainte-

nance. The document room had been enlarged and refitted. The east-

ern wing, formerly used by Secretary Henry as a residence, had been

converted into a series of offices. Eleven large fireproof doors had

been placed in the building to isolate the different wings and floors.

The laboratory had been rearranged and many other improvements
made, and it was believed that the building was then in a condition of

thorough efficiency and adaptation to its scientific purposes.

In each succeeding report mention is made of necessary repairs and

alterations of greater or less extent, at the cost of the Smithsonian
fund, but the annual expenditure for these purposes was generally

small. Secretary Baird reported in 1881 that

—

At no distant time some expensive work of renovation will be required upon the

ceiling of the great hall in the second story of the main building, as in some places

the plaster appears in danger of falling off and injuring the cases and specimens on
exhibition below.

In 1882 somewhat extensive changes were made at the west end of

the building. The basement under the west wing, which had pre-

viously been occupied indiscriminately for the preservation and elabo-

ration of the collection of birds and fishes, was subdivided, and each

subject confined strictly to its own section.

The western corridor was also at this time fitted up as an exhibition

hall for fishes.

At the meeting of the Board of Regents held January 18, 1882.

Secretary Baird called attention to the combustible and insecure con-

dition of the eastern portion of the Smithsonian building, and pre-

sented plans, prepared at his request by the architects, Messrs. Cluss

& Schuize, which, without materially changing the architecture of

the building, would provide largely increased accommodations for

a Sundry civil act for 1880.
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offices and workrooms, the storage of publications, the exchange

system, etc.

The Board unanimously adopted a resolution, instructing the Secre-

tar}' and executive committee to present the subject to Congress and

request an appropriation for the purpose. The Secretary, in accord-

ance with this instruction, sent the following letter on the 13th of

March to the Speaker of the House of Representatives:

Hon. J. W. Keifek,

Speaker of the House of Representatives.

Sir: By instruction of the Board of Regents of the Smithsonian Institution, I have

the honor to transmit to Congress the following resolution, adopted at the last meet-

ing of the Board, January 18, 1882, and, in doing so, beg that it be referred to the

appropriate committee of the House of Representatives and receive that attention

which the urgency of the case requires:

"Resolved, That the Secretary and executive committee present a memorial to

Congress showing the importance and necessity of rendering the east wing of the

Smithsonian building fireproof, requesting an appropriation therefor, and, if the

means are furnished, to proceed with the work."

It will be remembered that in Januarj', 1865, a fire occurred in the Smithsonian

building, which destroyed a large portion of the main edifice, with its adjacent

towers, and a very large amount of valuable public and private property.

The main building was restored with fireproof materials, but the east wing, composed

entirely of wood and plaster, and which had escaped injury, remains in its previous

dangerous condition. Originall}' a lecture room, it was fitted up many years ago

with apartments for the residence of the late Secretary and his familj-. This applica-

tion of the wing, however, was discontinued after Professor Henry's death; but the

rooms thus set apart are entirely unsuited to the operations of the establishment,

and, while in every way objectionable, the timbers have decayed and no arrange-

ments are provided for proper lighting, heating, and ventilation.

The main building and western extension are occupied by tiie collections of the

Government; the east wing embraces the offices of the Secretary, chief clerk, corre-

sponding clerk, and registrar, and also accommodations for the extensive operations

of the department of international exchanges, the benefits of which accrue not only

principally to the Librarj' of Congress, but to all the public lil)raries and scientific

societies throughout the United States. The rooms are filled with the archives, files

of correspondence, original scientific manuscripts, vouchers, the stock of Government
and Smithsonian publications for distribution at home and aljroad, etc., and their

destruction by fire, to which they are constantly exposed, would he greatly detri-

mental to the interests of the Government and the general pulilic.

In addition to this, an extensive fire in the east wing would endanger and possibly

destroy the main portion of the Smithsonian building, the upper and lower halls of

which contain rare specimens belonging to the Government, and most of which

could not be replaced.

Congress has recognized the importance and propriety of gradually reconstructing

the interior of the Smithsonian building, in fireproof materials, by making appro-

})riations for the purpose at various times between 1870 and 1875; and the last Con-

gress, in 1879, appropriated 8;?, 000 "for providing additional security against fire in

the Smithsonian building."

It is now proposed to remodel the interior of the east wing, so that without dis-

turbing its present architectural stylo, the internal capacity will be doubled by a new
arrangement of floors, partitions, and roofs, and all the rooms be adapted to the etli-
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cient prosecution of the work of the Institution and tlio various interests intrusted

to its management l)y Congress.

Inclosed I beg to send a copy of the report of the board of fire inspectors (appointed

by the District Connnissioners) upon the condition of the Smithsonian building. I

have the honor to ask, in the name and on behalf of the Board of Kegents that the

following a2)propriation l)c made at the present session of Congress, viz, " For con-

tinuing and coinjileting the tireprooting of the Smithsonian Institution, $50,000."

I am, very respectfully, your obedient servant,

Si'ENCEK K. Baiku, Secrdari/.

[Extract.]

Washinciton, D. C, March IS, 188^.

The Commissioners of the District of Colimbia.

Gentlemen: The commission to inspect buildings in the District beg leave to sub-

mit herewith report No. 5.

By invitation of Professor Baird, the east wing and connecting corridor to the main

building of the Smithsonian Institution was visited and Inspected. In this portion

of the building are all the records and valuable documents belonging to the Institu-

tion. The interior is entirely of wood and illy arranged, making it especially unsafe

and liable to accident from tire, thus endangering the entire building. As a matter

of safety, this wing and corrider should be completely cleared out and rebuilt of fire-

proof material and furnished with improved modes of communication and egress.

Official extract furnished Prof. S. F. Baird.
William Tindall,

Secrddrij CoiiDiiU^iuners Dhtrict of ColumhUt.

The above memorial received favorable consideration by the Forty-

seventh Congress, resulting in the passage of the following item in the

sundry civil act for 1884:

For completing the reconstruction, in a fireproof manner, of the interior of the

eastern portion of the Smithsonian Institution, $50,000. (Stat. XXII, 628.)

The preparation of plans, the details of construction, etc., were

placed in charge of Messrs. Cluss & Schuize, architects. Proposals

were asked and the bids opened on April 26, 1883. The removal of

the contents of the east wing and corridor was soon eli'ected, the offices

of clerks and others were transferred to the large adjacent exhibition

hall, and accommodations for storage were provided ])y the erection of

a temporary shed on the south side of the Smithsonian building.

In 1883 Secretary Baird reported that

—

The appropriation was found sufficient to secure the fireprooting of the building,

but a number of other desirable objects remain to be secured, such as a heating

apparatus, a passenger elevator, a freight lift; the introduction of speaking tubes,

electric l:)ells, telephones, a concrete floor in the basement, an underground communi-

cation between the Smithsonian and the new Museum buildings, etc., for which an

additional appropriation of $15,000 has been asked.

Two subsequent appropriations were granted by Congress with

reference to these changes, as follows:

For finishing, heating, gas fitting, plumbing, and comj)letely furnishing the eastern

portion of the Smithsonian Institution, and for finishing the fourth and fifth stories,

including liabilities already incurred, $15,000. (Sundry civil act for 18S5.

)
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For rniisliin>j and completing th(^ furnii^hing of the eastern portion of the Smithso-

nian Institution huililing, $5,600. (Sundry civil act for 1886.)

In his report for 1884 Secretary Baird announced the expenditure

of the appropriation of $15,000 in fitting up the two upper stories of

the building-, which had been necessarily left unfinished for lack of

funds. This included the introduction of iron furring and iron lathing

for the ceilings immediately under the roof, and the fitting up of many
of the rooms for their special requirements. The rooms in the recon-

structed portion were then all occupied for the general purposes of

the Institution, notably the departments of administration, of interna-

tional and miscellaneous exchanges, of the reference library, of trans-

portation, and of publication, the chemical laboratory, etc.

In transferring the offices back to the east end considerable changes

were made in the lower hall of the main building, including the

removal of all exhibition cases in the galleries, which have since been

used exclusively for laboratory and storage purposes by several

departments of zoolog3\ Telephones, speaking tubes, an accurate

time service, and other minor conveniences were also introduced at the

eastern end.

The report of the Secretary for 1885 notes the completion of the

alterations in the east wing and corridor in a thoroughl}^ fireproof

manner, with twice the original number of available oflice rooms, and
with every facility for doing the work mentioned in the best possible

manner. It also calls attention to the unsightl}' and dilapidated con-

dition of the remainder of the building, used by the Museum, which
will soon require extensive repairs.

In accordance with estimates subuiitted, the sundry civil act for

1888 provided "for urgent and necessary repairs to central and west-

ern portions of the Smithsonian Institution building, $15,000." In a

letter to the chairman of the House Committee on Appropriations,

dated December 11, 1886, and in his annual report for 1887, Secretary

Baird explained the reasons for the proposed changes, stating that

the floors, ceilings, and roof of the west corridor were the same as in

the original construction and not fireproof, being in fact very com-
Inistible. Nearly all of the large alcoholic collections of the National

Museum and the Fish Commission were in or adjacent to this part of

the building, so that should a fire break out it would result not only in

serious damage to the building, but also in the entire destruction of

extensive and valuable portions of the national collections. He also

called attention to the fact that, though the Smithsonian building was
constructed at the expense of the Smithsonian fund, it had since 1858
been almost wholly given over to the purposes of the l^ational

Museum.
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Tlie firoproofino- was intrusted to Messrs. Cluss & Schulze, archi-

tcets, from whoso report the following- account of the work is taken.

The reconstruction extended over the curtain l)et\veen the main l)nil(hn.<; and the

west wing, a ])uil(Hn<!: of GO feet in length and 54 feet in width, with an adjoining

turret containing stairs. It contains a basement where alcoliolic specimens are

kept.

The main story is mostly occupied by an exhil)ition hall, extending up into the

roof, with a clerestory. Along the north front was originally an open cloister,

which had been for many years temporarily fitted up by framework for offices.

Permanent provision was made for these purposes, and a mezzanine story formed

liy the insertion of a fireproof upper floor.

Besides the old, rotten, cond)ustible floors and roofs, a complicated system of

decorative hollow columns and vaults, framed of wooden scantlings, boards, and

lathed plastering, had to be carefully removed, so as not to injure the outside walls,

consisting of a thin cut-stone facing, backed by ordinary rul^blework.

In the reconstruction the Romanesque general character of the building was pre-

served with the greatest simplicity compatible with the surroundings, and also made

a necessity by the limited appropriation in conjunction with the increased cost of

decorations in the fireproof materials.

The fact that the west wing and the central part of the Smithsonian

])uilding had never been made entirel}^ fireproof was communicated to

the Regents by Secretary Langley in his report for 1888, in which

attention was also called to the proximity of much inflammable mate-

rial. He likewise explained that for certain reasons the fireprooting

of the west wing was the luore urgent. References to this subject were

again made in the Secretary's reports for 1889 and 1890, and the

importance was urged of gaining additional light in the center of the

main building b}^ the construction of a skylight in the roof and a well-

hole through the second floor.

As these parts of the building were used for the National Museum,

an appropriation for the proposed changes was asked of Congress,

beginning in May, 1888, Senator Morrill, a Regent of the Institution,

pressing the matter with his customary energy. The first bills, relat-

ing mainly to the west wing, were passed by the Senate twice during

the Fiftieth Congress (ending March -l, 1889), but failed of action in

the House.

The question was again brought up in the Fifty-first Congress (1889-

1891), originating in the Senate, and was discussed in several forms.

The most comprehensive measure and the one carrying the largest

appropriation was Senate bill No. 2033, reported on January 27, 1890,

by Senator Morrill. Its wording was as follows:

That, for the purpose of fireproofing the roof of the main hall, and that of the

so-called chapel in the west wing of the Smithsonian building, and to put in a sky-

light and a wellhole to admit light into the central portion of the lower hall of said

building, and also to replace some woodwork of the towers, and other repairs, said

work to be done under the direction of the Architect of the Capitol with the approval

of the Regents of the Smithsonian Institution, flic sinn of $45,000 shall be, and
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hereliy is, appropriated out of any moneys in the Treasury not otherwise appro-

jiriated.

Oil March 6, 1890, Secretary Langley addressed a letter to the

chairman of the House Conmiittee on Public Buildinj^^s and Grounds,

on the subject of the a])ove bill, in which he says that the $45,000 is

asked to complete the lireprooting and repair of a part of the build-

ing which for a long period has been almost entirely given over to

Government purposes rent free. Following are quotations from the

same letter:

The portions of the building which are not fireiiroof are

—

The roof of the so-called "chapel" in the west wing, which contains collections

whose mere money value is estimated at over $250,000, but whose value to science is

inestimable. This is also the only portion of the building wliich is suitable to devote

to donations of art objects, which may be expected when the Government provides

a safe depository for them.

The ceiling and part of the roof of the main exhibition hall, now occupied bj' prolv

ably the most extensive and valuable archpeological collection in the United States,

is of combustible material and in urgent need of repairs, the ceiling threatening to

fall, in part, and crush the cases and their valuable contents and possibly endanger

the safety of visitors and einployees. Both roofs are leaking, and these changes

involve the replastering and repainting of the walls.

The floor of the main hall, 200 l>y 50 feet, is worn out and needs renewal, and all

this implies special temporary provision for the collection.

The lower hall is now very dark, and in replacing the roof and ceiling of the

upper story it is desirable that a large skylight and wellhole be inserted, which

would greatly add to the comfort of visitors by increasing the light and providing

better ventilation.

The rooms occupied by the Bureau of International Exchanges are in less need of

repair, but some portion of the amount asked is intended to be devoted to the

extreme east wing, occupied l)y these offices.

In addition to what has been mentioned, there are wooden floors and other wood-

work in the towers which are a source of danger, and it is to be observed that, owing

to the crowded condition of the Museum, it has been necessary to erect a paint shop

tilled with combustible material immediately against the south wall of the building

and close to the roof, whose dangerous condition has just been described. The
present state of things is one of continual menace.

The bill as finally enacted into law, as an item in the sundry civil

act for 1891, was as follows:

For fireproofing the so-called chapel of the west wing of the Smithsonian build-

ing, and for repairing the roof of the main building and the ceiling and plastering of

the main hall of the building, $25,000, said work to be done under the supervision

of the Architect of the Capitol, with the approval of the Regents of the Smithsonian

Institution, and no portion of the appropriation to be used for skylights in the roof

nor for wellhole in the floor of the main building, $25,000. (Stat. XXVI, 383.

)

In his report for 1891 Secretary Langlc}^ announces gratifying

progress in the changes and repairs up to June 30, 1891, consisting in

the entire replacement of the roof of the west wing with a sul)stantial

construction of iron and slate and the repairing of the roof and of
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the oeilino- and plastering of the upper hall of the main building-. By

the close of the fiscal year 1892 this work was practically completed,

though with the expenditure of only a part of the appropriation, and

in his report for that year Secretary Langley states:

I would especially urge that the balance of this appropriation, unexpended by

reason of a limiting clause introduced in the act, on account of which the money is

not available for certain repairs originally contemplated, should be now made avail-

able by Congress for increasing the storage room in the east wing of the building,

and at the same time that certain rooms be fitted for the special needs of the Gov-

ernment Exchange Bureau, now occupying rooms in the main building urgently

needed for other purposes.

This request was granted by Congress in the sundry civil act for

1894, as follows:

For completing the repairs upon the Smithsonian l)uilding, and for such other

work as is needed to protect the l)uilding from further deterioration and to place it

in proper sanitary condition, any unexpended balance remaining to the credit of the

appropriation for fireproofing, etc., shall l)e availal^le for the purposes above stated;

this work to be done under the direction of the Architect of the Capitol and in accord-

ance with the approval of the Secretary of the Smithsonian Institution. (Stat.

XXVII, 582.)

The use made of the unexpended balance ai)ove referred to is thus

described in the report of the Secretary for 1893:

A restrictive clause contained in the appropriation of August 30, 1890, for repairs

to the Smithsonian building w as removed by a clause in the sundry civil act for the

year ending June 30, 1894, so that a portion of the amount unexpended became avail-

able for making necessary repairs to the roof of the eastern wing and improving the

sanitary condition of the building, as well as for increasing the space available for

storing documents and handling the Government exchanges. The plumbing in the

eastern part of the building has been thoroughly overhauled and a suite of dark and

damp rooms in the basement, on the south side, has been transformed into well-

lighted and comfortable offices, thus freeing several rooms upon the first floor, needed

for other purposes, and making it possible to handle more expeditiously the great

number of books passing through the exchange office, though even with these new

rooms additional storeroom for the Government exchanges will be called for at no

distant day.

Other small changes at the east end of the building, made mainly

at the expense of the Smithsonian fund, are described as follows in the

reports for 1894 and 1895:

The narrow windows and the small diamond panes of glass admit so little light

that in winter days some of the rooms where clerical work is carried on need to be

artificially lighted, and in all cases the occupants lose the advantage of w^hat ought

to be abundant light, considering their open surroundings in the middle of a park.

I think it well to state that while I should have made many more changes in the

interest of the comfort and health of the clerical occupants of the building if I had

had the means to do so, I have never felt at liberty to alter the external appearance

of the building when alteration could possibly be avoided, and I have therefore never

authorized the enlargement of any of the apertures in the stone w'ork or made any

changes of this kind which could be understood as modifying the structural features

(except in improving the sanitary conditions of the basement), and when any change
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is mentioned here it will always be understood that it is essentially the work of the

carpenter in providing for larger inside frames and larger lights in the sashes and in

like alterations.

Tims, in the east wing of the building, in the fourth story, a room for containing

the archives of the Institution has been provided, which is well lighted by one of

the few large windows the building possesses and which has been fitted for more

convenient reference to the records of the Institution. The second floor has been

made brighter by repainting and by some additional floor lights in the third floor,

and the windows in the room especially set ai)art for the safe-keeping of the engrav-

ings and books of art belonging to the Institution have been thus enlarged, while

some of the rooms on the second floor have been improved by slight alterations in

the window frames. On the first floor additional quarters were provided for the

library in the rooms which were vacated by the transfer of the (exchange department

to the lower floor.

In continuing much-needed improvements in the east wing of the Smithsonian

building, especially with a view to better light and ventilation, the lighting of the

rooms on the first floor occupied by the library has been greatly improved by

enlarging the window frames and replacing the small diamond panes by single

sheets of glass. Similar changes have been made in the Secretary's office, on the

second floor, as well as in some of the rooms on the third and fourth floors. Several

rooms on the fourth floor, heretofore of no use except for storage, have been made
habitable and have proved useful for various needed purposes.

The sanitary condition of the building has been improved by the removal of cer-

tain objectionable features and by the installation of a comprehensive system of ven-

tilation by which pure air at an equable temperature is assured in most of the office

rooms. Work upon this was well advanced at the close of the year.

Another great improvement added during the year is the introduction of electric

lights in all tJie offices of the east wing, the electric power being supplied by a spe-

cial plant, which, with the ventilating apparatus, has been placed in the basement

of the south tower, where considerable changes were made for their accommodation.

Since the above dates the only alterations which need ])e mentioned

in this connection have been the replacement of the wooden floor in

the lower main exhibition hall with a terrazzo pavement, the fitting

up of the children's room on the main floor of the south tower, the

improvement of the conditions on all the other floors of the same
tower, and the construction of a tunnel between the Smithsonian and

Museiun buildings, which, while intended primarily for the heating

pipes, electric wires, etc., has been made sufliciently large to serve as

a general passageway.

On the other hand, it is to be noted, with regret, that the upper
main exhibition hall, devoted to prehistoric archieolog}-, had to be

closed in 1902 because of the loosening and fall of plaster over a large

part of the ceiling and walls. The room was at once recognized to

be unsafe for the admission of the public, and its appearance was
extremel}^ unsightly. Provisional repairs, to the extent possible from
the regular appropriation, have recently been completed, and the hall

will soon again be made serviceable, but a considerable expenditure

would be required to place it in thoroughly good condition.
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SMITHSONIAN BUILDING.

DESCRIPTION.

Exterior.—The building erected for the Smithsonian Institution, in

accordance with the design prepared b}^ Mr. James Renwick, jr.,

architect, of New York City, is in. the later Norman or, as it may with

more strict propriety be called, the Lombard style, as it prevailed in

Germany, Normand}", and southern Europe in the last half of the

twelfth centurj", the latest variety of the rounded style, as it is found

immediately anterior to the merging of that manner in the early

Gothic. In the general design and most of the details the architect

adhered to the period to which this style is referable. The general

feeling, however, which permeates the design, especially in the upper

towers, is that of a somewhat later era, when all lingering reminis-

cences of the post and lintel manner had been discarded and the ruling

principles of arch architecture were recognized and carried out. The

semicircular arch stilted is employed throughout in doors, windows,

and other openings. The windows are without elaborately traceried

heads. The buttresses are not a prominent feature and have no sur-

mounting pinnacles. The weather moldings consist of corbel courses,

with bold projection. The towers are of various shapes and sizes.

The main entrance on the north, sheltered by a carriage porch, is

between two towers of unequal height.

In his description of the plan in Hints on Public Architecture,

Doctor Owen states:

I am not acquainted with any actual example yet remaining from what has been

variously called the Lombard, the Norman, the Romanesque, and the Byzantine

school, with which the Smithsonian building will not favorably compare. In so far

as the architect has permitted himself to innovate upon ancient precedents from the

style in which he designed, he has done so, in my judgment, with discretion and

advantage. * * * I esteem myself fortunate in being able in this book to refer

to an actual example, at our seat of government, the architect of which seems to me
to have struck into the right road, to have made a step in advance, and to have

given us in his design not a little of what may be fitting and appropriate in any

manner (should the genius of our country hereafter work such out) that shall

deserve to be named as a national style of architecture for America.

The design as originally carried out consisted of a main central

building, two stories high, and of two lateral wings of a single stor3\

connected with the main building by intervening ranges, each of the

latter having a cloister, with open stone screen, on the north front.

The only important changes since made have been the reconstruction

of the east wing and range, which are now four and three stories

high, respectively, the closing in with stone of the western cloister

so as to adapt it to laboratory purposes, and the completion of the

lireproofing of the building.
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The extroim^ IcMioth of the buildino- from cast to west is 447 feet.

The nuiin structure is 205 feet Ion*;- by ,57 feet wide and 58 feet lii^h

to the top of its corbel course, though, including- the main north and

south towers and the carriage porch, it attains at the center an extreme

width of 160 feet. The east wing is 82 by 52 feet, the west wing,

including its projecting apse, 81 by 40 feet and 38 feet high, while

each of the connecting ranges is 60 by 49 feet.

The main Ijuilding has in the center of its north front two towers,

of which the higher reaches an elevation of 145 feet. In the middle

of the south front is a single massive tower 37 feet square, including

Ijuttresses, and 91 feet high. At its northeast corner stands a double

campanile, 17 feet square and 117 feet high to the top of its tinial, at

its. southwest corner is an octagonal tower finished with open work

above, and at its southeast and northwest corners are two smaller

towers. There is also a small tower at the northwest corner of the

west wing.

The location of the building is the center of the original Smith-

sonian reservation, or the southern and higher part of the so-called

Smithsonian Park, about 20 feet alcove the average level of Pennsyl-

vania avenue. The material of which the building is constructed is a

fine grade of freestone, of the lilac-gray variety, obtained from quar-

ries in the new red sandstone near the mouth of Seneca Creek, a trib-

utary of the Potomac liiver, about 23 miles above Washington. The

faces of the building are finished in ashlar, laid in courses from 10 to

15 inches high.

At the present time it would not be considered appropriate to design

a building of this character for museum purposes, because, while most

of the exhibition halls are more or less adapted to their requirements,

there is too much waste space, too many dark places, wholly inade-

quate accommodations for storage, and few rooms suitable for labora-

tories, the latter also being mainly inconvenient of access. The
windows were glazed in the beginning with small square pieces of

glass, set diamond shape in wooden frames, quite in keeping- with the

style of architecture, though admitting less light than larger panes.

This manner of glazing has been retained, except at the eastern end,

where, at the time of reconstruction, single lights were mainly

substituted.

The building was originally constructed in what seemed to l)e a

thoroughly substantial manner, but these qualities were mainh' con-

fined to the outer walls and the floors. Subscijuent reconstructions

have greatly tended to increase its stability, and the building through-

out is now practically fireproof. This has resulted from the introduc-

tion of fireproof construction and of iron doors, by means of which

any part of the building' can readily be cut oti' from the remainder.
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The foundutioiifs ure very substantial and the walls of the building

very thick, as would be necessary in a structure of this kind. The
roofs, except on the connecting ranges, are slated.

Interior.—As tirst planned, the Museum was to occupy only the large

upper main hall in the Smithsonian building, the room now and for

many 3'ears past used for the exhibition collections of prehistoric

archaeology. The corresponding hall on the main floor was to be

divided equall}^ between the library and a large lecture room, while

the west hall and connecting range were specially constructed for the

galler}' of art. The east hall and range, one stor^^ in height, contained

the smaller lecture room, laboratories, and rooms for apparatus.

During the progress of the work of building and fitting up, how-

ever, all of these proposed arrangements were changed, either perma-

nently or temporarily, the assignments of space at the time of the fire

of 1865 having been as follows: The east wing was separated into two

stories, the upper of which was divided into a suite of rooms for the

accommodation of the Secretary and his family. The lower story con-

sisted principally of a single large room, appropriated to the storage

of publications and their reception and distribution in connection with

the system of exchanges. The upper story of the eastern connecting

range contained a number of small apartments devoted to the opera-

tions in natural history, and the lower story was fitted up as a work-

ing laborator3\

The upper story of the main building was divided into a lecture

room, capable of holding 2,000 persons, and two additional I'ooms,

at the ends, 50 feet square, one of which contained a museum of appa-

ratus and the other a gallery of art. Both were occasionally^ used as

minor lecture rooms and for the meetings of scientific, educational,

and industrial associations. In 1868, after the rebuilding made neces-

sar}^ by the fire, this entire story was assigned to the Museum by a

resolution of the Board of Regents. The lower storj^ of the main

building, consisting of one large hall, was unoccupied at first, but as

the means for furnishing were provided it was utilized for the exhi-

bition of natural history and other collections, the specimens from the

Patent Office having been mainly transferred to these quarters in 1858.

The west wing was occupied by the library until its transfer to the

Library of Congress in 1866, while the west range was used as a read-

ing room. The tower rooms were utilized for various purposes, one

large room in the south tower being assigned to the meetings of the

Establishment and the Board of Regents, and three rooms in the north

tower to the offices of the Secretary.

Since the fire of 1865 there have been even greater changes, as

detailed in the foregoing historical account. By 1871 the adminis-

trative offices had become practically segregated in the east wing and

range, commonly designated together as the "east end," which was
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fireproofcd and considerabl}' eularg-ed at the time of its rebuilding in

1884. In ISTI nearly all the remainder of the building was given

over to the purposes of the National Museum.
At the east end are now the offices of the Secretary and of the

parent institution, as well as those for the general administration

of the Government branches under the direction of the Institution,

the offices of the exchange service and of the international catalogue

of scientific literature, and rooms for that part of the Smithsonian

librar}^ which is retained at the Institution. In this part of the build-

ing are also several rooms used conjointly with the Museum, such as

the disbursing office, the quarters of the registrar and the shipping

clerk, and apartments for the storage and distribution of documents.

Immediately inside the principal or northern entrance of the main

building is an octagonal vestibule between 17 and 18 feet across, at

each side of which is a small room about 15 feet square occupied bj'

the watch force and as an office of suj^erintendence. Next follows

a long and high hall containing two iron stairwa3's leading to the

upper stories. The main lower hall, which measures about 200 feet

long b}^ 50 feet wide and 23 feet 8 inches high, might be expected to

present exceptional advantages for the exhibition of collections, yet it

has several very marked defects. The large windows (14 feet 10

inches high by 4 feet 5 inches wide), reaching from about 4 feet 5

inches above the floor to within the same distance of the paneled ceil-

ing, ati'ord abundant light at the ends, but in the center of the room
on both the north and south sides there is a long blank wall necessi-

tating artificial lighting over a considerable space. Furthermore, the

ceiling of the room is supported by two rows of very heav}'^ orna-

mental columns (3 feet 3 inches wide, 8 feet 9 inches apart, and about

14 feet distant from the walls) which unite in a series of arches above.

Between these cokuuns and the outer walls, at a height of 8 feet from
the floor, are four galleries, 15 feet wide, which extend from the ends

of the hall to the central dark area, and both these columns and gal-

leries are further means of darkening the middle aisle of the room.

Except at the sides of the entrances, where they are arranged in a
large quadrangle illuminated by incandescent electric lamps, the cases

forming the main series in this hall extend from pillar to wall and
from the floor to the galler}" so as to form successive baj^s or alcoves,

each lighted by a single window. In some of the alcoves there are

also small square cases, with groups of specimens, and all of the

above are used for the exhibition of birds. Extending through the

central aisle is a series of unit cases, with sloping and upright tops,

for the displa}' and storage of mollusks.

A passagewa}^ from the middle of the hall leads to a small room,
about 25 by 23 feet, forming the main floor of the south tower, the

exterior entrance to which has been closed. This room has been
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transfoniK'd into the so-called childicMrs rooiu, with a mosaic tloor,

the walls painted in several tints of ^reen, and the ceiling- covered

with an arbor and vine. Low, light-colored cases, almost wholly of

glass, contain a series of specimens, mostly animal, chosen to excite

the wonder of children, besides which there are several paintings

upon the walls and two aquaria with living fishes.

Adjoining the main hall on the west is the west range (60 by 37

feet), one story high, but surmounted by a clerestory. The side roofs

are supported by two rows of columns, similar to those in the main
hall but not so heavy, being 6 feet apart and about 8 feet 2 inches

from the side walls. The windows are confined to the south wall.

Upright cases form alcoves along the sides of the room, while Hat-

topped table cases occupy the central aisle. This range has recentl}^

been given over to the exhibition of insects. It previously contained the

fishes and was originally connected with the librarv as a reading room.

The western hall follows and has for a numl)er of years been devoted

to the display of marine invertebrates exclusive of the mollusks, with

extensive provisions for the storage of specimens. It has the appear-

ance of a chapel, by which name it is often designated. It is rela-

tively very high, with an arched ceiling and skylight, and terminates

at the northern end in an apse. Its dimensions, not including the

apse, are: Length, about Q6 feet; width, 35 feet; greatest height, 37

feet 8 inches. There are windows well up on the south and west sides

and lower ones in the apse, but none on the east. High up on the

south wall is a handsome rose window. This room, together with the

adjoining range, was planned to contain the gallery of art, but from
the time of its completion until 18<)6 it was occupied by the library.

Now upright cases of black walnut occupy the wall space on all sides,

except in the apse, which contains a synoptical collection displayed

in small cases. The body of the hall has three rows of flat-topped

and high, square cases, on unit bases fitted with storage drawers.

The small adjoining tower is also used for the storage of marine

invertebrates.

The old cloister to the north of the west range, originally open at

the front, was inclosed with wood at an early date; but when this part

of the building was tireproofed, the woodwork was replaced with stone.

The room thus gained is divided into two well-lighted apartments,

used as laboratories for fishes and marine invertebrates.

The second flo ••, as designated on the plans, contains the galleries

of the main lower hall already described. At the head of the first

flight of stairs from the main entrance are three small rooms used as

natural-history studies, and at a corresponding height in the south

tower is a room fitted up by the Smithsonian Institution for its collec-

tion of apparatus. There is also a low second-story room over the

western cloister, used for the storage cf fishes.
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Pi'operl}'^ speaking, the third floor, so named on the plans, is, for the

main part of the buildino-, onl\' the second floor. It consists of a

single large room of the same size as the lower main hall, being thus

about 200 feet long by 50 feet wide and 29 feet 3 inches high. For-

merly it contained the picture gallery, a lecture hall, and a museum
of apparatus, but soon after the restoration succeeding the fire of

1865 it was turned over to the department of prehistoric arcliEeolog}^,

which has occupied it ever since. It is one of the finest halls in the

possession of the Museum, but for a long time it has been in bad

condition, owing chiefly to the loosening and fall of plaster. The
extensive repairs made necessary on this account have, however,

recently been finished. As the ceiling is supported from the roof,

the hall contains no pillars, and there are no galleries, so that the

space is entirel}- clear; and while the windows bear the same relations

to the central space as in the loAver hall, the light is more freely dis-

tributed. The cases are of several old patterns, not permitting of a

satisfactory installation, especially considering- the height of the room,

which, with proper treatment, could be made exceedingly efl'ective.

In the north tower on this h^'el are three small rooms used as the

laboratories for prehistoric archaeology, and in the south tower is the

Regents' room.

The floor of the north towers and intervening space next above the

archieological workrooms comprises a suite of three similar room^,

occupied as laboratories for conchology. Three succeeding floors in

the same towers, containing- six rooms in all, are utilized as storerooms

for mollusks and other marine invertebrates. Above these in the

taller tower are still six stories, but their high position renders them
practicall}" unserviceable. The three floors which succeed the Regents'

room in the south tower are all used for the storage of publications.

While the basement is of good height, only the eastern part is in

proper condition, the central and western parts requiring to be thor-

oughly renovated, including the building- of broad areas along the

exterior to assist in the lighting and ventilation. The heating plant

is near the center of the basement, but now serves only in a supple-

mentary capacity. In the north tower are the toilet rooms. To the

eastward from there the basement is mainly used b}' the Smithsonian

Institution and the International Exchange Service; to the westward
all the available space is given over to Museum storage. There are

seven small rooms and one large room, one of the former being used

for supplies, while all the remainder are overfilled with specimens in

the several groups of birds, fishes, mollusks, and marine invertebrates.

With the exception of the birds, the specimens are mainl}^ alcoholic.

These collections are very large and of great value, but they require

at least twice the present amount of .space for their saf^ arrangement,

and the darkness and dampness of the rooms unfit them for purposes

of study.



236 EEPOET OF NATIONAL MUHEUM, 1903.

NATURAL-HISTORY WORKSHOP.

Ill order to provide more extensive and more suitable quarters for

the preparatory and photographer of the Museum, with immediate

reference to preparations for the Philadelphia Centennial Exhibi-

tion, a small two- story brick l)uilding" was constructed in 1875 on the

Mall, a short distance west of the southwestern corner of the Smith-

sonian building'. It consists of a main structure, about 30 by 2Ti

feet, and of two wings, each about 28 by 17 feet, on the east and west

sides. The latter have been used as a stable and a carriage house and

were somewhat enlarged in 1901 and 1902 at the expense of the

Smithsonian fund, their present dimensions lieing those given above.

The original Congressional appropriation for this building amounted to

$3,000, but, proving inadequate and in order to hasten its completion,

the Institution advanced an additional sum of ^3,927.84, which was
refunded by Congress in 1877.

The upper part of the main building was iitted up as a photographic

laboratory, the remainder of the main building, with its basement

and the rooms over the carriage house, being assigned to the work
of taxiderm}^, preparation of skeletons, modeling, the painting of

models, etc. In the course of a few j^ears the accommodations which

it furnished were greatl}- outgrown, and certain divisions of the work
were transferred elsewhere. At the present time onl}^ the upper story

is occupied for any of these purposes, and principalh^ by the bird

taxidermists. In 1881 the department of photography was removed

to the Museum building, and the old rooms were allotted to the use of

the photographers of the U. S. Geological Survey and the Bureau

of American Ethnology, who remained there until 1881.

ARMORY BUILDING.

This building, assigned in 1877 to the purposes of the National

Museum and now occupied as the headquarters of the U. S. Fish

Commission, is located at the southern end of that part of the Mall

lying between Sixth and Seventh streets. It was erected under an

appropriation of $30,000, granted in the civil and diplomatic act for

1856, for the use of the local volunteers and militia and as a place of

deposit for the military trophies of the Revolutionarv and other wars,

and for newly invented and model arms for the military service. It

is a rectangular brick structure, with many large windows, measuring

about 102 feet long, 58 feet wide, and 1(3 feet high to the gable. It

has four stories, including an attic, which afford a combined floor

space of over 20,000 scpiare feet. The building remained dedicated to

its original uses until after the close of the civil war, when, the militia

of the District not being organized, it was left unoccupied.

The use of this building was granted to the Smithsonian Institution,

in order to provide for the temporary storage of the large collections
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which were expected to be received from the Centennial Exhibition

at Philadelphia, b}- the following provision in the sundry civil act for

1877:

For repairing; ami fittintr.up the so-callod Armory Imildiiifj;, on the Mall between

Sixth and Seventh streets, and to ena])le the Smithsonian Institution to store therein

and to take care of specimens of the extensive series of the ores of the precious

metals, marbles, build in<i stones, coals, and numerous ol)jects of natural history now
on exhil)ition in l*hiladeli)hia, including:;: other objects of practical and economical

value presented by various foreign governments to the National INIuseuni, $4,500:

Provided, That the said sum shall be expended under the direction of the Secretary

of the Smithsonian Institution.

The collections, when brought to Washington from Philadelphia and

stored in this building in their original packing cases, together with

other collections from national surveys, filled it completely from the

ground floor to the attic. The sundry civil act for 1878 provided for

the completion of the interior arrangements and for maintenance in

the following terms:

For fitting up the Armory building for storage of articles belonging to the United

States, including those transferred from the international exhibition and expense of

watching the same, $2,500.

For 1879 and 1880, the same sum was granted "for expense of

watching and storage of articles/' etc. An identical amount was

appropriated for 1881, in which year the National Museiun building

was completed, and the following clause added: "and for transfer

to the new National Museum."
Some of these collections, with others from the Geological Survey

and the Bureau of Ethnology, and several workshops were retained,

however, at the Armory building for a number of 3'ears longer, when
certain quarters, including the main floor, were appropriated to the

use of the U. S. Fish Commission, of which the Commissioner, Spencer

F. Baird, was also keeper of the Museum. The following was the

wording of the act for 1882:

For expense of watching, care, and storage of duplicate Government collections

and of property of the United States Fish Commission, $2,500.

The text of the sundry civil items for 1883, 1884, and 1885, was
identical, except for the insertion of the word "ground" in two
instances and its omission in the others, and was as follows:

For care of the Armory building (and grounds) and expense of watching, preser-

vation, and storage of the duplic-ate collections of the Government and of the prop-

erty of tlie United States Fish Gonnnission contained therein, including salaries or

compensation of all necessary enii)loyees, $2,500.

In the corresponding hill lor 1886, "the property of the National

Museum" was su])stitut(Hl tor "the duplicate collections of the

(lovcriunent.""

During the succeeding thice years no apjnopiiutions were made
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directly for the Ai'inorv building. It bccuino more extensively used

1)3" the Fish Commission, the Museum retaining only a few workshops

and some storage quarters on the third floor. The expenses of main-

tenance and repair were paid by the C-ommission. In 18SS the newly

appointed Fish Commissioner recjuested that the entire building be

turned over to the Fish Commission for othce and hatchery purposes.

Opposition arising, however, the matter was settled for the time ])y

the following item in the sundry- civil act for 1889:

That the building known as tlie Armory building, Washington, D. C, whall be

occupied as at present, jointly by the United States Commission of Fish and Fish-

eries and the National Museum.

The act for 1890, however, wdiich is as follows, extended the privi-

leges of the Fish Commission:

Fish Commission: For altering and fitting up the interior of the Armory building,

on the Mall, city of AVashington, now occujiied as a hatching station, for the accom-

modation of the offices of the United States Fish Commission, and for general repairs

to said building, including the heating apparatus, and for repairing and extending

the outbuildings, $7,000, or so much thereof as may be necessary, th<i same to be

innnediately available and to be expended under the direction of the Architect of

the Capitol; and for the purpose above named the Secretary of the Smithsonian

Institution is hereby required to move from the second and third stories of this

building all properties, except such as are connected with the workshops hereinafter

named, under his control; and the workshops now in the second story of said build-

ing shall be transferred to and provided for in the third storj^ thereof. And the

Architect of the Capitol is hereby directed to examine and make rejiort to Congress

at its next regular session as to the practicability and cost of constructing a basement

story under the National Museum building.

In his report upon the National Museum for 1890, Doctor Goode

states that

—

In the Armory building there are at the present time several hundreds of boxes

containing valuable material which has never been unpacked, since there is no

space available for the display of the specimens. Many of the boxes contain collec-

tions which were brought to the Museum through the medium of special acts of

Congress.

Realizing, however, the inconvenience to the Fish Commission of

retaining these undesirable features in the midst of the ofiice quarters

then in course of construction, a compromise was ettected where))}' the

balance of the material in storage was transferred to a large adjacent

shed erected by the Commission and the workshops to a location near

the Museum. Some parts of these sheds are still used for the same

purpose.
THE MUSEUM BUILDING.

HISTORICAL ACCOUNT.

At the beginning of 1S7T the Board of Regents made its first request

to Congress for means to erect a museum building supplemental to

the Smithsonian building, which for over twenty years had housed the
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collections of the Government in conformitj^ with the act establishing

the Institution. By this time all of the available space in the Smith-

sonian building was overcrowded with specimens, and the need of

additional, spacious quarters had suddenly' arisen, mainly through the

acquisition of exceedingly large collections of great value, donated to

the United States In' foreign governments and other exhibitors at the

Philadelphia Centennial Exhibition of ISTO. At their meeting of

rbinuary 24-, 1877, the question was under discussion ))y the Regents,

when, on motion of Doctor Parker, the following preamble and reso-

lution were adopted, and the Secretary was instructed to transmit

them to Congress:

Whereas Congress, in tlie organization of the Smithsonian Institution, directed

that it should make provision on a liberal scale for a museum to contain all the

objects of natural history and of curious and foreign research, then belonging to or

hereafter to l)elong to the United States Government; and

Whereas, in accordance with this direction, the Institution has developed and for

many years principally supported this National Museum, the collection being

the property of the Government, while tlie building was erected for their accommo-
dation, at a cost of $500,000, out of the income of the Smithson fund; and

Whereas, on account of the appropriations of Congress for a national exhibit at the

Centennial, and the liberal donations which have been made by several States of

the Union, by individuals, and especially by foreign governments, the National

INIuseum has suddenly increasecf to fourfold its previous dimensions and far beyond
the capacity of the Smithsonian building to contain it: Therefore,

Resolved, That Congress be respectfully requested to provide accommodations for

these additional collections by the erection of a suitable building in connection with

the present Smithsonian edifice.

This resolution was presented to the Senate on January 26, 1877,

and to the House of Representatives on February 2 of the same 3'ear,

being referred in the former bod}' to the Committee on Public

Buildings and Grounds and in the latter to the Committee on Appro-
priations.

Under date of Februar}- 5, 1877, the Regents also transmitted to

Congress a memorial on the same subject, which, besides defining the

legal objects of the Museum of the Smithsonian Institution and the

origin and extent of its collections, contained the following paragraphs,

e(iually pertinent to the needs for added space:

By an act bearing date July 31, 187(5, additional duties were laid upon the Smith-
sonian Institution as custodian, and $4,500 were appropriated "for repairing and fit-

ting up the so-called Armory building, on the Mall between Sixth and Seventh
streets, and to enable the Smithsonian Institution to store therein and to take care

of specimens of the extensive series of the ores of the precious metals, marbles,

building stones, coals, and numerous objects of natural history now on exhibition in

IMiiladelphia, including other o1)jectH of jiractical and economical value jiresented by
various foreign governments to the National INIuseuni.

As a fruit of this act of th(! General (Jovermiient, the Smiths(mian Institution finds

itself the custodian of enormous collections that had been displayt'd at the Centen-
nial Exi)osition and on the closing of that exhibition had been presented to the
United States. These donations are made by individuals among our own citizens,
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])y foreign exhilntori^, and ])y several of the States of tlie Union, and there is scarcely

a power in the civilized world in any region of tlie globe which has not taken part in

these contribntions, and some of tlieni with the largest generosity. Men of science,

most competent to pass judgment, pronounce them to be of immense value and are

of opinion that, including the gifts from States of the Union and the exhibits of the

United States, they could not have been brought together by purchase for less than a

million of dollars.*******
Their adequate exhibition requires an additional building which shall afford at

least four times the space furnished by the present edifice of the Institution.

The (Tovernment of the United States is now in possession of the materials of a

museum exhil)iting the natural products of our own country, associated with those

of foreign nations, which would rival in magnitude, value, and interest the most

celebrated museums of the Old World.

The immediate practical question is, Shall these precious materials be for the most

part packed away in boxes, liable to injury and decay, or shall they be exhibited?

It was the act of Congress which ordered the acceptance in trust of these noble

gifts to the United States. The receiving of them implies that they will be taken

care of in a manner corresponding to the just expectations of those who gave them;

and one of the prevailing motives of the donors was that the productions of their

several lands might continue to be exhil)ited. The intrinsic value of the donations

is, moreover, enhanced by the circumstances under which they were made. They
came to us in the one hundredth year of our life as a nation, in token of the desire of

the governments of the world to manifest their interest in our destiny. This con-

sideration becomes the more pleasing when we bring to mind that these gifts have

been received not exclusively from the great nations of Europe from which we are

sprung, or from the empire and republics on our own continent beyond the line, l)nt

that they come to us from the oldest abode of civilization on the Nile, from the time-

honored empires and kingdoms of the remotest eastern Asia, and from the principal

states which are rising into intellectual and industrial and political greatness in the

farthest isles and continent; from states which are younger than ourselves and bring

their contributions as a congratulatory offering to their elder brother.

We have deemed it our duty to lay these facts and reflections before both Houses

of Congress and to represent to them that if they, in their wisdom, think that the

unequaled accumulation of natural specimens and works interesting to science, the

evidence of the good will to us that exists among men, should be jilaced where it can

be seen and studied by the people of our own land and by travelers from abroad, it

will be necessary to make an appropriation for the immediate erection of a spacious

building. Careful inquiries have been instituted to ascertain the smallest sum which

would be adequate to that purpose, and the plan of a convenient structure has been

made by General Meigs, the Quartermaster-General, U. S. Army. We beg leave

further to represent that to accomplish the purpose there would be need of an appro-

priation of $250,000. This amount is required not as a first installment, to be fol-

lowed by others, but as sufficient entirely to complete the edifice.

Should this appropriation be made at an early day, the ))uilding could be ready for

the reception of articles before the next session of Congress.

This memorial was referred in })otli Houses to the Committees on

Public Buildinjj's and Grounds and met with general favor. A bill

meeting the requirements was passed by the Senate on February 22,

1877, but a corresponding bill offered in the House on March 2 was

defeated b}' objection, possibly because of the lateness of the session,

less than two days remaining before the close of Congress. The
debates were brief but interesting.
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Senator Morrill, on February 0, 1877, remarked:

As I have stated in years past, it has seemed to be a necessity that we should pro-

vide for a national museuin. It has been the opinion of the Committee on Public

Buildings and Grounds on the i)art of the Senate, I believe unanimously, for some
years that we ouglit to take all of tlie squares next east of the public grounds,

throughout the length and breadth of the north and south range of one s(|uare, taking

one square in depth and the whole length, for the purpose of a national museum
and Congressional Library, and evidently this matter should ])e provideil for at once.

* * * There are, as I am informed, at least fifty carloads of articles that have

been given to us by foreign governments. Tlurty-two or thirty-three out of the forty

nationalities abroad have given us their entire exhibits at the Centennial Exhibition.

Their money value is scarcely computable, but if it were to be computed it exceeds

our own, as large as our exhibits were there and as credital)le to the country. Our
own, I believe, in money value, have been computed at $400,000. These foreign

exhibits are computed, at least in money value, at the sum of $600,000, but in his-

torical and scientific interest they perhaps surpass anything that has been assembled

in any national museum on the globe.

Senator J. W. Stevenson, on the same day, made the following

statement:

It is known to the Senate that the Smithsonian Institution was represented at the

late Centennial Exhiliition at Philadelphia. At the close of that exposition a number
of the foreign pov/ers there represented and who contributed to that grand display,

at its close generously donated to the Smithsonian Institution most of their articles

and products there exhibited. * * * The motive which prompted these dona-

tions to the Smithsonian Institution was unquestionably one of amity and respect

entertained by the foreign powers donating them for the Government of the United

States. But unquestionably these donors expected that this Government would,

through the agency of the Smithsonian Institution, keep these articles thus donated

on public exhibition, and in this way the respective products of each country would
become known to the people of our entire country.

The articles donated are valuable, rare, varied, and occupy much space. * * *

The Smithsonian Institution has no building in which they can be either exhibited

or safely preserved. They must remain, therefore, in boxes, subject to injury and
to decay, unless Congress shall take some immediate action toward the erection of a

building in all respects suitable for their exhibition and preservation. The capacity

of such a building is estimated by competent architects to be four times as large as

the Smithsonian building. A plan of such a structure has been already drawn by
General Meigs. * * *

Professor Henry assures me that with the erection of the contemplated building

on the plan of General Meigs, with the articles now on exhibition in the Smith-

sonian Institution with those just donated, we shall have the nucleus of a national

museum which, in a few years, will equal any in the world.

In presenting- the memorial to the House on February 7, 1877,

Representative Hiester Chnner said, among other things:

It may not be disputed that the acceptance of them [the collections from Phila-

delphia] by the Government imposes an obligation that they shall be preserved and
exhibited for the gratification and instruction of the people. Their preservation and
exhibition nuist be confided to the National JNIuseum, of which, by law, the Regents
of the Smithsonian have tlie custody. They have presented for our consideration

the necessity for erecting a suitable building for the purposes I have indicated, giv-

ing an estimate of its proJiable cost.

HAT Mus 1903 Hi
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The bill which passed the Senate as an item in the sundry civil 1)111,

but failed of action in the House, in this the second session of the

Fort^'-fourth Congress was as follows:

For a lireproof building for the use of the National Museum, 300 feet square, to he

erected under the direction and supervision of the Regents of the Smithsonian

Institution, in accordance with the plan of Maj. Gen. M. C. Meigs, now on tile with

the Joint Committee of PuT)lic Buildings and Grounds, on the southwest corner of

the grounds of the Smithsonian Institution, the sum of $250,000 is hereliy appro-

priated out of any money in the Treasury not otherwise appropriated; said building

to be placed west of the Smithsonian Institution, leaving a roadway -between it and

the latter of not less than 30 feet, with its north front on a line ])arallel with the

north face of the buildings of the Agricultural Department and of the Smithsonian

Institution; and all expenditures for the pui-poses herein mentioned, not including

anything for architectural plans, shall be audited by the proper officers of the

Treasury Department.

The necessity for a new Museum building was brought to the atten-

tion of the President of the United States through the following

communication, dated Octobers, 1877:

Sir: I have the honor, in behalf of the Boai'd of Regents of the Smithsonian Insti-

tution, to invite your attention to the propriety of recommending to Congress the

memorial of the Board of Regents (a copy of which is herewith inclosed), asking

that an appropriation be made for a building to accommodate the valuable collec-

tions presented to the United States through this Institution at the late international

exhibition in Philadelphia.

As explanatory of this request it may be proper to state that the Smithsonian

Institution was authorized by Congress to receive and take charge of these collections,

and that they were presented with the expectation on the part of the donors that

suitable provision would Ije made for their disi)lay at the seat of government. They

consist of full series of articles illustrative of the economic jwoducts, the natural his-

tory, and in many cases the manners, customs, and arts of the foreign countries

represented at the Centennial Exhibition, and are of great importance to the

advancement of science, education, and manufacture. Besides these are the objects

collected by the Smithsonian Institution and U. S. Fish Commission of the animal,

mineral, and fishery resources of the United States, also of public interest.

These articles now constitute, by law, a part of the National Museum, which has

been placed by Congress in charge of the Smithsonian Institution. This Museum
has hitherto been accommodated in the building erected for the purpose at the

expense of the Smithson fund, in accordance with the direction of Congress. This

edifice, however, is filled to overflowing, while there are elsewhere, in storage, from

the donations previously mentioned, collections of greater magnitude than those in

the Smithsonian building.

It is evident that an appropriation for an additional building can not justly he

taken from the Smithson fund, and therefore the Board of Regents have made the

application mentioned in their memorial. This memorial was presented to Congress

at its last session, when the appropriation asked for was granted by the Senate unani-

mously, and when, in all i)r()l)al)ility, it would have been granted l)y the House

could the proposition have been brought to the consideration of that body.

I am, with sentiments of high esteem, your obedient ser\ant,

JosKi'ii IIenky,

Secretary Smithsonian Institution.

Hon. RuTHEKFOKu B. Hayes.
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In his message to the Forty-Hfth Congress, first session, December

3, 1877, the President recommended " that an adequate appropriation

be made for the establishment and conduct of a national museum under

their [the Regents] supervision."

Acting upon the basis of information supplied during the previous

session, the same bill was introduced in the House of Representatives

(H. R. 2662) on Januar}^ 21, 1878, by Senator Case}' Young. It was

referred to the Committee on Public Buildings and Grounds, which,

through Mr.' Young, submitted a report (No. 211) upon the measure

on Februar}' 25, 1878. On March 6 following, the bill was again

brought up, referred to the Committee of the Whole and placed on

the Calendar, but no further action was taken. A similar bill (S. 1320)

was su])mitted in the Senate by Senator Justin S. Morrill on May 27,

1878, and referred to the Committee on Public Buildings and Grounds.

The report of the House committee (No. 241) briefiy sets forth the

history and requirements of the Museum and the steps taken to secure

the valua])le collections exhibited at Philadelphia, and closes as follows:

The collections in the Smithsonian bnildinjj; now open to the public occupy about

30,000 square feet of floor space. It is (juite within bounds to estimate that the articles

stored away will require for their satisfactory exhibition between three and four

times that area, even allowing for a great reduction of the objects by the elimination

and distribution of the duplicate specimens. There is no provision whatever at

present for the display of these articles, and unless Congress furnishes the means
this magnificent property of the people will go to decay and destruction in the course

of time, the animal products being destroyed rapidly by insects and many objects of

a mineral or metallurgical character by rust.

As every day of delay in arranging and exhibiting this collection is accompanied

with the question of erecting a suitable building for its acconnnodation and has

occupied the attention of the Smithsonian Institution, a plan has been devised which,

it is believed, will furnish the facilities required in the shortest possible interval of

time and at the minimum of expense.

To erect an edifice of the necessary magnitude, in the style of architecture hereto-

fore adopted by the Government for its use in Washington, would involve an
expenditure of many millions of dollars, and it could not be completed and available

for occupation in a shorter period than from five to eight years. Nevertheless, on a
simple plan originally suggested by General Meigs, a l)uil(ling somewhat similar in

character to those erected for the National Exposition, 300 feet square, or having an
area of 90,000 square feet—something over two acres—perfectly fireproof, amply
lighted, and properly adapted for all its objects, can be constructed for about

$250,000, and can be ready for occupation within ten months, or at most a year, from
the time of its commencement.
By the plan contemplated everything would be on one floor, without any stairways

or second story, no cellar or fireproof floor being reijuired. The single floor of the

building to be of concrete, and thus water and vermin proof; the walls and other

portions of the building of brick, and the beams, rafters, and framework of the roof

of iron, without a particle of wood.

It is therefore nnich to be desired that the means be fnrnisiied at an early day for

the construi'tion of this building, so that the rich material now belonging to the

United States Government can be utilized.
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It is belicvod tliat when properly arranged the National Museum of the United

States will take rank as one of the great industrial and economical displays of the

natural resources of the globe. The accommodation will then be afforded for the

exhibition of the mineral wealth of every State and Territory, and the display of

samples of every new mine, with all the appliances for rendering the study of the

whole interesting and profitable. The coals, the marbles, and other ornamental

minerals will be exhibited systematically; the useful and ornamental products

and derivatives of the animal kingdom will be shown—not only such as relate to the

United States, but with illustrations of the whole subject in other parts of the world

—

which can not fail to suggest new and important applications in this country.

Illustrations of th(> food and other fishes of this and other countries, the best meth-

ods of securing them and of preparing them for the requirements of mankind, and
the varied productions of the aboriginal races of North America can also be displayed

on a proper scale.

During the second session of the same Congress the bill for a new
building was again brought up in both Houses. Brief remarks were
made in the Senate and the bill slightly amended in regard to the

wording relative to location. It was passed as an item in the sundry

civil act for 1880 in the following terms:

For a fireproof building for the use of the National Museum, 300 feet square, to be

erected under the direc/tion and supervision of the Regents of the Smithsonian Insti-

tution, in accordance with the plans now on file with the Joint Committee of Public

Buildings and Grounds, on the southeastern portion of the grounds of the Smithso-

nian Institution, $250,000: said building to be placed east of the Smithsonian Insti-

tution, leaving a roadway between it and the latter of not less than 50 feet, with its

north front on a line with the south face of the l)uildings of the Agricultural Depart-

ment and Qf the Smithsonian Institution; and all expenditures for the purposes

herein mentioned, not including anything for architectural plans, shall be audited

by the proper officers of the Treasury Department.

The following extracts from the report of the building commission,

submitted January 19, 1880, give a summary of the building opera-

tions for 1879:

Anticipating the early action of Congress in the premises, the Board of Regents,

on the 17th of January, 1879, adopted the following resolution:

"Resolved, That the executive committee of the Board, or a majority thereof, and
the Secretary be, and they are hereby, authorized and empowered to act for and in

the name of the Board of Regents in carrying into effect the provisions of any act of

Congress that may be passed providing for the erection of a building for the National

Museum."
Accordingly, on the 7th of March, 1879, Hon. Peter Parker and Gen. W. T. Sherman,

the resident members of the executive committee, with the Secretary, met in the office

of the Institution, and after organizing under the title of "National Museum Build-

ing Commission," of which Gen. W. T. Sherman was chosen chairman, proceeded

to adopt such measures as in their opinion appeared best calculated to realize, with

the least possible delay, the intention of Congress.

The committee at the outset invited Gen. IVI. C. Meigs, Quartermaster-General

U. S. Army, to act in the capacity of consulting engineer to the commission, and

also selected Messrs. (/luss & Schulze, whose plans for the new building were those

approved by Congress, as suiierintending architects. Mr, Daniel Leech was a])pointed

secretary of the commission.
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To remove as far as possiV)le any <loubt. as to the sufficiency of the appropriation

for a building in accordance with the plans approved hy Congress, l\Ir. Edward

Clark, Architect of the Capitol, and General Meigs, after carefully considering the

provisional estimates of the architects, informed the connnission that in their o{)inion

the amount was sufficient for the purpose.

To obtain a clear understanding of the intent of Congress in making the appro-

priation, as well as to ascertain how far, if desirable, the commission might be

authorized to depart from the plans before the Committees of Public Buildings and

Grounds when the act was passed, the chairmen of the respective committees (Hon.

H. L. Dawes and Hon. Philip Cook) were consulted; whereupon these gentlemen

officially informed the commission "that, provided the general design be retained,

it was not their intention, nor that of their committees, to confine the Board of

Regents of the Smithsonian Institution to the minor details of the aforesaid plans,

but to authorize any modifications that might appear to them desirable in the interest

of economy or for the better adaptation of the building to its object."

On ascertaining that the appropriation could be made immediately available under

%he clause directing that the accounts should be audited liy the proper officers of the

Treasury Deiiartment, the Secretary of the Treasury was, on the 27th of ]\Iarch,

requested to ilesignate some one of his force to act as disbursing officer. Accord-

ingly Maj. T. J. Hol)bs, disbursing clerk of the Department, was selected, and pay-

ments were authorized to be made by him on vouchers approved by the Secretary

of the Smithsonian Institution as provided for in the following resolution:
'

' Resolved, That the commission appointed by the Board of Regents of the Smith-

sonian Institution to superintend the construction of a new fireproof building for the

National Museum hereby authorize Prof. S. F. Baird, Secretary of the Institution, to

act as their agent to approve for payment by Thomas J. Hobbs, all bills for services and
supplies from such funds as are placed in the hands of the latter by said commission

for such purposes, and the Secretary of the Treasury is hereby respectfully requested

to instruct Thomas J. Hobbs, disbursing agent, to jiay any bills when thus certified

and found to be otherwise technically correct."

Having thus prepared the way to a commencement of active operations, specifica-

tions were at once prepared and proposals invited for carrying on the work. Ground
was broken on the 17th of April, 1879.

The concrete foundations were begun on the 29th of April, and the brickwork of

the walls on the 21st of May, the main walls being completed on the 1st day of

November.

In consequence of the low prices of the more important building mate^-ials, very

favorable contracts were made, especially for the brick required and for the ironwork,

since the i)rice of iron advanced very materially within a few months from the date

referred to. The same is true with regard to glass, bricks, and in fact almost all

building materials.
* * * * * * *

The estimate of $250,000 for the construction of a museum building did not include

the heating apparatus. As the work progressed, however, it became evident that all

the underground piping for water, gas, and steam, at least, could be obtained from
the fund.

In anticipation of an appropriation for the purpose, it was deemed best to obtain

provisional 1)idsfor a steam-heating apparatus. Accordingly jjroposals were invited:

First, for the underground pipes; second, for the boilers; third, for the radiators.

The aggregate of the estimates for the three items varied from $i;^,940 to |55,tJ80.

The lowest bid w-as rejected on account of inadequacy of the supply of heat. The
next to the lowest was that of Messrs. Baker, Smith & Co., for $19,768, which was
accepted, and a contract made for the underground pipes for $5,770.

An appropriation of $30,000 has been asked of. Congress for the completion of the
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heating upi)ariituK throughout, for the gas and water fixtures antl the ekictrie appa-

ratus required for clocks in the building, for signals, alarms, etc.

Before the building can be occupied it must of course be furnished and fitted up

with cases, of which, as might be expected, a large provision is required. According

to a calculation, the cases that will be needed, if placed end to end, will extend to a

distance of more than <S,000 feet, witli a total of slielving surface of al)out 75,000 scpiare

feet. The frontage of the cases will be over 14,000 feet, so that, allowing for the cross-

ing from one case to another, a journey of at least 3 miles will be recpiired even to

take a cursory glance at all the objects in the collection.

The question of the best material for the cases has not been definitely settled,

the choice lying between iron and hard wood. In order to assist in determining this

question satisfactorily, arrangements have been made to obtain working plans of the

cases used not only in a number of museums in the United States, especially in Cam-

bridge, Boston, and New York, l)ut also in pyurope. The new building now being

erected for the collections of the British Museum is one where it is supjjosed the

best experience has been made use of in the plans of the cases, and arrangements

have been made to obtain copies of the same. The new iron cases of the national

museum at Dresden are also under investigation. Iron is more expensive than wood,

but involves less danger of decay, and there is also an especial advantage in the fact

that the material may be so much thinner as to increase the interior space, while the

objects in the cases are less obscured. Of course it must not be forgotten that the

National Museum is expected to discharge its functions for an indefinite period of

years.

The provision of Congress directed that the new building should be placed to the

east of the present Smithsonian edifice, at least 50 feet from its southeastern corner.

The question was considered of having the interval greater than this minimum, but it

was found that this would involve the extension of the building beyond the boundary

of the Smithsonian reservation and carry it to the unassigned portion of the square.

Although there was nothing in the act to prevent this encroachment, yet in view of

the possibility that the southeastern portion of the public land between Seventli and

Twelfth streets would l)e required for some other purposes, jjerhaps for a Congres-

sional Library, it was thought best to encroach upon it as little as i>ossible.

In addition to its answering the purpose for which it was primarily intended, it is

confidently believed that the new National Museum building will exercise an

important function in serving as a model for similar establishments elsewhere.

Of course in a city where the cost of land is a matter of important consideration,

the one-story plan can not always be carried out, the usual position of story above

story being necessary to secure the desired space. Most colleges and universities,

however, have ample grounds belonging to them, the occupation of which by large

l)uildings is allowable. Under such circumstances the same amount of fireproof

space can Ije had for from two-thirds to one-half the usual cost.

The office of member of the building connnission has been by no means a sinecure,

weekly meetings having been held, with scarcely an interruption, from the first

organization, as shown by the full reports kept of the proceedings. General Meigs,

as consulting engineer, until his recent departure on a tour of duty, was present at

every meeting and contimially aided the commission by his advice, rendered so

valuable by his long familiarity with building operations on a large scale and with

the whole question of the proper construction of contracts. He visited the grounds

nearly every day and closely inspected the progress of the work. To liim are also

due valuable suggestions on the methods of covering the roofs and on other details.

Two sii}).seqiient reports were made b}' the building- commisyion—one

coverino- the yeav 1880, the other 1881. In these the progress of the

work and the dates of completion of important parts of the building
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were noted. The roofs were liiii.shed in April, 1880, and the phister-

ing- by the latter part of July. In the interest of economy in heati^ig

all outside windows were furnished with two panes of g'lass. Wooden
floors were laid in 1880 in all the halls, exeept the four courts, the

four main halls or naves, and the rotunda. Congress was asked for

an appropriation to def ra}^ the expense of a marble or tile floor for the

naves and rotunda, and $26,000 was allowed for this purpose, becoming

available in the summer of 1881. The rotunda was then supplied with

a floor of encaustic tiles and the main halls with floors of marble tiles.

The approaches to the building were constructed out of the original

appropriation.

The final report of the commission, dated Januar}' 2, 1882, closes as

follows:

In closing this its third annual report, the National Museum building commission

congratulates the Regents that the new l)uilding for the National Museum is so far

completed as to be ready for occupancy, and in now asking the Board to take charge

of the edifice the commission begs to refer to the important fact that, while a build-

ing is presented equal in every respect to what was anticipated in case provision

should be made for additional quarters for the national collections intrusted to the

care of the Smithsonian Institution, instead of incurring a deficiency, the fund has

been so yianaged as to have to its credit at the present moment an availal)le l)alance

of some thousands of dollars.

Having fulfilled the duties with which it was charged by your resolution of Janu-
ary 17, 1879, the commission would respectfully ask to be discharged and to be author-

ized to turn over to the Secretary of the Smithsonian Institution the building itself,

and to the United States Treasury w'hatever balance of money may remain after

liquidating the last liability on account of the construction of the edifice.

The appropriations which had been made for the building- were as

follows:

Building $250, 000
Steam heating apparatus 25, 000

Water, gas, and electric apparatus 12, 500
Marble and tile flooring 26, 000
Special sewer connection 1, i)00

Total 315, 400

The subjects intended to be represented in the new building were
stated by Secretary Baird, in his report for 1879, to be as follows:

The period of complete installation of collet^tions on hand and the opening of tlie

building to the public will depend upim the amount of the appropriation and the
rajiidity with which the contractors may complete their work. The new building
will l)e devoted more particularly to industrial exhibits, intended to show the
animal and mineral resources of the United States and their practical ai>pli(ations

to the wants or luxuries of iiiuu. Tiie department of anthr()[)()i()gy will also be
largely represented. How far natural history can find a place in the building will

depend upon the space required for the collei'tions mentioned. It is confidently

expected that this l)uilding when finished will be one of the most attractive objects

of the kind extant and but little inferior to the celebrated museums of foreign
countries.
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In lii.s report for 1880 he says:

1 now have the pleasure of stating that the work liaa been in the greater part

completed during the j^ear 1880 and that a portion of the building is already occu-

l)ied for its legitimate objects.

The details of progress and completion will be given in full in the report of the

building committee and of the architect, to which I would refer. It will be suffi-

cient to say here that the work has all been done within the estimates and that it

promises to be even more suitable to its purpose than was anticipated. All the

requirements in regard to liglit and heat are fully met, and in this respect and in

that of its slight cost in proportion to the space obtained, the building is believed to

have no parallel in the country. Including the l)uilding i^roper, the steam heating

a])paratus, the gas and water fixtures, and- all their accessories, the cost has

amounted to less than $3 per square foot of ground floor and to about 6 cents per

cul)ic foot of entire capacity.

The first use of the building was for the inaugural reception to

President Garfield on March 4, 1881, which was granted in accordance

with the following resolution of the Regents at a meeting held on

December 8, 1880:

Whereas the new Museum building is unfinished and not ready for occupancy of

the Government collections, and whereas such a contingency will not again occur,

and that no precedent is to be given for the use of the building for other purposes:

Remlred, That the use of the new National Museum building be granted for the

inaugural reception of the President of the United States on the 4th of March, 1881,

and that the Secretary of the Smithsonian Institution be authorized to make all

necessary arrangements for this purpose.

In 1881 Professor Baird stated that the building might then be con-

sidered as completed and ready for its final occupation by the various

departments which have been assigned to it. Some small additions and

alterations were still required to be made, but they did not interfere

with the general use of the structure. In the beginning certain oflice

and lal)oratorv quarters were granted to the United States Geological

Survey, especially in the northeast pavilion, and they continued to be

so used for several years.

It was soon recognized that the building was too small topix)vide all

the necessary accommodations, even though the Museum continued in

possession of the same space in the Smithsonian building as before,

and the inconvenience from this source increased rapidly with time. It

thus also resulted that not all of the halls could be used for exhi))ition

purposes as intended, and until lately some of them have always been

closed to the public, that they might be employed for storage, for

unpacking, or for workrooms.

There have been from the beginning many changes in the assign-

ment of space to the different dejxirtments, but transfers from one

building to the other have been few since the occupation of the newer
structure. The clearing up of the exhibition halls, which were never

in as good condition as now, has ])een mainly accomplished by the

heroic method of sending large (juantities of specimens to outside stor-
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ajre and b}" the fitting up of a few outside workrooms. Another factor

in this direction has lieen the construction of a nunibei' of galleries,

as explained below.

Secretary Baird says, in his report for 1882, that

—

The Museum building was received from tlie hands of the architects in so complete

a state that but Httle remained to be done beyond the tinting of a portion of the

walls and the filling up of some of the alcoves with canvas frames, etc. There is

yet much to be done, however, in the construction of the necessary cases for the

accommodation of collections.

The building of cases has, in fact, never ceased, for, while the more
urgent needs were early supplied, cases of one description or another

have been added from year to year. Many cases used at national

expositions have been returned in so defaced a condition that it has

been necessary to reject or rebuild them, and cases of new and im-

proved patterns have replaced many of the older ones.

In 1883 Professor Baird remarks that the "building continues to

preserve the reputation it has acquired as representing the maximum
of convenience and adaptation to its purposes with the minimum of

original cost and expense for repairs;" and in 1885 he states that the

''building is in excellent condition and has required comparative!}'

little in the way of repairs."

After not many years, however, certain weak points began to

develop, and these have been the cause of nmch concern and have

necessitated almost continuous repairs, though seldom at great expense.

The w^alls are essentially substantial, but the roof was constructed at too

little cost and is far below the standard of the brickwork. Its weak-
ness and incompleteness is evident both in the supporting framework
and in the covering. The framework has given way in places under

heavy falls of snow, and the covering has developed numerous leaks,

most commonly about the breaks in the roof, but elsewhere as well,

and the constant attention of one mechanic has been insufficient to

keep these leaks under control. While it is intended soon to renew
the worst of this covering, it is now quite certain that a considerable

part of the roof must be Avholh^ rebuilt before many 3^ears.

The leaks from the roof have so constantly defaced the inside walls

of the naves and courts that only recently has it been deemed advisa-

ble to repaint them, a work which was mainly accomplished during
1!»02 and 1!)08, and which has greatly improved the appearance of the

exhibition halls.

The principal other changes in the interior of the building, in the

nature of permanent improvements, have been the replacement of the

wooden floors with cement, the building of galleries in nearly all

the halls, and the addition of some skylights. The first has improved
both the conditions and the ap})earance of the halls, and as the floors

were without proper foundation the foriner wooden covering was
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inadc((ujite to keep out the moisture or impurities froui tiie soil. The
«;alleries have materially increased the amount of space, and the new
skylights were rendered necessary by their introduction. These fea-

tures ma}' be briefly referred to as follows:

In some of the preliminary drawings for the museum building a tier

of galleries is shown in each of the exhibition halls, but in the plans as

finally adopted and presented to Congress these features were not

represented. The height of the several halls, however, was made
sufiicient to permit of their introduction at any time. In view of the

failure to secure earl}^ action by Congress toward the erection of a

third building, it was decided to urge the construction of these gal-

leries, in order that some additional space might be acquired. The
entire sum needed for such a purpose was not requested at once, but

the estimates for 1893, 1894, 1895, and 1896 each contained an item of

$8,000, These failed to receive favorable consideration by Congress,

but the amount named was appropriated in the sundry civil act for

1897, and other aj^propriations followed, namely, $8,000 in 1898,

$10,000 in 1899, and $5,000 in 1902, making a total of $31,000 for this

purpose. From this amount galleries were erected in all the halls,

courts, and ranges, except the north hall and the northeast and east-

north ranges. In the southeast range the galleries have been extended

so as to form a complete second floor. Though intended primarily

for exhibition purposes, it has been necessary to assign certain of the

galleries to the storage of reserve collections and as workrooms, as

elsewhere explained.

The only substantial floors laid in the beginning were those in the

rotunda and the four main halls, as already described, the former

being of encaustic tiles, the latter of marble squares. The remaining

floors in all parts of the main building were of wood. The latter

were allowed to remain until thoroughly worn out, being graduall}^

replaced by more durable material. These changes began in 1891 and

were not completed until 1900, The first of the new floors, and, in

fact, the greater naml)er, were constructed of cement, granito, and

granolithic; the last four were made of terrazzo pavement, small

irregular pieces of marble, laid in cement, and are the most satisfac-

tory , in appearance at least.

The other work of repair and alteration, conducted at the expense

of the general appropriation for this purpose, need not be analyzed

here. It has produced, as a whole, many marked improvements,

though for the most part it has been directed toward maintaining the

building' in as fair a condition as the funds have permitted.
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NATIONAL MUSEUM BUILDING.

DESCRIPTION.

In describiiif,^ the present Museum buildino-/' the architects, Messrs.

Chiss & Schulze, spoke of it as follows:

A modernized Romanesque style of architecture was adopted for the new building

in order to keep up a relationship with the Smithsonian building, which is designed

in Norman, a variety of this style. To modernize this style was found necessary

on account of the different building material, and to do justice to the purj)Oses of the

building with its modern demands of perfect safety and elegance of construction, of

greatest possible available floor space, of easy communications, efticient drainage, a

well-calculated and pleasing admission of light, free circulation of air, and all other

hygienic dicta.

The external architecture is based upon the general arrangement of the interior,

and shows plainly the prominence of the four naves and the careful management of

the light for the central portion of the building. The main entrances are in the

centers of each facade between two lofty towers of 86 feet height, which act as but-

tresses for the naves. Between the towers, and receding from the doorways, there

are large arched windows set with ornamented glass, and above those the gables of

the naves are formed; they contain inscrij^tion plates, and are crowned by allegorical

groups of statuary. The group over the northern gable, designed by C. Buberl, of

New York, already in position, introduces Columbia as the protectress of science and

industry. * * *

On the whole, the one-story plan which has prevailed among experts ever since

he Paris exhibition of 1867 has been adopted. But by the introduction of upper

stories on those outlying sections reserved for offices, ample office room has been

secured without encroaching materially upon the floor space within the square of

300 feet to which the building was primarily limited.

Whatever ma}^ be the style of architecture represented, the exterior

of the building- can not lay claim to dignity of appearance or to any

degree of esthetic merit, although by a symmetrical arrangement of

towers and payilions some relief is giyen to the low outer walls, and,

viewed a short distance off, the tops of the former mingle with the

roofs and lantern skylights to produce a not unpicturesque, though

crude, effect. The walls are of brick, the roofs principally of iron

and slate. The former were well constructed, and should long remain

in good condition, ])ut the latter were early found to be, in greater

part, unsuita})lo and insecure. These defects were largely due to the

smallness of the appropriation, only $250,000, which did not permit

of the best class of workmanship and material, and the failure to pro-

duce a Ijetter architectural effect can probably also be accounted for

in the same way.

The interior is plain, and its walls are frequently defaced through

the imperfections of the roofs, but the many criticisms which, from

the beginning, have been directed against the arrangement of the

building are entirely unwarranted. For the purpose for which it

was erected, the exhibition of specimens, it probal)ly has no superior

« Annual Report of the Smithsonian Institution for 1879, pp. 130, 131.
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in this country and few, if any, abroad. The critics have simply con-

founded cheapness and crudeness with inadaptation to purpose. It is

a square Imikling of a single story, consisting of four large naves

and a central rotunda in the shape of a Greek cross, with ranges and

covered courts filling in the corners, so as to produce a solid or

continuous structure every part of which, under the original plan,

was well lighted. The ranges have large windows, and the naves and

courts both skylights and clerestory' windows. It is the plan so often

adopted for exposition buildings, and also at times for permanent
structures, and is especially convenient to the visitor, in that he has

no stairs to climb. There has at no time in the past been any difficulty

in so installing the display collections that they could be distinctly

seen and the labels read. Within a few years, however, galleries have

been built in nearly all the halls, as it was necessary to increase the

amount of space. The height of the halls has permitted this to be

done without injury to the general effect, but to some extent the light-

ing has been interfered with, though not so much but that it can be

remedied.

This building was planned, as above stated, essentiall}^ for exhibi-

tion purposes. The space available for laboratories and storage

quarters, however, is wholly inadequate, though convenient and well

lighted. This may be considered as one of the main defects of the

interior, as it is the one most noticeable to the specialist who wants

working room, and seldom refers to the exhibition series. A remed}'

for this condition, I'ecommended and urged upon Congress by Pro-

fessor Baird, was the erection of a smaller fireproof building nearby,

entirel}'^ for laborator}" and storage needs, and especiall}" for the safe-

guarding of the alcoholic collections. His ideas were never carried

out, but it is hoped that in the new building all of these requirements

will be provided.

The building has, moreover, served an excellent purpose as an

object lesson, since the experience gained in its construction and fur-

nishing, and in the installation of its collections, has been invaluable

in the preparations for the newer structure. It will undoubtedly con-

tinue to l)e occupied for many years to come, and its complete repair

will prol)abl3' be undertaken as soon as the new 1)uilding is finished.

The l)nilding under description stands on the southeast corner of the

reservation granted to the Smithsonian Institution b}' the fundamental

act of 1846, and, in fact, overreaches its eastern boundary to about

the extent of the width of Ninth street SW. Its north or front face is

about on a line with the south face of the Smithsonian building, from

which its nearest corner is distant about 50 feet, while its rear face

adjoins the sidewalk on B street south.

The main part of the building is about 300 feet square and one stor}^

high throughout, though of very different elevations. In the center





Report of U. S National Museum, I 903.—Rathbun. Plate 18.



NATIONAL MUSEUM— HUILDTNGS. 253

of each front, at the sides of the entrance, are two tall towers, and at

the corners are large pavilions, all of which project about 12^ feet

from the main walls, thus making" the extreme linear dimensions of

the l)uilding al)out 325 feet. The amount of ground covered is 97,786

square feet, or about 2i acres.

The primary feature of the plan consists of four naves or main

halls, the largest in the l)uilding, which radiate in the form of a Greek
cross from a central rotunda to the towers above mentioned. Follow-

ing the outer walls and extending from the naves to the pavilions are

a series of eight ranges, two on each side. This arrangement leaves

four courts, inclosed by the naves and ranges, which are roofed over

and form parts of the actual building. There are, therefore, 17 halls

in the body of the building, all designed for exhibition purposes.

These halls are separated })y heavy brick walls, having numerous

broad arched openings reaching nearly to the ceiling. The lower part

of these openings both from the floor and from the galleries are tilled

in with cases or screens, excejit where needed as passageways. The
main halls open broadly into the rotunda. There is one entrance into

each court, and one at each end of the several ranges for the circula-

tion of the public.

The central rotunda attains the greatest height. It is octagonal

below, with a maxinmm diameter of 65 feet, and is surmounted by a

16-sided polygon, 67 feet in diameter, which contains a tier of large

windows, and is covered with a slate roof rising to a central lantern.

The height is 77 feet on the side walls, and 108 feet to the top of the

lantern finial. The four main halls, extending from the inner walls of

the towers to the rotunda, are 117 feet long by 65 feet wide, their

height being 42 feet to the top of the side walls, and 56 feet to the

ridge of the roof. The courts are about 63 feet square and of the

same wall height as the main halls. The ranges are all a little less than

50 feet wide. Those on the north and south sides of the building are

89 feet long, and those on the east and west sides 63 feet long, the

lesser length of the latter being due to extensions from the adjoining

pavilions. They are covered with lean-to roofs, their interior height

being 26^ feet at the outer walls and 31 feet at the inner.

The several divisions of the building are clearly indicated on the

exterior by the unequal heights of the walls and roofs. A description

of these features as seen when approaching the north front will answer
for the other sides, as all are essentially alike. In the center of the

north front is the main entrance, bordered In- a tall, arched frame-

work of Ohio sandstone. Above and back of the entrance are the face

and gable end of the north hall, reaching to a height of about 55 feet

above the ground, bearing a stone plate with the inscription "National
Museum, 1S79."' and surmounted by an allegorical group of statuary

representing Columbia as the protectress of science and industry. At
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each side of the entrance is one of the towers above mentioned, about

27 feet square and three stories high, topped by a steep roof, with

small dormer windows toward the base. The extreme heights of these

towers is 85i feet to the top of the tinial.

Extending on each side from the towers to the corner pavilions are

curtain walls, 27i feet high and 87 feet long, with seven broad, arched

windows, 8 feet 10 inches wide and 13 feet 7 inches high, the glass in

the latter being arranged in three vertical series. Between the win-

dows are narrow buttresses, uniting above in arches. The pavilions

are about 40 feet square and 36i feet high to the eaves, the roofs being

nuich lower and flatter than on the towers. They are divided into

three stories, besides a basement, each lighted by eight large, arched

windows, except the upper story, which has three small windows
grouped in the center on each side. The top of each pavilion has a

large lantern sk3dight.

From the curtain walls the lean-to metal roof rises over the ranges

with moderate slope, and abuts against the higher walls of the courts

and main halls, both of which have a row of clerestory windows on

each side facing the ranges, those of the main halls extending back only

as far as the courts. The courts have a large square lantern, from
Avhich the roof descends on all four sides to the level of the gutters on

the main halls. The main halls have plain hip roofs about the same
height as those of the courts, with elongate lantern skylights in the

middle. The dome of the rotunda, as before explained, rises above

all other portions of the roof, being the most conspicuous feature of

the top of the building. All the roofs are covered with slate except

those of the ranges, which are of tin. The slates are nailed to small

pieces of wood, fitted into small L-shaped pieces of iron, and the plas-

ter of the ceiling is laid directly upon the rough inner surface so

formed. Besides the lanterns before mentioned, a number of small

skylights and ventilators have been built over some of the ranges and

courts, especially where the recently constructed galleries have inter-

fered with the lighting.

The entire framework, as well as the inner sheathing of the roofs,

are exposed to view, this plan having been followed in the interest

of economy. The roofs of the main halls, the rotunda, and the courts

are supported ])y iron trusses of the Pratt pattern ; those over the

ranges by triangular girders of rivited angle iron. In 1894 some of

the purlines in the main halls near the rotunda l)egan to l)uckle and

were reenforced with angle iron. By 1900 all of the iron work over

the main halls had begiui to show" sigiis of weakness, caused l)y alternate

expansion and contraction, thus producing msuiy leaks in the slate

co\ering, and the entire framework was accordingly braced and

strengthened by means of angle steel. The woodwork about the lan-

terns was also replaced by irou; and other improvements were made.
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The inner surface of all tlie roofs was originallj^ covered with a thin

coat of plaster. In the ranges the metal top was underlaid h}^ fireproof

gratings, to which the plaster was applied. As the keying proved

insufficient or the plaster not strong enough, large pieces began to

give way at the very beginning, and to eliminate this source of danger

all the plaster was removed in the ranges, leaving the gratings uncov-

ered. After })eing painted, however, the appearance of the ceiling

proved not to be out of keeping with its surroundings. In one range

the ceiling was at the same time covered with corrugated iron, leaving

an air space between it and the tin roof above, and it was thought by
the architects that this arrangement would tend to regulate the tem-

perature of the halls. Nothing further, however, has been done in

this direction.

Through failure to secure additional space b}^ the erection of a new
building, galleries began to be added in the present building in 1896,

and their construction was continued from year to 3'ear until 19(»2.

They are now contained in all the halls except the north hall and the

north-east and east-north ranges, while in the south-east range the}"

have l)een united so as to form a complete second story. The main

entrances to the galleries are from the rotunda, and nearly the entire

series ma}" be traversed without descending to the floor. The width

of the galleries is from 10 to 14 feet and their height above the floor

1<) feet. The}" are of very simple construction, consisting of plain

iron pillars and girders, with brick archways and cement floors. The
area gained by this means has amounted to 25,828 square feet.

All of the masonry of the exterior walls above ground, except as

noted below, is of red brick laid in black mortar, with numerous hor-

izontal courses of black brick, and a considerable quantity of bufl'

brick in courses and designs to relieve the monotony of color. A
number of blue brick were originally employed in connection with

the buff, but they were subsequently painted black. There is a base

course of granite around the entire Imilding, but the window sills,

copings, etc., are of gray Ohio sandstone.

The interior walls are plastered in a sand finish, and were originally

covered with a gray water-color paint, poorly adapted as a background
for installation. The exhibition cases have been mainly constructed

with mahogany frames, for which maroon was found to be a most har-

monizing and efl'ective surrounding, and since about 1883 most of the

walls have been painted this color to a height of about 12 feet from
the floor, the original color remaining for the most part above. The
only decorations were stenciled figures on the walls of the rotunda

and over the archways at the inner ends of the main halls. In 1S>02,

however, experiments were made looking to a change of color, with

what is regarded as very satisfactory results. The colors used in the

main halls and courts are a light red to a height of 15 feet, followed
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by a deep ivory, tho ceilings being of ti lighter ivory. In the rotunda

the colors range from olive ])elow to ivory above, with stencil decora-

tions as shoAvn in the plates. This color scheme has not' been extended

to the ranges, which have been repainted from time to time in various

colors.

In connection with the original construction of the building, though

undci- a special ap])r()priation, a floor of encaustic tiles was laid in the

I'otunda, and tioors of marble squares of various colors in the four

large halls or naves. The mar])le tiling is surrounded by a frieze of

dark-blue slate, of sufficient width to bridge the ducts containing the

steam pipes, wires, etc., while around the frieze is a border of parti-

colored Portland cement. The floors in all the other halls were con-

structed of yellow pine, partly in preparation for the Garfield inaugu-

ral ball of March 4, 1S81, out of the local fund for that purpose.

These floors were laid upon a concrete base and began to decay after

a very few years, requiring frequent and extensive repairs. In 1.S91

it became necessary to replace several of them with more substantial

material, and this continued down to 1808, when the last of the wooden

floors disappeared. The substitutes have l)een cement, granito, and

finally terrazzo, the last being the most pleasing and apparcMitl}- the

most durable. Other floor changes have consisted in the laying of

mosaic pavements in the vestibules of the main entrance and the north-

west entrance. In the pavilions and towers the different stories are

separated by arches of l^rick and concrete, supported by iron beams,

the floor covering being of Florida pine. Thus the building has been

rendered essentially fireproof in all parts of its' construction.

An octagonal fountain basin, 20 feet in diameter, composed of a rim

of molded polished granite and cement floor, occupies the middle of

the rotunda. From its center rises the original plaster model of the

goddess of liberty which, in bronze, surmounts the Dome of the

United States Capitol.

As before stated, the building was constructed with four main

entrances, one at the center of each front, but only two of these are

now used as such, that on the north side being for the public and that

on the east side for the delivery of supplies and specimens. The

entrances on the south and west have been closed and, together with

the adjacent space, converted into headquarters for the departments

of biology and anthropology, respectively. There is also a small

entrance on the south side of the northwest pavilion leading directly

to the administrative offices.

The north, or main, entrance has two sets of double doors of l)lack

walnut paneled wMth h(>avy plate glass, the large arched space above

being filled in with a latticework of walnut set with glass. In front

of the entrance is a mosaic platform, bordered by granite coping, and
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a|)i)i'Oiiched by four low oninitc stops 37 feet lonj^, which urc flanked

by molded base blocks cariying large candelabra.

The sinallness of the original appropriation prevented the construc-

tion of a basement under the main building, which would have added

a large amount of space for storage and workrooms. Small cellars

were built, however, under the southwest pavilioti for the heating

boilers and th(^ supply of fuel and under the northwest and northeast

pavilions for miscellaneous storage. Advantage was taken of the

changes in the heating plant in IDOl to construct an underground tun-

nel, leading from the northwest pavilion of the Museum building jO

the east wing of the Smithsonian building, primarily to convey the

heating pipes, electrical conduits, etc., but of suitable dimensions to

serve as a passageway' for individuals, being 7<> feet long, 5 feet wide,

and 7 feet high. It has proved of great convenience in stormy weather,

l)ut tills a much more important purpose at night 1)V giving the small

watch force a ready means of communication between the two buildings.

The building is exceedingly well lighted, considering its solid, one-

stor}' construction. The ranges are amply provided with large win-

dows, the higher naves and courts have both skylights and clerestory

windows, and the naves also receive much light from the large win-

dows between the central towers. The exhibition collections can,

therefore, as a rule, be readily seen, though the galleries are responsible

for the creation of some dark places which did not formerly exist.

The lighting of the rooms in the towers and pavilions is also excellent.

The windows are practically all of the same general pattern, and in

the beginning all were glazed with double panes of glass, the better

tj retain the heat in winter, but about half of these double panes in

the towers and pavilions have been made single. Ventilation is pro-

vided for b}^ means of movable panes of glass in the side windows and

lanterns, many sashes being pivoted in iron frames for that purpose,

and also in places by ventilators in the roof.

In 1881 the Museum was presented by the Brush Electrical Company
with a number of storage cells and a dynamo suitable for operating

between 30 and 40 incandescent and ir)-candle power lamps in the

lecture hall when evening meetings were held. In 1895 the basement

of the south tower of the Smithsonian Institution was furnished with

a gas engine and d3'namo of sufficient power to maintain a small system

of incandescent lamps in the Smithsonian offices and in a number of

workrooms and other dark places in both buildings. This plant was
totally inadequate for the requirements, however, and Congress

appropi-iated $3,500 in I'.tOl, and $5,000 iji 15H)2, for a complete instal-

lation of electric wires and iixtures throughout the Museum building,

which was practically finished in the latter 3^ear, the work being done

by empk)yees of the Museum. This installation extends to the public

halls, offices, laboratories, storerooms, and workshops, but in the

NAT MUS 1903 17
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Smithsonian building it reaches only some of the offices and corridors,

a few storerooms, and the dark center of the main exhi})ition hall.

The current for lighting is taken from the mains of one of the city

companies at the southwest corner of the Museum building. On only

a few occasions has the entire Museum building been lighted at night,

and regular night opening for the public can not be undertaken without

an additional appropriation to cover the extra expense of electric

current and watchmen.

All of the cases in the cxhiliition halls containing especially valu-

able specimens, as in the historical and gem collections, are supplied

with electric burglar alarms. There is also a system of electric call

boxes distributed through both l)uildings, which must be visited every

hour during the night watches, any failure to perform this service

being at once automaticallv announced at the office of the IVIutual Dis-

trict Messenger Company in the city. For the prompt conduct of

l)usiness it has likewise been found necessary to make extensive use of

the telephone system for conmiunication between offices in different

parts of the building and with the city.

The heating of the Museum building was until 1901 accomplished

t)y means of four 60-horsepower steam boilers. In the latter year

these were replaced by two 150-horsepower high-pressure tubular

boilers, whose capacity is sufficient to heat both of the large buildings

and the smaller adjacent Iniildings on the Mall. The boiler room is in

the basement of the southwest pavilion. There are also two boilers of

48-horsepower in the basement of the Smithsonian building, which

can be used in case of emergency. The new plant is ver}' satisfactor}",

and much more economical than .the old one.

Soon after the Museum building was completed, the north-west range

was set apart as a temporary lecture hall, being furnished with a plat-

form, lantern screen, and several hundred folding chairs. This was

one of the smaller ranges, and proving inadequate for the require-

ments, its fittings, somewhat improved, were transferred to the west-

north range, which continued to be assigned to this purpose, though

sometimes used for the preparation of exhibits, until the increasing

demands for exhibition space caused it to be turned over to the Depart-

ment of Anthropology. It was found, however, practically essential

to have some place for scientific meetings, and by placing material in

storage it became possible to vacate for this purpose the east-north

range, immediately to the cast of the main entrance, and thus equally

as convenient as the former range. The hall remains in a condition

suitable to be turned over to exhibition uses at any time, but its

fixtures for lecture purposes are more permanent in character than

before. The walls and ceiling have been painted in several tints of

green. There is a large speaker's platform and a lantern screen, and

on the opposite side a smaller platfoi'ui or balcony, where the lantern
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can be pernianently installed. Movable armchairs arc used For seats,
and a series of screens are in readiness to reduce or enlaroe the lecture
si)acc, iiccordino- to the reciiiirenients. The furniture is entirely of
oak. The preparation of this new lecture hall was accomplished in
1J*(>1, under a special Cong-ressional appropriation.
The thre(> Hoor i-oonis of the east tower soutii of tiie entrance, with

a slio-ht addition for kitdien purposes, were utilized for a lunch room
until iJXtl. In that year, however, the addition referred to was
extended southward to a total length of 77 feet, thus somewhat enlarg--
u)<4- and inii)rovin.o- the conditions, but there is no way of providing a
suitable lunch room in the present building, important as this feature
is to the employees and to such visitors as spend nuich time about the
Museum.

In connection with the plans of the building (pp. :^lH)-8()2) a list is

given of the halls and of all the rooms contained in the several towers
and pavilions, together with their sizes and an explanation of the uses
to which each is put. The exhibitions in geology and in anthi-opology,
except the single division of arclKoology, are entirely in this building.'
In biology only the mammals, reptiles, fishes, and comparative anat-
omy are represented here, the remaining divisions being provided for
in the Smithsonian building. All of the galleries as well as the halls
were designed for exhibition purposes, but three or four of the former
are now used for storage, and one for the library. The administra-
tive offices and the head(juarters for the three scientific departments
are in this building, as well as most of the scientific laboratories.

BUILDING FOR THE ALCOHOLIC COLLECTIONS.

Professor Baird stated in his report for 1S.S4 that—
The presence of alcoholic sjiecimens in larjie nnmbers, so important in a scien-

tific point of view, fircatly endangers the safety of mnseiun Iniildings and their con-
tents, and most of the e8ta1)lishments in Europe have lately taken the precaution to
construct separate buildings peculiarly adapted for the purpose. An application was
nia.le at the last session of Congress for an appropriation to put up a similar build-
ing in the grounds of the Institution, but it was not acted upon favorably.

The estimate was as follows:

For the erection ..f a fireproof brick storage building east of the National Museum,
for receiving, unpacking, a.ssorting, and storing the natural-historv collections of the
Government, to replace the wooden structures now used for the puri^ose, $10,000.

The estimates were renewed for 1S8H and 1887 in the following
terms:

For the erection of a fireproof building f,.r storing the alcoholic .•oUections of the
National ^luscum, Sl.5,000.

(Note.-The safety of the interior of the National Museum and the Smithsonian
building IS en<langer..d by thr large nunil)er of alcoholic specimens kept therein, and
.t is considered by public museums, both at home and abroad, vorv iuiportant to
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have a sepandc l)nilding for tlieir reception and preservation. There are at present

no suitable accommodations for these collections.

)

In 1885 Secretaiy Baird remarked that

—

Although the present building is ])ractically tirei)roof, yet shoul<l a tire b(^ started

in the vicinity of these [the alcoholic] specimens it is probable that much damage

would be done by the ignition of the many thousands of gallons of alcohol, and the

destruction of the specimens and of the jars in which they are contained.

Again in 1886 he refers to the danoer of tiie destruction not only of

the alcoholic specimens themselves, but of other near-by collections

should fire break out among the former. All of these propositions

failed to receive consideration and the matter was not renewed, as it

was then expected to make provision for the alcoholic specimens in the

proposed new Museum building.

In connection with the appropriations for I8t)9, however, an esti-

mate was submitted to Congi'ess for a larger fireproof building to

serve essentially the same purpose, fronting on B street south, ])etween

the National Museum and the Army INIedical Museum, ap])r()priate in

appearance to the former l>uil(lin^-. It was designed to be 130 feet

longb}^ 50 feet wide, and intended to be used for both workshops and

storage purposes, thus replacing all of the temporary liuildings then

in use. It failed to receive favorable action, however. The wording

of the item was as follows:

For the erection of a fireproof building for workshop and storage purposes for the

National Museum, said l)uilding to be constructed mider the direction of the Super-

intendent of the Library of Congress in accordance with the approval of the Secretary

of the Smithsonian Institution, $50,000.

TEMPORARY AND RENTED BUILDINGS.

The crowded conditions in the Smithsonian and Museum buildings

have necessitated the erection from time to time of small frame struc-

tures on the Smithsonian and Armory squares, and the renting of build-

ings south of B street south, for the requirements either of workshops

and storage, or of the preparation of exhi})its for expositions. The
use of the Armory building and the erection of a brick laboratory have

already been referred to.

In 1882 a shed was built to the westward of the Armory building, a

part of which was used for the shelter of Fish Commission call's, and

the remainder filled with the collections received from the permanent

exhibition l)uilding in Philadelphia. A second shed was subsequently

added for the purposes of the National Museum, but only one of these

now remains and is utilized by the Museum.
The larg(> amoimt of work incident to the preparation of collections

for the exhibitions at Cincinnati, Louisville, and New Orleans made it

necessar}' to put up a s|)ecial frame building, which was done at the

expense of the exposition fund during the summer of 1884. It meas-
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urcd iil)t)ut ion by 50 feet, unci was located alono- B Street south, a

short distance to the east of the Museum buildiii*^-. Jt was also made

to serve for the temporary storage of the material brougdit back from

those exhibitions. Some small additions were made and a loft con-

structed. It remained in use imtil 1887. when it was torn down and

the materials of its construction were utilized elsewhere. During-

more or less of the period of its existence it furnished accommodations

to the taxidermists, and osteoloo-ists, and to other preparators, includ-

ing- those of the Bureau of Ethnolog}-. In it were also stored large

quantities of specimens, especially geological and ethnological.

In 1887 two low sheds were ))uilt along the south side of and close

to the Smithsonian building, one on each side of the south tower, and

extending nearly the entire length of each facade. They were con-

structed largely of material from the ])uilding last al)ove mentioned,

and were both unsightly and dangerous in their proximity to the

Smithsonian building. The west shed was at tirst cut up into

seven workshops and storage compartments. The east shed was, for

a time, given over to living animals, but when these were I'emoved to

the Zoological Park it was used for the storage of easels and supplies.

Both sheds wen* more or less employed in the preparations for the

World's Columbian Exposition at Chicago. Their removal was
effected in 1898, under the provisions of an act of Congress giving

$2,500 for the purpose. The material derived from them was used

partly in building a shed at the Ninth street annex, referred to below,

and partly in the erection of the so-called south shed on the Mall

directly south of the south tower of the Smithsonian building.

The National Zoological Park grew out of a small assemblage of

living animals gathered at the National Museum. The first part of

this collection was received from the West in 1887 and was installed

in one end of the eastern of the two sheds along the south side of the

Smithsonian. Additional specimens obtained in the early part of

1S88 madjc it necessary to utilizt* the entire building for this purpose.

Later in the year yards were constructed in the grounds south of the

Smithsonian building for ])uli'alo and deer, and several small buildings

were also erected. During 1S91 the li^ing animals were transferred

to th(> park, and the inclosures and buildings which they had occupied

\v(ir(> all removed except the eastern shed and one small shed farther

out on the grounds which was modified into a paint shop.

In the winter of l881>-90 the first of the frame buildings now con-

stituting the Astrophysical Observatory was erected south of the

eastern end of the Smithsonian })uilding. It was subsequently slightlv

enlarged, and thn^e other smaller structures were added in 1893 and
189S. The fence inclosing this cluster of buildings has recentlv been
enlarged to afford sonn* open-air space for experimental purposes, the

extent of the area now covered being about 170 by 78 feet.
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Ill i8!*S ti frame buildiiit;' of two ytories, called the "south shed," was

built on the grounds south of the south tower of the Smithsonian

buildin<;\ ))eing- separated from it b}' the roadway and a strip of lawn.

It is about 53 feet long, -iO feet wide, and 23 feet hig-h to the eaves. It

contains the taxidermists' laboratories for mammals and various work-

shops.

The only structures now standing on the Mall near the Smithsonian

and Museum liuildings are the laboratory and stable building, the soutii

shed, and the buildings of the Astrophysical Observatory. This clear-

ing of the grounds, however, has onl}^ been rendered possible through

the appropriation of funds by Congress for the renting of outside

l)uildings, chiefly south of B street south, and not far distant from the

Museum, as follows:

Louisiana avenue near Tenth street NW., from March 15, 1894, to

June 30, 1895, a period of lifteenth months and sixteen days, at $75 a

month.

A part of the old Belt Line street-car stable, corner of B and Third

streets SW., from Juh^ 1, 1895, to March 31, 1896, nine months, at

175 a month.

No. 431 Ninth street SW., from April 1 to June 30, 1896, three

months, at $75 a month; from July 1, 1896, to date, at $166.66 a month,

the increase being due to extensive improvements in buildings.

No. 217 Seventh street SW., August, 1898, at $90 a month; Septem-

ber 1, 1898, to June 30, 1899, ten months, at $120 a month; July 1,

1899, to date, at $90 a month.

No. 313 Tenth street SW., August 1, 1898, to June 30, 1901, thirty-

five months, at $50 a month; July 1, 1901, to date, at $sO a month.

The increased rental in this case was due to the erection of an addition

to the original l)uilding.

Rear of No. 915 Virginia avenue SW., August 1, 1898, to June 30,

1899, eleven months, at $50 a month; July 1, 1899, to date, at $30 a

month.

The total amounts paid annually for rental of the above buildings

were, therefore, as follows:

1894 $263. 71

1894-95 900. 00

1895-9(5 900. 00

1896-97 1, 999. 92

1897-98 1, 999. 92

1898-99 4, 389. 92

1899-1900 4, 039. 92

1900^1901 4, 039. 92

1901-2 4, 399. 92

1902-3 4, 399. 92

Total 27, 333. 15
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The temporarv biiildinjis on the Mall and the rented l)uilding'.s now
used for the purposes of the Museum, toocther with the floor area

occupied in each, are as follows:
Squurf feet.

Natural history laboratory and stable, on Sinitlisonian <irouii(ls, bird taxider-

mists oil secontl Hoor - HI 5

South shed, on Smithsonian grounds south of Smithsonian bniliiing, mammal
taxidermists, 1 ,0(50 square feet; tin shop, 'MO 1 , 400

Frame sheil adjoining building of U. S. Fish Commission on Armory square,

for storage, as follows: Anthropology, 5,562 square feet; biology, 1,818

square feet; geology, 103 square feet 7, 073

Museum Annex at 431 Ninth street SAV., consisting of one brick building and

several frame sheds. Rented. Used for storage, as follows: Anthropology,

6,500 square feet; biology, 3,742 square feet; geology, 3,456 square feet;

superintendence and miscellaneous, 7,431 square feet 21, 120

Building 309-313 Tenth street SW. Rented. Utilized for storage and other

purposes, as follows: Anthropology, 1,102 square feet; biology, 922 square

feet; geology, 3,053 square feet; label office, 729 square feet; heating and

power jjlant, 620 square feet. 6, 40(5

Building at 217 Seventh street SW. Rented. Utilized as a carpenter shop,

3,387 square feet, and anthropological workroom, 268 square feet 3, 655

Building in rear of 915 Virginia avenue SAV. Rented. Utilized as a paint

and glass shop T 1 2, 925

Total area 43 203

NEW NATIONAL MUSEUM BUILDING.

HISTORY.

In his report for 1882 Secretary Baird discussed the inadequacy of

the Museiuu ])uilding-, then scarcely more than a year old, to house the

rapidl}' increasino- national collections or to provide for the Museum's
own activities and those of the Geological Survey, the latter at that

time l)eing partly carried on under the same roof. It was proposed

that a third buildino- be erected on the southwest corner of the Smith-

sonian reservation for the g-eolog'ical and mineralogical divisions of the

Museum and for the accommodation of the Geological Survey. Sec-

retary Baird's remarks t)n this su))iect were as follows:

Large and capacious as is the new Museum l)uilding, it has proved already inade-

quate to the existing requirements of the National Museum. Tiiis building was
designeil primarily to acconunodate the vast number of industrial and economical

exhibits i)resented to the United States by foreign governments at the close of the

Philadelphia Exposition of 1876. A special appropriation was made bj- Congress for

their transfer to Washington, and the armory building in the square between Sixth

and Seventh streets was assigned for their reception. It required nearly sixty large-

sized freight cars to transport the mass.

Before the building was completed in 1881 and available for its purposes, almost

equally enormous additions had l)een made to the (rollections of the various (Jovern-

ment expeditions and of the Ethnological Bureau, wliich, together with many thou-

sands of objects previously in charge of the Smitlisonian Institution, but for which
there was no room in the old building, constituted a much larger mass than waa



264 REPORT OF ISATIONAL MUP:rtUM, 1903.

originally estimated. It is well known that at the close of the Centeiuiial Exjjosi-

tion a company was organized to take charge of a large portion of the collections

exhibited on that occasion, and with these and such additional articles as might

be obtained to establish what was known as the "Permanent Exhibition" in the

main Centennial building, which covers nearly 18 acres. This organization, after

struggling for existence for several years, finally became unable to continue the effort

and the collections in its charge were speedily scattered. Many of these had been

presented to the National Museum with the understanding that they were to be left

with the Permanent Exhibition Company for a period of at least a few years. ( )tliers,

however, including many of the most valuable series, were obtained for the National

Museum through the efforts of Mr. Thomas Donaldson. All these collections were

carefully packed under his charge and stored in a building erected by him adjacent

to the Centennial building.

An appropriation was made by Congress to meet the cost of packing, shipping to

Washington, and storing the collections in question. About twenty cars were

required to transport them. They are now contained in a wooden Iniilding adjacent

to the armory, tliere being absolutely no space for them in the National Musi'um.

In addition to this a cabinet of at least doul)le the magnitude, made by the Insti-

tute of Mining Engineers and deposited with the Pennsylvania Art Museum of I'hil-

adelphia, has been offered to the Government simply on the condition of transfer to

Washington and proper exhibition. This is an extremely important collection, illu-

strating the mining resources and metallurgy of the United States and foreign coun-

tries, and will constitute a most important addition to the means of instruction at the

conunand of the Government. An appropriation will be asked, and it is hoped

o])tained, for the purpose of transferring the collection to Washington; but some

measures must be taken for its ultimate display.

An even greater mass of additional material to be provided for wiin)e found in the

industrial collections of the United States census of 1S80, and in the collections of tlie

LI. S. Geological Survey. The census collections embrace more particularly the

building stones of the country, the ores (especially of the precious metals), the com-

bustibles, such as coal, petroleum, etc., and the forest timber.

All these collections are of great magnitude, representing as nearly as possible a

full series from all parts of the country. They ai'e carefully lal)eled and recorded,

and will be accompanied by full descriptions.

The building-stone collection is especially valuable, consisting, as it does, of many

thousands of samples of marl)le, granite, sandstone, and other substances, for the

most part dressed in 4-inch cubes, each of the faces showing a different surfac and

treatment.

It is not believed that any established quarry remains unrepresented in this series,

while many extremely valuable deposits of ornamental and building stones are pre-

sented therein for the first time. Preparations are in progress for testing the strength,

resistance to torsion and crushing force, and economical properties of all these sam-

l>les. The collection is now so far advanced that when a public l)uilding is to be

erected either by the States or the General Government it will be possi])le to show

specimens of all the best Imilding stones in the vicinity of the locality involved, and

to present all the necessary data as to availability, durability, cost of production, etc.

Much use has already been made of the collection by the commissioners of State caj)-

itals, county court-houses, etc., as well as by agents of the General Government.

The collection of ores made by the census agencies is also very extensive, that of

iron l)eing particularly large. Nearly every iron mine of any prominence in the

United States has been visited and samples carefully selected by experts. These

have l)een analyzed undiT the direction of Professor Pumpelly, and reports presented

as to their chemical and metallurgical properties and economical value. All tiie
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orifrinals of this research are in charge of the Smithsonian Institution awaiting exhi-

bition. The same may l)e said of similar researches in regard to the ores of all the

other metals.

The work of the V. S. Geological Survey, also of enormous magnitude—l)egun

under Mr. Clarence King and continued under Maj. J. W. Powell—has resulted in

the accmuulation of several tons of specimens of fossils, rocks, minerals, ores, and

the like. Very few of these can at i^resent be exhil)ited for want of the necessary

space. The survey requires a large number of experts and assistants, and is at pres-

ent viTy badly accommodated. .Some twenty rooms in the new Museum building

have l)een assigned as quarters for the Director of the Survey and his assistants.

This, however, causes great inconvenience to the other work of the Museum, and

as the survey now occupies a large building in "Washington, for which it pays con-

siderable rental, and for want of <iuarters in Washington is obliged to scatter its

stations over various parts of the United States, it is thought desiral)le to ask CVrti-

gress for an appropriation to erect a second nuiseum building corresponding in general

character to the first, l)ut on the opposite side of the square, along the line of Tweh'lh

street.

This building it is proposed to devote almost entirely to the mineral department

of the National .Museum; and when completed to transfer to it everything of a geolog-

ical and mineralogical nature, and also to prepare a portion of it especially for the

accommodation of the (Geological Survey, which is at present so inconveniently pro-

vided for. By way of economy it is proposed at first to construct what will repre-

sent the western side of the building, in which oflice rooins and chemical and otlii-r

laboratories can be provided for.

It had been proposed to erect a separate building for the Geological Survey, dis-

connected from the National Museum; but there being no ground available for this

purpose, it was thought expedient to ask for an appropriation to furnish the required

(piarters on the Smithsonian reservation, which is at present ample for the purpose.

( )n the 10th of April last the following bill was accordingly introduced into the

House of Representatives and referred to the Committee on Public Buildings and

Grounds. The subject is still before that conunittee, and it is impossible to state

what will be its fate during the present session. I would recommend action on the

part of the Board of Regents in this connection, since long before the edifice can be

completed the need for it will liecome extremely urgent.

•'A. BILL (H. R. No. 57Sl)fi)r the erection of a fireproof building on the south portion of the Smith-

sonian reservation, for tlie accommodation of the United States Geological Survey, and for other

purposes.

" Be it enacted, etc., That the sum of two hundred thousand dollars be, and hereby

is, appropriated, out of any money in the Treasury not otherwise appropriated, for

the erection of a fireproof building on the south portion of the Smithsonian reserva-

tion for the accommodation of the United States Geological Survey, and for other

purposes: rrovUJed, That the consent of the Regents of the Smithsonian Institution

be first obtained thereto, and that the building be under their direction when com-

pleted: And provided further, That tlie building be erected l)y the Architect of tlie

Capitol, in accordance with plans approved by the Director of the United States

(Geological Survey, the Secretary of the Smithsonian Institution, and the Arcliitt'ct

of the Capitol acting as a board therefor."

At the animal meeting of the Board of Regents on January 17,

1883, Secretary Baird presented the report from which the above

extract is taken, called attention to House 1)ill 5781, introduced in

April, 1882, and urged the necessity for speedy action in relation to
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!iii udditioHiil Imildiiiu' for the iis(» of the Musntiii and the Geological

Survev, whereupon the loIlowinL;" resolution was adopted:

Eesvlved, That the Board of Regentss of the Smithsonian Institution recommend to

Congress to enlarge the National Museum, so as jn'opt'rly to cxiiihit the mineral,

geological, and other eoUeetions already on hand and increasing each year, by the

erection of a fireproof building on the southwest corner of the .Smithsonian reserva-

tion, similar in style to the present N tional Museum; and they request an appro-

priation of $;500,000 therefor, to be expended under the direction of the Regents of

the Institution.

It was also resolved

—

That the chancellor, General Sherman, and the Secretary be, and they are hereby,

authorized and empowered to act fo and in the name of the Board of Regents in

carrying into effect the provisions of any act of Congress which may be passed pro-

viding for the erection of an additional building for the Nat'onal ^luseum.

Further strong- reasons for the erection of an additional ])uilding

were given iji the report of Secretary' Baird for 1SS8, in which he

says

:

No better illustration can be hail of the increase in the collections of the National

Museum than the fact that an additional l)uildiug is urgently required for their

proper accommodation, as explained in the last report (1882).

In 1875 the collections then in i-harge of the Smithsonian Institution were comfort-

ably acconnnodated within the limits of the Smithsonian building, in rooms having

an aggregate area of oO,000 s(juare feet. They consisted prini'ipally of specimens of

natural history and etlmology; contini-d almost entirely to North America, with the

exception of objects of Polynesian juanufacture, forming ])art of the "Wilkes collec-

tion.

In 1875 an appropriation was made by Congress to enable the Smithsonian Insti-

tution and the Fish Commission to i)rei)are an exhibit of oljjects illustrating the

resources of the United States, as derived from the animal and mineral kingdoms,

and, with tlie assistance of a special appropriation to the Indian Bureau, of a collec-

tion of No)-th American anthrcjpology. A large sum of money was expended in the

preparation of this exhibit, which was forwarded to Philadelphia in 1876, and (!on-

stituted a part of the Government disjjlay which attracted much attention.

At the close of the Philadelphia exliibition veiy large donations were made to the

United States by foreign I'ountries, including both the official commissioners and

individual exhibitors. Many objects of much interest were contributed on the same

occasion from American dis])lays. These collections, tilling some fifty freight cars,

were brought to Washington and were stored for a time in the Armory Building,

assigned l)y (-ongress for their reception.

After several fruitless efforts, an appi'opriation of $250,000 was obtained for the

purpose of ])utting up an ini'xpensive edifice for the storage of the.se articles, and

their transfer was liegun in the autumn of 1881, but little more than two years ago.

Since then large nundjcrs of collections of very great importance have come to

hand, chief among them being the gatherings of the U. S. Geological Survey and of

the Ethnological Bureau, made on a scale of unexampled magnitude and well

befitting the operations of a nation like the United States. The many scientific

explorations, ma<le either separately by the Smithsonian Institution or conjointly

with the ITnited States Signal Service or other bureaus or bodies, the work of the

Fish Commission, and the enormous aggregate of many smaller collections, have

tended largely to increase the material to Ije provided for.
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In ailditiiiii ti> this, the cxhihitiun liy the riiitcil States at Lomloii of ilhistrations

of its fisheries (the freight Imlk nf w hirli am<iinite<l to not less than 24,000 cuVjic feet,

and consistinji, in very large part, of new objects and articles obtained at the

expense of the appropriations of Congress for that purpose) must also Ije provided

for; a.s also the very valuable and extensive collections in mineralogy, geology, and

njetallurgy made by the American Institute of ^Mining Engineers, and j)resented to

the United States, but stored in i'liilaclel])liia awaiting an appropriation for its

transfer.

It may be stated in brief, therefore, that, at the present time, the vast building,

finished scarcely more than two years ago, is now filled to overflowing; while there

is additional material enough on hand belonging to the t:lovernment to occupy fully

half of a second building of the same size, and Avith a probability that the entire

space will be required lx»fore the construction can be accomplishe<l, even supposing

that it is begun at the earliest possible time.

The Smithsonian Institution lias always acted in hearty cooperation w itli the allili-

ated scientific l)ranches of the Government even where no oflicial relationship

existed, this being notably the case in regard to the U. S. Geological Survey. This

important Bureau, in the rapid increase of its work, has been greatly hampered by

want of the necessary accommodations; and it was with much gratification that the

Institution proffered a share of the new building to the Director, jNIajor Powell, for

the accommodation of his coUecticms, and for the office and laT)oratory work. It

was, however, unable to do as much as was desirable, owing to the inadequacy of

quarters for the purjiose.

Should an approjiriation be made for the new building, for which the Board

authorized application to Congress, it is intended to share it with the Geological Sur-

vey so that it may have all the facilities required for its important work.

It will be remembered that Congress in the act of 1846 set aside for the use of the

Smithsonian Institution 20 acres in the southwest corner of the square bounded by
Seventh and Twelfth streets and north and south B streets, the center of the Smith-

sonian building being exactly in the middle of the square. It was in the southeast

quarter of this reservation that the new Museum building was erected, forming a

very unsymmetrical annex to the original Smithsonian building. It is now proposed

to take the southwest corner of the reservation for the new edifice, which, when
completed, will l)e essentially of the general character of the present Museum build-

ng, and will restore the proper architectural balance.

Congress has now been asked to make an a])proi)riation for one wing of this jiew

building to be specially fitted for the use of the officers and laboratories of the

National Museum and f)f the Geological Survey; and, if the amount' can be obtained

at the present session, occupation of the building can be assured within eighteen

months from the commencement of operations. The vacating of the rooms now
occupied by the Geological Survey will also fnrnish nuich-neeiled accommodation to

the Museum; possibly enough until the remainder of tlie building can be ])rovided

for. The jirojxised wing, however, will be complete in itself, arrhiteeturally, and
will not involve any addition for its proper harmonious effect.

'riic following estimate, based upon the rccoiunienclation to Congress
al)()ve rt^fcrrod to. was siibinittod in Lss,*} for fonsideration with the

appropriation hills for iSS5, hut failed to ho roportod to either House:

Construction, in a fireproof manner, of an additional museum building, to receive

the collections and laboratories in (;hemistry, geology, mineralogy, metallurgy, taxi-

dermy, etc.; and for the offices and laboratorit's of tiie U. S. Geological Survey,

to be erected under the direction and supervision of the Regents of the Smithsonian
Institution, on the southwest corner of the grounds of the Smithsonian Institution,

$200,000.



268 REPORT OF NATIONAL MUSEUM, 1908.

From ISS'i uiilil ihv present time the necessity for ji ne^v Imilding-

luis never ceased to bo the subject of greater or less attention by the

Regents and the Secretary. In 1885, after noting the previous steps

taken, Professor Baird remarked:

The need is now much greater than before, as there is eudugli material in tlie way

of vaUiable specimens of economical interest to till a second building the size of the

])resent one. This unexhibited surplus is now stored in several buildings, some in

Washington and some elsewhere, and consists of important illustrations of the econom-

ical geology, metallurgy, and other resources of the United States. In addition to

what has been on hand for some time, very large collections were presented to tlic

Government at the New Orleans exhibition, which embraced a great deal of intrinsic

value as well as of popular and scientific interest. It is earnestly to be hoped that

this requirement will be met by Congress by the speedy appropriation of an amount

suitable for the jmrpose.

In 1886 Secretary Baird stated that as special provision was desired

for laboratories and offices, and to give suital)l(^ (piarters to the U. S.

Geological Sui'vey and the Bureau of Ethnology, an estimate had been

made of the sum of $25O,t)O0 for the purpose of constructing one wing

and pavilion of the new building, leaving the remainder to be con-

structed hereafter, should Congress so approve it, at a cost of, per-

haps, an additional $250,000. This estimate, submitted in 1886 for

the sundry civil bill for 1888, varied but slightly in wording from the

estimate of 1883. It received no consideration by Congress and was

as follows:

For commencing the construction, in a lireproof manner, of an additional museum
building to receive tlie collections and laboratories in ciiemistry, geology, mineralogy,

metallurgy, taxidermy, etc., and for othces and laboratories of theU. S. Geological

Survey, to be erected under the direction and sui)ervision of the Regents of the

Smithsonian Institution on the southwest section of the grounds of the Smithsonian

Institution, $250,000.

The following extract is from the Museum report of the same year,

by Doctor Goode:

The National Museum is now approaching an important crisis in its history. Its

future will depend ui)on the action of Congress in granting it an additional building,

for without more room its growth can not but be in large tlegree arrested. From

this time forward it will he impossible to develop the collections satisfactorily witli-

out additional space. The laboratories and worksho])S are already entirely inade-

quate for the storage of the unexhibited collectionR and the acconnnodation of the

])reparators and mechanics, and the exhibition halls do not afford suitable ojipor-

tunity for the display of the materials already in order for public examination.

At the annual meeting of the Board of Regents on January 11, 1888,

the first Ixdd after the appointment of the present Secretarj^ of the

Smithsonian Institution, Mr. Langley brought to the attention of the

Regents the necessity of continuing the efforts toward securing an

additional nuiseum building, and spoke of the legislation previously

proposed. The Board renewed its reconuncnidation to Congress of

January 17, 1883, and discussed the matter of pi'oviding quarters for
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the Geolotjficiil Survey in tlic now hiiildino-, pursuant to the wording

of House bill No. 5781, presented to CoHj,a-ess in ISSI, and of the

several estimates subsequently submitted. The chancellor stated as

his opinion

—

That it was desirable tliat new luuseuin buildings should l)e erected in any ease,

l)ut that since by act of Congress a certain part of the public ijrounds had l)een set

apart and appropriated absolutely and exclusively to the Smithsonian Institution,

lie for one did not want to see anything else placed on these grounds.

He further said:

If the Sniithsouiau Institution is to grow, it will need them all, and whatever is put

upon them should be under our exclusive cfmtrol.

The following extract from the report of Secretary Langley for

1888 has reference to this subject:

Among other matters discussed at the last meeting of the Regents was the erection

of a new INIusemn building. On this occasion the Regimts tacitly reafhrmed their

resolution of 188:^, recommending to Congress the enlargement of the National

Museum by the erection of a fireproof building on the southwest corner of the

Smithsonian reservation, similar in style to the present National Museum; but on

viewing the sketch plans, which had been prepared subsequently to the resolution,

so as to include offices for the Geological Survey, they added an expression of their

opinion that the new building should be planned exclusively for Museum purposes.

It was not at first intended to take action in this matter during the present year,

but the overcrowded condition of the Iniilding, on account of which not only the

current work but the proper development of the collections is greatly impeded,

seemed to render innnediate action necessary. A still more urgent need appeared to

be the unsatisfactory sanitary condition of the new ^Museum building. A commit-

tee, consisting of Dr. J. H. Kidder, chairman. Dr. James M. Flint, U. 8. Navy, and

Mr. J. E. Watkins, was appointed on April 14, to make a careful study of the water

supply, ventilation, and drainage, and in May submitted a preliminary report, from

which it appeared that an alarming amount of sickness and mortality has been mani-

fest among the employes since 1881—a mortality which can not be attributed to the

location of the building, which has sometimes been pronounced unsanitary, since

there has been no corresponding percentage of ill health in the old Smithsonian

building adjoining. The number of days lost bj- employees on account of sickness in

1886 was 796; in 1887, 875; and in 1888, up to May 10, 2\3, by far the largest part of

this loss of time being attributed on the books of the ^Museum to miasmatic diseases.

The committee states that there is no reasonable doubt that some, if not all, of the

ten deaths since 1881 were hastened or induced by the unwholesome condition of this

building. The committee suggested repairs and modifications of considerable extent,

including the construction of continuous cellars under each of the four sides of the

building, which, in addition to the other necessary expenses, would cost in the neigh-

borhood of $40,000. This state of affairs seemed to demand decided action, and it

being absolutely impossible to make any changes in the present building without

entirely vacating a portion of it for a considerable period of time, the exigency for

more accommodation seemed a great deal more urgent than had been at first

supposed.

While it became evident, on study of the question, that for the ultimate needs of

the Museum, a building of but one story, occupying the same area as the present

Museum, would be insufficient, the question of immediate action was unexpectedly

brought up in May by one of the senior Regents, a member of the Senate, who, when
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Yisilinji tlie INlusenin with some frieiuls, noticed its crowded and unsatisfactory con-

dition. Havinj;; learned from me of the mortality and sickness of the employees, he

in((nin>d as to tlu^ feasibility of erecting a new building, and offered to use his influ-

ence to procure an api)ropriation, if I could obtain for him a set of sketch plans

within a week, time being, as lie stated, a very essential condition. After consulting

with the chairman of your executive committee, I had no liesitation in accepting

such an offer, but a diliicnlty arose from tlie fact that the sketch plans which had

been laid before the Regents in 1882 were in part for purposes which the Regents had

at their last meeting disapproved, and that hence they could not be used. By great

diligence, however, plans for a building to be devoted exclusively to Museum pur-

poses were prepared within the time mentioned. These w^ere l:)ased upon an exten-

sive accunuilation of notes and drawings, eml)odying the record of the best recent

work of museum construction in this country and in Europe, and they were for a

building, as far as was consistent with these improvements, like the existing Museum.

The report submitted by Senator Morrill, to accompany Senate bill 3i;^)4, .contains

the correspondence on wluch action was taken, and I have discussed the acts therein

presented elsewhere under the proper heads.

The following bill was introduced by Senator Morrill on June 12, was passed by

the Senate on June 20, and at the end of the fiscal year was in the hands of the

House Committee on Public Buildings and Grounds:

"A BILL for the erection of an a(l<iili()Uiil fireproof l)uiklinj,' for the >ise of the National Museum.

"JSe it enacted by the Senate and Houseof Reprcxenlatlrcs of the VnUed Staler ofAmerica

in Congress assembled, That the sum of five hundred thousand dollars is hereby

appropriated, out of any money in the Treasury not otherwise approjiriated, or so

much thereof as may be necessary, for the erection of a fireproof building for the use

of the National Museum, to cover three hundred feet square, and to consist of two

stories and basement, to be erected under the direction of the Regents of the Smith-

sonian Institution, in accordance with the plans now on file with the Committee on

Pul)lic Buildings and Grounds of the Senate, on the southwestern portion of the

grotmds of the Smithsonian Institution. vSaid building to l)e placed west of the

Smithsonian Institution, leaving a roadway between it and the latter of not less

than forty feet, with the north front on a line with the south face of the building of

the Agricultural Department and of the Smithsonian Institution; and all expendi-

tures for the purpose herein mentioned shall be audited by the proper officers of the

Treasury Department. '

'

The building, as proposed, covers the same area as the present Museum, and is of

the same general style, so far as is consistent with the introduction of a second story,

thus affording nearly three times as much accommodation under the same area of

roof as the building now in use. The arrangement of the interior of the proposed

new structure is, however, consideral)ly modified, as the result of the experience of

seven years' occupation of the present building. The eighteen exlubitiou halls on

the two main floors are completely isolated from each other, "and are capable of sub-

division into smaller halls. The lighting will be equally as good as in the present

building, the ventilation will be much better, and in other important respects the

sanitary arrangements will be far more satisfactory.

A l)asement story is absolutely necessary, not only with a view to jiromoting the

(;omfort and health of visitors and employees, as well as for securing greater dryness

and better preservation of the specimens, but also for the purpose of providing large

apartments for storerooms and workshops. These proposed improvements in

arrangement will not, however, interfere with the possibility of constructing a build-

ing which shall conft>rm in the essential jjoints of exterior proportion with the main

features of the present building.
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The present l)uil(liri^ contains about S(),()00 S(|nare feet of floor space available for

exhi})ition and storage. Tlie buildinj^ proposed will contain about 220,000 srpiare

feet. The anioinit of room for offices and laboratories would be about the same in

each. The net area in tlie new building available for exhibition, storage, and office

rooms, as estimated, would be between five and six acres.

For the construction of the present Museum building an appro[)riati()n of $250,000

was made. This sum was supplemented by the following special appropriations:

$25,000 for steam-heating apparatus, $2(1,000 for marl)le floors, $12,500 for water and

gas fixtures and electrical apparatus, and $1,900 for sjiecial sewer connections. The
total amount expended on this l)uilding was therefore $315,400, and it is generally

admitted that tlie cost of its construction was considerably less than that of any

other similar l)uilding in existence; in fact, jierhaps too cheap to secure the ^uest

economy.

The proposed structuri' can be erected at a proportionately smaller cost. I have

obtained from responsible l)idders, who are willing to give bonds for the completion

of the work in acconlance with the bids whit'h they have submitted, estimates for

the erection of the l>uilding complete, with steam-heating apjiaratus and all other

essential appliances, excepting the electrical equipment, amounting in the aggregate

to $473,000. These bids, upon which the estimates of cost have been made, were

not competitive, and it is possible that something may be saved through competi-

tion. It is, however, necessary to provide also for the architect's superintendence,

and for the removal and reconstruction of the Smithsonian stable, which now occu-

pies the site. I therefore think it advisable to make request for the smn of $500,000,

in onler that these additional items and other contingencies may he covered.

The ]ilans, thoiigh drawn in the limited time imposed, represent the results of an

exhaustive study—which has extended over several years—of plans of the best

modern museum buildings in Europe and America, nearly all of which have been

personally inspected l)y officers of the Bmithsonian Institution.

Senate bill No. 813-1:, above ((noted, when presented to the Senate

on June 12, 1888, was aet'onn)anied b}' a favorable report from the

Senate Committee on Public Building's and Grounds (No. 1539), and

contained two letters from Secretary Ijangley, dated June 2 and 8,

1888. The former referred mainly to the plans for the proposed

])uilding, the latter to the collections and needs of the Museum. On
June 21. an effort was made to have this bill attached to the sundry

civil bill, an amendment to that effect being proposed b}^ Senator

Morrill, but no progress was gained l)y this action, and the bill went
over to th(^ next session.

On January 17, 188t), Senator ]\lorrill again su])mitted the measure

as an amendment to the sundry civil l)ill for 1890, and it was referred

to the Connnittee on Appropriations, ))ut no action was taken. In his

report for the same year Secretary Langley shows the increased

necessity for additional spac(\ in that Congress at its previous session

had graided the Armory building to the Fish (^onnnission as its head-

(|uarters, re([uiring the Museum to remove therefrom all but a few of

its preparator's workrooms.

On December 10, 1S88, and December 19, 1889, bills were intro-

duced in both houses of Congress for the erection of a fireproof

building for the U. S. Geological Survey independently of the National



272 REl'OKT OF NATIONAL MUSEUM, liK«.

Musoitin, on the .south .side of the Mall between tlie Museum buildinf,^

and that of the Army Medical Museum, the amount requested for the

pur})ose varvin*;" in the several ]:»ills and amendments thereto from

1300,000 to $S()0,0<»0. Both of these measures failed to pass. The

report of the House Committee on Public Buildings and Grounds,

su))mitted February K), 1889, contains a letter from the Director of

the Survey, from which the following extracts, interesting in this

connection, are taken:

111 addition to the rooms in the rented [Hooe] building, through the courtesy of

the Secretary of the Smithsonian Institution the Survey is permitted to use twenty-

two rooms in the National Museum, and these are all crow(le<l in such manner that

work is seriously ol>structed. The rooms in the National Museum were temporarily

given to the Survey at a time when there was no pressing necessity for their use by

the officers of the Museum; but at the present time the entire Museum is so crowded

that the Secretary of the Smithsonian and the Director of the Museum are anxious

to have these rooms surrendered for their use. * * *

The building planned does not provide for museum space. The statutes now pro-

vide that the collections of the Geological Survey, when no longer needed for

investigations in progress, shall be deposited in the National Museum. The plan

contemplated in the bill before your committee provides that the building for the

Geological Survey shall be near to the National Museum—between that building and

the Army Medical Museum building. Such an arrangement of buildings will be

highly advantageous to the Survey, as the offices of the Survey Avould be adjacent

to the National Museum, and the materials stored in the Museum building would be

accessible for reference and comparison, as constantly needed.

In his annual report for 1890, Assistant Secretar}^ George Brown

Goode, in charge of the Museum, made the following statements

regarding the necessity for a new building:

The necessity for additional room is constantly increasing, and several of the c(j1-

lections, to wit, transportation and engineering, fishes, reptiles, birds' eggs, mol-

lusks, insects, marine invertebrates, vertebrate and invertebrate fossils, fossil and

recent plants, are in some instances wholly unprovided for, and in others only in a

very inadecjuate degree.

In the main hall of the Smithsonian building is still exhibited the collection of

birds. A few cases containing birds' eggs and shells have recently l)een arranged

along the center of this hall.

Eleven of the departments in the National Museum have no space assigned to

them in the Museum building, solely on account of its crowded condition. The col-

lection of prehistoric antliropological objects remains installed on the second floor

of the Smithsonian building. The collections of the remaining ten departments

can not be exhibited or even properly arranged and classified without more room.

These collections are at present stored in the attics and basements of the Smithso-

nian and Armory buildings, and are inaccessible for study and for the other purposes

for which they were obtained. The specimens comprising these collections are not

simply objects of natural history, possessing an abstract interest to the student, but

represent the application of natural objects to the industries, and, as such, are of

great importance. There are several collections of ores, minerals, building stones,

and of objects representing various arts and industries, which are of very great value,

since they furnish to the American manufacturer and designer information of inesti-

mable importance.
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The increase in the national t-ollections (hiring the last eight years may perliapg

be best described V)y tlie statement that in 1882 the total number of specimens

recorded in the Museinn was about 183,000; while in 1890 the records indicated the

possession of nearly 3,000,000 specimens. Tt is ])roper to say in this connection that

the actual increase was not so great as shown by the records, sinc(^ during this period

a large amount of material previously received had l)een brought luider control and

placed on the I>ooks of the Museum. It should also be l)orne in mind that the pres-

ent Museum building was planned with reference to the reception of the material in

its custody at the time of its construction.

During- the Fifty-first Cong-ress the question of a new building was

frequently under discussion, but without result. On February 19,

1890, Senator Morrill, from the Committee on Public Buildings and

Grounds, reported Senate bill No. 2740, which provided:

That for an additional fireproof building for the use of the National Museum, 300

feet square, with two stories and a basement, to be erected under the direction of

the Architect of the Capitol, with the approval of the Regents of the Smithsonian

Institution, in accordance with plans now on file with the Committee on Puldic

Buildings and Grounds, on the southwestern portion of the grounds of the Smith-

sonian Institution, there shall be appropriated, out of any moneys in the Treasury

not otherwise ai>proiiriated, the sum of '$500,000; said building to be placed west of

the Smithsonian Institution, leaving a roadway between it and the latter of not less

than 50 feet, with its north front on a line with the south face of the Agricultural

Department and of the Smithsonian Institution, and constructed as far as practicable,

after proper advertisement, by contract or contracts awarded to the lowest responsi-

ble bidder, and all expenditures for the purposes herein mentioned shall be audited

l)y the proper officers of the Treasury Department.

On April, 9, 1890, the same bill was submitted to the House and
referred to the Committee on Public Buildings and Grounds. These
bills were again brought up in the second session of the same Congress,

in the House on January 9, 1891 (where it was committed to the Com-
mittee of the Whole), and in the Senate on February 9, 1891, as an

amendment to the sundry civil bill for 1892. The House bill, differ-

ing somewhat in wording from the Senate bill, was as follows:

That for an additional fireproof building for the use of the National Museum, 300

feet square, with two stories and a basement, to be erected by the Supervising Archi-
tect of the Treasury, under the direction of the Regents of the Smitiisonian Institu-

tion, in general accordance with plans now on file with the Counnittee on Public

Buildings and Grounds, on the southwestern portion of the grounds of the Smithso-
nian Institution, there shall be appropriated, out of any moneys in the Treasury not

otherwise appropriated, the sum of $500,000; said l)uilding to ])e i)laced west of the

Smithsonian Institution, with its north front on a line with the north front of the

present Museum building, and constructed as far as practicable, after proper adver-

tisement, by contract or contracts awarded to the lowest responsible bidder, and all

expenditures for the purposes herein mentioned shall be audited by the proper
oflacers of the Treasur\' Department.

Letters in support of the measure were transmitted to Congress b}'

Secretar}^ Langley, and some arguments were presented on the floor.

NAT MUS 1903 18



274 REPORT OF NATIONAL MUSEUM, 1903.

The report to the Senate Committee on Public Buildinu.s and (iround-

b3^ Secretary Langley, dated January 21, 1890, was mainly as follows:

I send you herewith ii set of sketch plans intended to show, in a general way, the

extent and chararter of u Ixiilding such as would seem to be necessary for the aticoni-

inodation of the Museum collections in the present and immediate future, and respect-

fully reijuest for them your attention and a recommendation to Congress of the

necessary means for such a building.

These plans and sketclu-sare provisional, hut although not presented in detail they

represent the results of studies, extending over many years, of the i)lans of the best

modern museum buildings in Europe and America, nearly all of wliich have been

inspected by officers of the Smithsonian Institution.

The proposed building covers the same area as that finished in 1881. It is intended

to consist of two stories and a basement, except in the central portion, which consists

of one lofty hall open from the main floor to the roof, the height of which will be

!)0 feet, galleries l)eing placed on the level of the second floor in other parts of the

building. Its interior arrangements are, as you will see, different from those in the

actual Museum, all the changes having been ])laimed in the light of the experience

of nine years' occupation of the present building. It will afford between two and

three times as much available si)ace for exhibition and storage under the same area

of roof. The fifteen exhibition halls are completely isolated from each other, and

may readily be subdivided, when necessary, into smaller rooms. The light will be

as good as in the old building, and the ventilation ])erhaps still better. The sanitary

arrajigements have been carefully considered.

The necessity for a basement is especially great. In this, place has been provided

for many storage rooms and workshops. The existence of a basement will promote

the comfort and health of visitors and employees, and by increasing the dryness of

the air in the exhibition halls will se»'ure the better preservation of the collections.

These proposed changes in the internal arrangements will not interfere with con-

formity with the other points of the present Museum building in the essential

features of exterior proi)ortion. The total capacity of this present building in avail-

able floor space is about 100,000 scpiare feet; that of the new building somewhat

exceeds 200,000. The present Museum building contains al)Out 80,000 feet of floor

space available for exhibition. That proposed will i-ontaiu about 103,300 squai-e feet

for exhil)ition. The space devoted to offices and laboratories would not be much

more, but the area available for exhibition halls, storage rooms, and workshops far

greater. The appropriation for the construction of the present building was $250,000.

The estimates of cost on this building vary greatly with regard to details of con-

struction on which I do not here enter further than to say that the whole should be

absolutely fireproof throughout, and in view of the further great variation of the

cost of building materials within the past two years, T am not prepared to state the

sum which wouM be necessary for its completion. It is certain, however, that

$500,000, if not sutticient to complete it, would 1)e all that would he required to l)e

expended during the present year, and I would respectfidly rejiresent the desirability

of an appropriation of this amount for the purpose in question.

Your attentif)n is directed to certain facts in regard to the character of the mate-

rials for the accommodation of which this building is desired. The collections of

the Smithsonian Institution and of the Government are especially rich in collections

of natural history, which may be grouped in three general classes: The zoological

collections, the botanical collections, and the geological collections, including not

only all the geological and mineralogical material, but the greater portion of that

belonging to i)aleontology, the study of fossil animals and plants forming an essential

part of modern geological work.
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Besides the iiatiinil history coUections, tliere are eijually iniportaiit anthropological

eolleetioiis whieli ilhistrate tlie liistory of niankind at all periods and in every land,

and which serve to explain tiie development of all hinnaii arts and industries. In

everything that relates to the j>riinitive inhabitants of North America, Eskimo as

well as Indian, these collections are by far the richest in the w'orld, an<l with the

necessary amount of exhil)ition space the material on hand will be arranged in a

manner wdiich will produce the most impressive and magnificent effect, the educa-

tional importance of which can not be overestimated. Again there are collections

of considerable extent wliich illustrate the processes and products of the various arts

and industries, as wi-U as what are termed the historical collections, which are of

especial interest to a very large number of the visitors to the ]\Iuseum on account of

the associations of the o])jects exhi))ited with the personal liistory of representative

men or with important events in the history of America.

The collections illustrating the arts and the art industries are relatively small, and

although in themselves of great interest and value, not to be compared in importance

with those in natural history and ethnology.

In a letter addressed on June 7, 1888, to the Hon. Justin S. Morrill, ami which

will be found in a report of June 12 of the same year from the Senate C'onnnittee on

Public Buildings and (irounds, I maile a statement of the rapidity of the recent growtli

of the Museum, mentioning that in tlie five years from 1882 to 1887 the number of speci-

mens in the collection have multiplied no less than sixteen times, and endeavored

to give an idea, though perhaps an inadequate one, of the extent to which the

pressure for want of space was felt. The evil has grown rapidly worse, and, as I

have had occasion to mention, it has been felt in the last year in a partial arrest of

the growth of the collections, which emphasizes the demand for more room. The
present Museum building is not large enough even for the natural history collections

alone, a number of which are without any exhibition space whatever. The proposed

building will afford accommodations for the ethnological and technological material

already on hand and for a large part of the natural history material also. The collec-

tions are still increasing, and the number of specimens, as estimated, is now not far

from 3,000,000.

Unless more space is soon provided the development of the (Government collec-

tions will of necessity be almost completely arrested.

So long as there was room for storage, collections not immediately rerpiired «(iuld

be received and packed away for future use. This can not longer be done.

The Armory building, since 1877 assigned to the IMuseum for storage and work-
shops, is now entirely occupied by the U. S. Fish Commission, with the exception

of four rooms, and by some of the Museum taxidermists, who are now working in

Very contracted space, and wliom it is impossible to acconiinodatt> elsewhere.

Increased space in the exhi))ition halls is needed, the educational value of the col-

lections being seriously diminished by the present crowded system of installation.

Still more necessary, however, is room for storage, for rearranging the great reserve

collections, for eliminating duplicate material for distribution to college and school

museums, and for the use of the taxidermists and preparators engaged in preparing

objects for exhibition. Space is also required for the j)roper handling of the costly

outfit of tlie museum cases and appliances for installation, of which there is always a

considerable amount temporarily out of use or in jirocess of construction.

In summarizing what has just been said, it may be stated in general terms that the

amount of space already retpiired for exhil)ition })urposes alone, being 207,500 feet

as against 100,675 now occupied, and this being exclusive of the 108,000 square feet

needed for other objects, the acicumulations have now reached such a point of con-

gestion tliat the actual space needs to be doubled, even indt'iiendently of future
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increase; and I ))og to ivpoat that, unless more apace is provideil, the development

of the Government collection, which is already partly arrested, will he almost com-

|)letely stopped.

The bill was passed by the Senate as a separate iiieusurc on April 5,

1890, and as an amendment to the sundry civil bill for 1891 on July

19. In the House no action was secured, tliouo-h the bill was favor-

ably reported by the Committee on Public Building-s and Grounds.

The question of placing a basement story under the existing- Museum
building, which had been under consideration at this time and was

referred to the Architect of the Cajiitol, was reported upon to the

House, under date of March 3, 1890, as follows:

Architect's Office, United States Capitol,

WashirKjton, D. C, February ^8, 1890.

Sir: In compliance with the requirements of the act providing for the sundry civil

expenses of the Government, approved March 2, 1889, 1 have examined the National

Museum, and have estimated the cost of constructing the basement story under that

building.

It is thought that the only portion of the basement available for workshops and

suitable for storage would be a cellar running around the outer walls of the build-

ing and extending inwards 30 feet, so that the rooms thus obtained may have light

and air.

These rooms should be roofed with brick arches supported by iron beams. Pro-

vision is made in the accomi>anying estimate to floor with tiles the entire rooms

under which these basements come, in part, as the present wooden floors of these

rooms are now in bad condition and will soon be unfit for use.

estimate.

Excavating 6,220 yards of earth, at |1 |6, 220

ITnderpinning front walls, 672 perches, at |7 4, 704

Stone masonry, inner walls, 1,248 perches, at |6 7, 488

Fireproof flooring (including columns), 1,866 yards, at 15.50 10, 263

Marl)le tiling, 30,400 superficial feet, at 75 cents 22, 800

Fifty-six windows, at $25 1, 200

Removing and replacing pipes and sewers - - - 3, 000

Removing old floors -^00

Concrete floors in cellars, 1,866 yards, at 90 cents 1, 680

Total 57, 675

I will say that by reason of the sewer, -steam, and gas pipes running undei- the

present floors the work of constructing these basement rooms, though practicable,

will l)e extremely difiicult.

I beg to say that I am of the opinion that a site for a storehouse and for work-

shops required may be purchased in the neighborhood of the Museum and a fire-

proof building erected thereon with a capacity as great as these proposed basement

rooms for a sum less than will be necessary to construct this basement.

Very respectfully,
Edward Clark,

Architect United States Capitol.

The Speaker of the House op Representatives.
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On January 28, 1891, in view of the possibility of the passage h}

Conjj-ress of a bill for a new building-, the Regents

—

Resolved, That the executive comuiittee of the Board of Regents, or a uiajorit>-

thereof, and the Secretary be, and they are hereby, authorized and empowered to

act for and in the name of the Board of Regents in carrying into effect the provisicms

of any act of Congress that may l)e passetl providing foi' the erection of a new build-

ing for the United States National Museum.

In the Fifty-second Congress a bill identical with that su))mitted at

the beginning of the previous Congress passed the Senate on April 11,

1892, but in the House it went no further than the Committee on

Public Buildings and Grounds. In the Fift3'-third Congress the same

measure was again introduced, but failed of action.

In all the reports of the Secretar}^ from 1892 down, attention was

called to this ever-pressing subject. The exhibition space in l)oth

buildings was overfilled. Small specimens could be crowded in here

and thei"e, but extensive changes meant that old collections must be

sent to storage for the benefit of something more important or of a

better class of preparations. Extra stoi-erooms and workrooms were
imperative, but they could only be provided by renting outside quar-

ters, with the full understanding that such structures were unsafe, and

that collections to the value of hundreds of thousands of dollars might

any day be destroyed through the merest accident. Year after 3^ear

the extent and value of the material thus unsafely housed has been

rapidly increasing, and the conditions prevailing have also influenced

disadvantageously many owners of \ aluable and rare specimens, the

donation or loan of which could easil}^ have been effected were there a

safe phice for their installation. It is known that the Museum has

been deprived of many large and important accessions from this cause

alone.

These circumstances have been explained time and again, but while

the ai'guments presented have excited much interest and have secured

the influence of strong and devoted friends, they have never, until

within the past two years, obtained the recognition they merit.

The building of galleries in the Museum building, begun in 1897,

has afforded slight relief, but the total extent of these additions has

increased Init little the former area of the two ])uildings, and in no

wa}^ lessened the need of a new one.

In the Fifty-fourth ('ongress Senator Morrill made his tinal effort

toward securing the appropriation so much desired by introducing in

the Senate, on December 10, 189,5, bill No. 698, which differed but

slightly in wording from former measures, except that tiie cost was
reduced fi-om $r)00,0(lO to $2.5( ),()()(). It was as follows:

Thatfor an additicmal fire{)n)(il' Idiilding for the use of the National Museum, 300
feet square, with two stories and a Wascnicnt, to beerected wndiT tiic direction of the
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Arcliitect of the Capitol, witli tlu^ approval of the Regents of the Smithsonian Insti-

tution, in liarmonj' with the present National jVIuseum l)nil(linjr, on the sonthwestern

portion of the grounds of the Smithsonian Institution, there shall l)e appropriated,

out of any moneys in the Treasury not otherwise ai)i>ropriated, the sum of $250,000;

said l)uil(lin<r to be ])hu'ed west of the Smithsonian Institution, leaving a roadway

])etween it and tho latter of not less than 50 feet, with its north front on a line

with the south face of the Agricultural Department and of the Smithsonian Institu-

tion, and constructed, as far as practicable, after proper advertisement, l)y contract

or contracts approved by the Secretary of the Treasury and awarded to the lowest

responsible bidder; and all expenditures for the purpose herein mentioned shall be

audited by the pro])er oflicers of the Treasury Department.

This ])ill was referi-ed to the Committee on Public Building-s and

Grounds, l)ut on Fcbfuaiy 27 followino- Sonatoi* Morrill reported an

amendment, which consisted in substitutino- for the "Architect of the

Capitol " the name of Bernard R. Green to have direction of the con-

struction. It was submitted l)y the conunittee on March 23, 18!)6,

with a report (No. 540), consistinj>- of material supplied b\' Secretar}"

Langle}^ and Assistant Secretary Goode. The following, by Mr.

Langley, is extracted from his report for 1895:

In my last annual statement I i)ointed out three conditions which are operating to

seriously retard the growth of the National Museum: First, the lack (jf s])ace for the

installation of ol)jects which should be placed on exhibition; second, the unsyni-

metrical growth of the collection; and, third, tlie fact that the storage of collections

in the wooden sheds south of tlie Smithsonian buililing, as well as in the basement

of the building itself, is most undesirable and dangerous. Tlie sum of |900, allowed

for 1896, will be necessarily expended in the rental of shop and storage room in

place of the "Armory building." The actually dangerous wooden sheds must there-

fore remain occupied imtil a sum of money is provided which will enable me to

discontinue their use altogether by renting other (juarters removed entirely from

proximity to the Smithsonian building.

The problem of even providing shelter of any kind for the vast amount of material

daily received from persons interested in the growth and work of tlie Museum still

remains inisolved. The Institution is place<l in an embarrassing ])osition. It has

l)een designated by law as the only depository of colU'ctions offered to or made
under the auspices of the Government, and can not, under tlie law, refuse to receive

them. The fact remains, however, that when act-epted there is no suitable i)lace in

which to store them, and no space in the Museum building to exhibit such of the

objects as should properly be shown to the public. As I havi' already pointed out,

there is probaljly no nuiseum in the world in which so small a proportion of the

objects worthy of exhibition is visible to the public, or in whi(!h the ol)jects exhibited

are crowded together so closely. It is now more true than ever that if another

museum buililing as large as the jiresent one were provideil it couM be at once tilled

with specimens already on hand.

Following are some of the more important parts of Mr. Goode's

statement:

The Smithsonian Institution is the custodian of the National Museum, which is

the only lawful i)lace of dejtosit of "all objects of art and of foreign and curious

research, and all objects of natural history, plants, and geologitud and mineralogical

specimens belonging to the United States." The imcleus of the collections con-

sists of the specimens brought home by the Wilkes and other exploring expedi-
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tions, but for many years the Museum was supported entirely at tlie expense of the

Smithsonian fund, and a considerable portion of the c:olle(!tions is the property of the

Institution.

Professor Huxley defines a nmseum as "a consultative library of objects." The

National iNIuseum is such a consultative hbrary, and it is a great deal more. It is an

agency for the instruction of the people of the whole country, and it keeps in mind

the needs of persons whose lives are not occupied in the study of science, as well as

those of the professional investigator and teacher.

Its benefits are extended without cost or reserve fo hundreds of thousands of

visitors from all parts of the I'nited States who pass through its doors each year.

It is also accessory to jiublic education through the distribution of the duplicate

specimens in the Museum, which are made up into sets, accurately named, and

given to public institutions in all parts of the country.

The history of the Museum is divided into three i)eriods: First, that from the

foundation of the Smithsonian Institution to 1857, during which time specimens

were collected purely and solely to serve as materials for research, no special effort

having been made to publicly exhibit them or to utilize them except as a foundation

for scientific description and theory. Second, the period from LS57, when the Insti-

tution assumed the cu.stody of the "National Cal)inet of Curiosities," to LS76. Dur-

ing this peri(xl the Museum became a place of deposit for scientific, material which

had already been studied, this material, so far as practicable, being exhibited to the

public, and thus made to serve an educational purpose. Third, the present period,

beginning in the year 1876, during which the Museum has entered upon a career of

active work in gathering collections and exhibiting them on account of their edi;ca-

tional value.

During the first i)eriod the main object of the Museum was scientific research; in

the second the establishment became a museum of record as well as of research;

while in tiie third period there is growing up also the idea of public education.

The three ideas, record, research, and education, cooi)erative and mutually helpful

as they are, are essential to the development of every great nmseum. The National

Museum endeavors to promote them all.

It is a museum of record, in which are preserved the material fjundations of an

enormous amount of scientific knowledge, the types of numerous ])ast investigations.

This is especially the case with tliose materials that have served as a foundation for

the reports upon the resources of the United States.

It is a nmseum of research, which aims to make its contents serve in the highest

degree as a stimulus to iiKjuiry and a foundation for scientific investigation. Research

is necessary in order to identify and group the objects in the most philosophical and

instructive relations, and its oHicers are therefore selecte<l for thcii- al)ility as investi-

gators as well as their trustworthiness as custodians.

It is an educational nmseum, through its policy of illustrating by specimens every

kind i)i natural object and every manifestation of human thought and activity, of

displaying descriptive labels adapted to the popular mind, and of distributing its

puI)lications and its named series of duplicates.

The collections are installed in part in the Smithsonian building and in part in

the large Ijuilding adjacent, covering 2", acres of ground, which was erected in 1881

to afford temporary ai'conmiodations for the overflow until such time as an adequate

new building could be constructed.

The intrinsic value of such collections as these can not well be expressed in figures.

There are single specimens worth hundreds, others worth thousands, of dollars, and

still others which are unique and priceless. Many series of specimens which owe
their value to their completeness and to the labor which has been expended on them

can not be rei>la(ed at any i)rice. The collections at a forced sale would realize
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more than has been expended on them, and a fair appraisal of their \ahie wonld

amount to several millions of dollars.

In the direct purchase of specimens but little money has l^een sjjent, less, perhaps,

in fifty years than either France, England, (Jermany, or Austria ex])ends in a single

year on similar ol)jects. The entire Museum is the outgrowth of ( Jovernment expe-

ditions and expositions, and of the gifts prompted by the generosity of the vVmerican

people.

If there were more sjtace it would be possible to devote a special hail to the col-

lections illustrating the life of the races of the Far North—the P^skimos and their kin.

A large hall might be tilled with the wonderful groups of models of the races of ma'n-

kind, and particularly of the different tribes of the North American Indians, clothed

in their characteristic costumes and engaged in the arts and occupations i)eculiar to

each. These groups are recognized in Europe as having no equal, and are now tem-

porarily placed in the lecture room and in various out-of-the-way corners where

their effect and usefulness are largely lost. No other museum in the world has such

rich material in this field, but at present only a small number of exhibition cases can

be devoted to them and the remainder of the material is stowed a^way in drawers

and packing boxes.

The magnificent mounted groups of the larger animals of America, unsurpassed by
anything of the kind in the world, are now so crowded together in the midst of other

collections that they are scarcely visible, and some of them are packed away. The
great fossil vertebrate animals of North America, of which there is a magnificent

series. A considerable j^ortion of this collection is now stored in the basement of the

museum at Yale College for lack of room to receive it here, although it is much
needed by the geologists of the Geological Survey for purposes of study.

Another hall is needed which might well be devoted to economic geology, illus-

trating the wonderful material wealth of our country and its utilization; and still

another is needed to illustrate the material resources of the country, classified by
States. With the present accommodations the materials and ores of each State are

confined to one or two small cases. A hall of proper extent, arranged upon this

geographical plan, would he one of the most impressive display's of the kind to be

seen anywhere in the world.

The building devoted especially to the Museum was erected after the Centennial

Exhibition in Philadelphia as a temporary accommodation for the collections given

to the United States by the foreign governments and private exhibitors represented

on that occasion. It is the cheapest public building of a permanent character ever

erected, having cost only $2.25 a square foot of floor space available for exhibition.

The museum buildings in Central Park, New York, have cost from $80 to $40 a

square foot.

The building in Washington has served a good purpose, but is deficient in one of

the most important particulars; it has no cellars whatever, and very little provision

for workshops and laboratories. In consequence of this it has been necessary t(.) use

all kinds of devices for storing material which can not be exhibited in the exhibition

halls in the bases under the exhibition cases, in small recesses, so ingeniously con-

trived that their presence is not suspected. It has been necessary to do this, but the

result has been to still fm-ther increase the crowded condition.

Another disagreeal)le result is that much noisy work has to be done in the Museum
halls in sjtaces shut off from the public by screens, and that when preparations for

exhibitions or unpacking are going on, not only are a portion of the collections

closed to tlie public, l)ut there is a constant and unpleasant noise of hammers.
A temporary relief was secured some years ago by placing the great herbarium,

one of the most important collections of American plants in the world, in the cus-

tody of the Agricultmal Department; but last year the Secretary of Agriculture
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found liimself unal:)le to longer give these collections house room; and since the

building in which they were kept is not fireproof, and the destruction of the collec-

tion would be an incalculable loss to science, there was nothing to do but to receive

this, and up to the present time a considerable portion of the collection still remains

in danger of destruction by fire, at the Department of Agriculture. There is also a

large amount of other material which ought to be arranged for public exhibition in

a lirei)roof building which is now in the inflammable wooden structure adjoining the

Dt'partnient of Agriculture, and which the Secretary is desirous of transferring, if

accommodation can be found for it.

All the collections of the (ieological Survey are stored in this building, and a con-

siderable number of the scientific experts employed by the Survey have office room

and accommodations to enable them to study in tlie Museum building. These

accommodations have become absolutely inadequate, and there is no more room to

receive the collections which the Director of the Survey deems absolutely necessary

to have here in AVashington in connection with his investigations of the material

wealth of the country.

The crowded condition of theexhibiticm halls has been dwelt upon, but that of the

storage rooms is still more congested. In the basement of the old Smithsonian

building, in its towers, and in various small rooms about the new building, there is

a space equivalent to perhaps 200,000 cubic feet, crowded to its utmost capacity with

boxed material. This material is all carefully recorded, and the location and con-

,

tents of every box is definitely fixed, so that wlien necessary any desired object can

be referred to; but satisfactory use of the collections is impossible. In one basement

room, for instance, re crowded 50,000 skins of birds, and 50,000 in an adjacent gal-

lery, altogether tw^elve times as many as are shown in the exhibition hall. So

(tlosely are they crowded that it is impossible even to rearrange tliem, and their

study is attended with great difficulty. It is desired to separate from among the.se

the duplicates for distribution to the colleges and si-hools throughout the country,

and an attempt has been made to accomplish this, but it has been found practically

impossible.

The great collection of alcoholic fishes (the result in part of the explorations of the

Fish Commission), the most extensive in America, and one of the most extensive

in the world, is stored in two basement rooms and only accessible with the greatest

difficulty. Furthermore, the crowding of such a mass of alcoholic material in a

small space is very dangerous, and in case of fire would lead to <lisastrous results.

Properly equipped museums, like the British Museum in London, have a special

firejjroof building for collections of this kind, separate from other buildings, and

provided with special devices for the prevention of fire.

In addition to the storage within the fireproof buildings there are a number of

sheds whose capacity is roughly estimated at 170,000 laibic feet, which are packed

with valuable material, and in which most of the workshops are placed. Two of

these are immediately south of the Smithsonian building, another at the southeast

corner of the Museum building, two others to the southwest of the old Armory build-

ing, and another, temporarily hired, halfway between the Museum and the Capitol.

Until 1888 two floors of the old Armory building were used for the storage of Museum
material. It then became necessary to give up one floor to accommodate the increas-

ing necessities of the Fish Commission, and in 1894 to give it up entirely to the Com-
mission. At that time an appropriation was made to rent storage rooms in the city.

Suitable storage rooms can not be rented; we have had to move twice and are now
being forced to a third move. These moves are destructive and expensive.

The two sheds adjoining the Armory building are getting old and some of the

timbers are rotting away. They can not be repaired because there is no place to put

the material they contain while the work is being done, and they are so crowded

that temporary readjustments for this i)urpose are not possible.
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All of the wooden storage t^hedw are in eonstant danger from destruction by fire.

This is a matter especially serious in connection with two long sheds near the Smith-

sonian building. Tn his rei)ort ti) tlie Regents, i>resente<l to Congress in bS94, .Secre-

tary Langley made an earnest apja'al for relief in the following words:

"I have the assurance of experts that a tire conmmnicated to these rooms would

sweep througii the entire length of the building, and although the building itself is

fireproof as against any ordinary danger, it may well Ik- il(>ul)ted whether any of the

collections therein exhibited can ))e regardeti as safe if the rooms immediately below

should be exposed to so peculiarly severe a conflagration as would be caused by the

ignition of these large quantities of inflammable material. Besides this, these wooden
sheds, which (as I have already intimated) are used not only for storerooms, but for

workshops, for the preservation of specimens, and also as sheds for. the carpenters,

are likewise liable to cause serious losses should a fin* be kindled in any of them,

and all of these, I repeat, are inunediately under the windows of the Smithscmian

building.

"In a report recently submitted by one of the inspectors of the Association of Fire

Underwriters, in response to a request from me for a statement as to what insurance

rates would be fixed upon the sheds in question, the Smithsonian building is referred

to as an undesirable risk, owing solely to the presence of all this inflannnable mate-

rial umlerneath and in the adjoining sheds, on which latter insurance can not be

placed for less than |40 per $1,000. This is, I am informed, nearly ten times the

rate which would l)e charged on an ordinary warehouse. The chief danger, how-
ever, is not to the sheds themselves or their contents, but to the adjoining collec-

tions, which, without reference to their scientific interest but merely to their intrinsic

value, represent a very large sum of money."
The result of all this crowding and lack of facility for work is that what is accom-

plished for public education by the Museum requires unnecessary and unusual effort,

and that the fullest results are not realized from the a])propriations which are made
for this branch of the pul)lic service.

Another result is that the value of the collections, the property of tlie nation, is

not increasing as rapidly as it would otherwise do. The amount of valuable mate-

rial presented and beciueathed to the Museum is not as great as it seemed likely to

be a few years ago. Nothing which is offered is refused, but the authorities of the

Museum do not feel at liberty to ask for gifts when they can not assure the givers

that they can be suitably cared for; and persons having collections to give, being

aware of the lack of room, naturally prefer to place their gifts in institutions where
there is room to receive them.

Notwithstanding these hindrances to the Museum's j)rogress, the increment from

legitimate sources, especially from the various Departments of the (iovernment,

which are required by law to deposit their aci-unndatiotis here, was during the year

1895 about l:i7,000 specimens. In 1894 the accessions were more nmnerous, the

total exceeding 171,000. This large increase was in part at least due to the fact that

a large number of collections were acquired at the close of the World's Fair in

Chicago. These were almost without exception collections which had been ])re-

pared by foreign exhibitors with the Smithsonian Institution in mind as the ultimate

place of deposit.

It would have been possible to have ol)tain('d an immense nund)er of specimens

on this occasion, but it was deemed i)roper to refrain from efforts in this direction,

not only because of the cousideraticms just referred to hut also on aci-ount of the

desire of the people of Chicago to retain such objects in tiieir own city as a begin-

ning toward a great civic nuiseum whicdi might serve as a permanent memorial of

the World's Columbian Expositicm. It has always been the policy of the Smith-

sonian Institution to encourage the develojiment of such institutions throughout the

United States, and to assist in developing them, and on this account many proffers
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of specimens were deeliueil, with the recomineinlatioii tiiat they be offered to the

Cliieago iiiuseuni, and, ho far as it was possible to do so, tlie attention of exhilntors

who had collections to disj)ose of was directed toward that institution.

A census of the number of specimens now contained in the various departments

of the Museum shows that the total is alxjut IJ.riOCOOO, almost all of which have

l)een acquired l)y tr'ft' i'l excluuiuje for other specimens, or as an e(jni\alent for

|)ul)lications.

On April 14, 18!M), Senator Mon-ill })ropo.sed his bill (Senate No.

»it>8 as amended) as an aniendineiit to the sinidrv civil ])ill for 1897,

and it was refei'ivd to the Connnittee on Appropriations. He spoke

upon the measure in the Senate on April 1»>. prefacing his remarks as

follows:

Mr. President, when the Smithsonian Institution, designed for "the increase and
diffusion of knowledge among men," was put into practical operation, it was discov-

ered tliat a national museum would be a large contributor to the great purpose of

the founder, and that the nation was destitute of such an institution. The Smith-

sonian buililing accordingly early Ix-gan to l)e temporarily crowded with many gifts

anil objects of rare value, and sul)sequently a separate building for a nuiseum was
found to be indispensal)le. l*atronized as was this collateral enterprise of the Smith-

sonian by the Government, through many of its Executive Dei)artments, and guided

by the Smithsonian Institution in a scientific and educational direction, as well as in

the practical diffusion of knowledge, it was sure to become an important but inex-

pensive .institution of public education, with a constantly increasing collection of

imjiortant materials worthy to be intrusted to the custody of a national museum, '

where they might be forever preserved and thus increase in value with every

succeeding generation.

His closing words were signiticant and prophetic:

The additional ])uilding now earnestly sought will be equal to the preservation

and exhibition of a \ery large amount oi accumulated material now unhap})ily

stored away, and will also provide some space for future accumulations that should

not longer he neglected.

The agents of great museums abroad are reported to be regularly employed here,

with authority to purchase any American curios and anticiuities, and in some direc-

tions they are sujjposed to have already o])taine<l better specimens for exhibition

than have been left for us to find.

The New World, of which the United States forms so imjiortant a part, in its

l)rairies and mountains, hills and forests, with their I'xtensive mini'rals, rocks and
marldes, lakes and rivers, with the animals, game, liirds, and lish, the story of the

lirehistoric race, the legends of tlie Indian tribes, as well as the notable modern
lustory and life of the present inhabitants, all seem to have distinctive features of

tiieir own Avhich belong almost exclusively to the western half of the globe dis-

covered by Cohnubns. This vast and (-omparatively ungathered continental field,

with its abounding American treasures, should be harvested by our National INIuseum

and not surrendered to the more <liligent foreign explorers to adorn and enrich only

European nuiseums.

As long as it shall 1h' conducted by the Smithsonian Institution its broad non-

partisan rei)utalion as a national museum of tlic bigliest charactei- will not b(> likely

ever to be <lisi)uted or imi)eached.

While this additional building, with its additional story and cellar, will more than

double the capacity of the i)resent nuiseum, it is i)rol)able as the yeai-s go by that it

will be necessary to keep step with the research, progress, and record of the .Ameri-

can people, and as early as li»2t>. when our jioijulation will be not less than 1 40, (UK), 000,
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it may l)e expected that another and (grander building in the rear of the Smithsonian,

facing (in south B street and ct)nnecting the two wings, will l)e required to mark and

illustrate the age.

Oil April '25, ISl^O, in tlio absence of Senator Morrill, Senator Georoe

(irray, also a Smitlisonian Reoent, moved the amendment to the sundry

(•i\ il hill, saying- in support of the measure that

—

The Senator from ^"ernlont is one of the Regents of the Smithsonian Institution.

I also liave the honor to be one of that body, and I know something in that w'ay of

the necessities for the building provided for in this amendment. There is a large

amount of exceedingly valuable scientific material which is housed there in temporary

wooden sheds, exposed to the peril of conflagration, and which would entail if it were

destroyed incalculable loss, not only upon the Government of the United States, but

upon the scientific world. There are matters there now thus insecurely housed that

could not be replaced. We all know what a credit the Smithsonian Institution is to

the ccjuntry and to the science of the country. There is no department of tlie Gov-

ernment tliat is bettei- conducted, more conscientiously administered in all of its

branches, and from which there are so many benefits, direct and indirect, diffusing

themselves among all the people of the country.

The amendment was then agreed to by the Senate, but the House
disagreed, and on May 21 the Senate receded from its amendment.

Although the bill was again introduced in the Senate at the beginning

of the second session of the Fifty-fourth Congress (January 28, 1897),

"the subject obtained no further consideration.

In 1897 several expedients were suggested for the relief of the

national collections, none of which had relation to the contemplated

new building. In Januaiy of that year inquiries made by the House

Committee on Appropriations were replied to by Secretary Langley

as follows:

I have delayed this reply till I could consult a trustworthy architect as to whether

the walls of the Museum Ijuiiding would bear the additional strain if otiier stories

were added. It appears to l)e his opinion that the cost of enlarging the present

stru("ture by additional height would not be warranted l)y the result, and that the

gain in exhibition space would be largely offset by its loss below from the interfer-

ence with light.

As regards your inquiry about the building known as the Army Medical Museum,
I have to say that this is located at the corner of Seventh and B streeets southwest,

and covers about 21,000 square feet of ground. The center building on B street is

112 feet in length and 54 feet 8 inches in width, exclusive of ornamental and other

projections. It has a 1)asement, and is three full stories in height. A fourth story

is over the main entrance on B street. The structure is flanked by two wings on

each side, 60 by 131 feet, with basement. The heights of the stories are as follows:

Basement, 11 feet; first story, 15 feet; second story, center Ijuilding, 14 feet, wings,

32 feet; third story, center building, 13 feet; fourth story, center building, extends

to the roof. The total floor space, if the floor were completed at the thinl story,

would be nearly 90,000 square feet, including the basement, and though all the

building as now arranged is not adapted to museum exhibition purposes, it could

be used so as to be a very great help.

At a meeting of the Regents on January 27, 1897, the Secretarj'^

announced that he had been asked by the Joint Connuittee on the
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Li})rary what the Niitional Muscnim had which would serve to decorate

the new Library buildino-, whereupon it was resolved

—

That ill tluM)pini()u of the Board of Ri'j;;enta of the HiiiithHoiiiaii Institution it will

not be expedient or wise to interfere with the integrity of the National INIusenni l)y

lending, for the decoration of the Library building, any of the articles or property

now in its care.

At a subsequent meeting- of the Boai'd, Februar}' 1, on the sugges-

tion of Dr. Charles D. Walcott, in his capacity as Director of the

U. S. Geological Survey, it was resolved

—

That the Board of Regents of the Smithsonian Institution look with favor upon
the proposition to estabhsh a museum of practical and industrial geology in the

neighborhood of the National Museum.

It has, however, since ])een arranged that this special feature shall

remain a part of the National Museum.
In his report for 1898, as Acting Assistant Secretary in charge of

the National Museum, Doctor Walcott discussed as follows the neces-

sity for a new building:

The present National Museum building was erected with the view of covering the

largest amount of space with the least outlay of money. In this respect it may be

considered a success. It is, in fact, scarcely more than the shadow of such a massive,

dignified, and well-finished building as should be the home of the great national

collections. There is needed at once a spacious, absolutely fireproof building of

several stories, constructed of durable materials, well lighted, modern in equipment
and.on such a plan that it can be added to as occasion demands in the future. A
site for such a building is already owned by the Government; only the building

needs to be provided for. What the Capitol building is to the nation, the Librarj"-

building to the National Library, the Smithsonian building to the Smithsonian

Institution, the new museum building should be to tlie National Museum. * * *

The growth of the U. S. National Musuem was rapid under the successful charge

of the late Dr. G. Brown Goode. When the character of the building and the funds

available for its maintenance are considered, it compares favorably with any modern
museum. It has received large collections from the scientific departments of the

Government, and through private contribution (with some additions by purchase

and exchange), all of which have been accommodated as well as could be in the

inadequate laboratories, storerooms, and exhibition space. The galleries just com-
pleted have added 16,000 sipiare feet of floor space, which will help to a certain

extent to relieve the crowded condition of the exhibition halls and courts below.

As an illustration of the present conditions and the necessity for more room, atten-

tion is called to the anthropological collections, which illustrate the development
and progress of man and his works. If the material now in the possession of the

Government in this department should be properly placed on exhibition, it would
occupjf the entire space in the present Museum building. The great collections in

zoology, botany, economic geology, general geology, and i)aleontology should be

entirely removed and jilaced in a building properly constructed for their study and
exhibition.

In the present building there is a great deficiency in laboratory facilities. Cura-

tors and assistants are liampered for want of room in which to lay out, arrange,

classify, mount, and laliel specimens. There should also be rooms in which students

could bring together and compare various series of objects, and have at hand books
and scientific apparatus. The present Museum building contains a few room^ suita-



286 BEPORT OF NATIONAL MUSEUM, 1903.

ble for the i)uri)oseH inciitioiu'd, ))at the majority liave to he iiHed as storerooms,

laboratories, and offices, and are therefore too mucli crowiled to serve in any one

of these capacities. Owinuj to the pressure for .si)act', courts, halls, and galh'ricH

intended for exhibition purposes, both in the Smithsonian building and in tiic

Museum building, are unavoidably occupied to a considerable extent as lal)oratorieH

and storerooms. Tliis lack of laboratory space is extremely detrimental to the

interests of the Museum.
Beyond six small basement rooms imdertwoof the corner j)avilions the present

building has absolutely no provision in the way of basement or other rooms for the

storage of collections which come in from dav to day from Government field collect-

ors or private donors, or such as are separated for distribution or held for the use of

students. To remedy this defect many expedients have necessarily Ijeen resorted

to, such as placing storage cases (faced with mahogany to make them presentable) in

the exhibition halls, hiring storage rooms in private ])uildings, and filling up offices,

entrances, staircase landings, and passageways not aljsolutely indispensal)le. The
ingenuity which lias })een exercised in this direction by some of the curators is very

great, and the annoyances that are daily enchn-ed in tlie interest of preserving the

collections deserve notice. What is needed is a series of spacious fireproof ))asements

for the less perishal)le objects, the collections preserved in alccihol, and the ordinary

stores and tools, and equally spacious dry lofts and rooms for those collections and

stores which require protection from dampness.

The present Museum building, though large in extent, is overcrowded. It was

built with the cheapest materials and under the cheapest system of construction. Its

lack of an'hitectural dignity and the indifferent character of the materials of which

it is constructed give it the ajipearance of a tenqiorary structure and tend tocheajjen

the effect of the really good cases and the very valuable collections which it contains.

The visitor is everywhere confronted with rough walls, unfinished ceilings, and

obtrusive trusses and supports. It should also be rememl)ered that a considerable

portion of the collections are still in the Smithsonian building, where the crowding

is scarcely less than in the Museum building.

The following arc pr()])ii))ly the last ])ul)lislied remarks l)y Senator

Morrill on the Hii))ject t(^ whicli so iniicii of iiis oiiero y had been given.

They were made at a meeting- of the Board of Regents on fJanuary 2i\

1898:

As some of you know, I have ])een urging a new Museum building for about ten

years. The bills I have introduced have passed through .the Senate several times,

but never through the House. I may say now that I shall not live long enough to

get the measure completed. It was heretofore contemiilated that there should be a

Museum building on the west of the Smithsonian building, in a position correspond-

ing with the present Museum building, and these two were to be connected by a

building on B street, thus making the largest museum in the country. I have now
about decided to abandon that ]ilan and try to secure the building on B street first.

I merely state this in order to ascertain whether the change of plan is favored by the

Board of Regents.

The suggestion was adopted l)y the Board, but was subse(j[uently

abandoned when the present plans were started.

The report upon the V. S. National Museum for ii>Oi contains the

following condensed accoiuit of the condition and requirements of the

collections, b}^ the present assistant secretar}' in charge:

Attention has repeatedly been called to the inadequacy of the present accommo-
dations for the national collections. The Smithsonian building had become fully
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occupied sduic twt'iity-live years afjo, when the larj^e contril)ati(ms to the (iovern-

ment from exliihitors at tlie Philadelphia Centennial Exhil)ition led to the erection

of the ]\In,«eniii hnildin>r, completed in 188L By 1883 this structure was also filled,

and thoujrh numerous efforts have since been made to secure more ample quarters,

all have met with faihnv. In ISSS, 1890, and 1892 the Senate voted $500,000 for a

new building', and in 189(>, Si'50,000, but none of these measures was even considered

in the House of Representatives.

There has been no abatement in tlu' nund)er of collections received annually, but

in fact a general increase from year to year, and a severe task has thus devolved

upon the ]\Iuseum authorities in arranging for their disposition. New specimens

have I'onstantly been added to the exhibition halls and storage rooms until both are

overcrowded to the extent that in the one the objects, as a rule, can not be properly

viewed by visitors, and in the other their classification has become impossible, and

they are for the most j)art practically inaccessible for study. But so extensive have

been the accessions that only a part could be disposed of in this manner, and it

became necessary, several years ago, to resort to outside storage, which is now pnj-

vided for in an old wooden shed upon the ]Mall and in several rented buildings.

None of these buildings is of fireproof construction, though they contain collections

of great value and in large part not replaceable. They also lack facilities for the

classification and arrangement of the specimens, which are packed away in shipping

boxes, and for the time serve no purpose of any kind.

The collections made by the Government surveys, of which the ^Museum is tlie

legal custodian, can continue to be received and housed, as a<lditional storage build-

ings may he lease<l, if necessary, though the further provision of the law to make
them at all times available for study and examination can no longer be carried out.

The same applies to specimens ol)tained by purchase or exchange and to such dona-

tions as are given without condition. The Museum is in fact being resolved into a

mere storehouse of material which comes to it mainly without solicitation, and its

larger purpose, while never lost sight of, is becoming more and more difficult to

maintain. Its reserve or record collections in every branch should be so systemat-

ically arranged that any spei'imens desired for study could inunediately 1)e found;

the public exhibition shouhl comprise the entire range of JMuseum subjects, and be

installed effectively and withont crowding, and there shouhl be ample and well-

appointed working (juarters, in which all the activities of the establishment could

be conveniently carried on.

With the conditions as they now are, it is not to be wondered at tiiat the National

Museum lacks that character of support which has done so much for many other

museums. Its donations are generally small and relatively unimportant. The
possessors of large and valuable collections will not present them where they can

not be at once displayed or well arranged. Such inducements can now rarely be

offered here, but many of tlie larger museums elsewhere owe their principal growth

to generous gifts from wealthy patrons of science and the arts. Specific meu-

tipn coidd be made of several large collections which their owners would have

preferred to place at the national capital, but which have been given to or depositeil

in other museums, because in Washington they would have to be packi-d away for

an indefinite period, at great risk of injury and destruction.

The amount of floor space occupied by the national colU'ctions is ver\^ much
smaller than would appear to the casual visitor. The two main buildings contain,

in fact, only 195, 48(5 square feet, to which the outside buildings, mostly rented, add

43,203 square feet, making a total of 238,689 square feet. The latter are partly occu-

pied by workshops, but are mainly used for the gross storage of specimens, and in no

case for exhibition or for the arrangement in classified order of the reserve series.

In London the subjects represented by the Fnitecl States National i\Tuseum arc

distributed among several nuiseums, such as the British Museum, leaving out the
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Library, the Victoria and Albert Museum, and the Museum of Practical Geology,

which now have an agfj;regate of 989,388 K(]uare feet of floor space, soon to be

increased by 400,000 or 500,000 square feet in the new addition to the Victoria and

Albert Museum. In Berlin seven of the national museums relating to natural his-

tory and the industrial arts possess some 575,000 square feet of area, and the new

National History. Museum of Vienna has over 350,000 square feet alone. In our own

country, the American Museum of Natural History in New York City, which, when

completed, will cover a ground area of over 5^ acres, already has 356,800 square feet

of floor space availa1)le.

A study of the conditions in Washington has shown that to properly arrange the

national collections and provide for the growth of perhaps fifteen or twenty years

would require additional floor space to the extent of something like 400,000 or

500,000 square feet. If this were obtained through the construction of a new build-

ing having that amount of room, it would still be necessary to utilize both of the

present buildings, and this seems the preferable course to pursue.

The efforts of Senator Morrill, though so persistent and well

directed, were not to bear their fruit, as he himself had intimated,

until after his lamented death, -and, in fact, there was to be a lapse of

five years before the culmination of his wishes was definitely assured.

His large share in the final result must not be forgotten. Four times

did he secure a majority vote in the Senate, and his influence in the

House is shown by the favorable consideration given his bills by the

committees to which the}^ were referred. His part, it is now recog-

nized, was in the direction of educating, of impressing upon Congress

the needs of the national collections, which he did by keeping the sub-

ject continually alive for over ten years, through the frequent intro-

duction of bills, the presentation of reports in which the requirements

of the Museum were set forth in detail, and his own impressive

remarks upon the floor. It came, therefore, to be not a question of

whether the Museum should have additional and more worthy quarters,

but rather one of finance; could the necessary funds, in the opinion of

Congress, be granted for the purpose?

Accordingly, the following request, which appeared in the Book of

Estimates for 1908, occasioned no surprise:

Plans for additional fireproof building, National Museum: For the preparation,

under the direction of the Secretary of the Smithsonian Institution, of preliminary

plans for an additional fireproof building for the United States National 3Iuseum, to

be erected on the Mall between Ninth and Twelfth streets west, including the

expense of collecting necessary data, said plans and such recommendations thereon

as the Secretary of the Smithsonian Institution may deem necessary to be transmitted

to Congress at its next regular session, five thousand dollars, to be immediately

available.

Note accompanying estimate.—In 1879 Congress appropriated $250,000 for the erec-

tion of a building to meet the urgent needs of the National Museum. The structure

then put up, and completed within the appropriation, was practically only a large

storehouse, with few of the facilities demanded by a large museum, and was at the

time expected to fill but a temporary want. It has in fact, however, been made to

serve a most useful purpose and should continue so to do, but its accommodations

have in all respects been long outgrown. By 1885 its exhibition halls and storage
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rooms were already tilled; by 1890 they were in a congested condition. Sinci; tlicn

it iias been necessary to lease temporary quarters for the incoming collections, these

(juarters being increased from year to year until they now hold as much in quantity

as the Museum building itself. In these places the collections are in constant dan-

ger from tire, and being stored in packing cases, are subject to deterioration.

The National Museum is constantly in receipt of large and important collections

from private sources, which add to its wealth of treasures. The collections are

mainly, however, the product of the Government surveys, ol)tained at great cost and

constituting the material records of all national explorations. They are, therefore,

jjractically not replaceable. All collections from these sources were by Congressional

acts of 1846 and 1879 committed to the custody of the Smithsonian Institution, with

provision for their scientific classification and arrangement. Under the conditions

existing it becomes impossible to carry out either the spirit or the letter of the law.

It is recommended that the sum of $5,000 be appropriated for the preparation of

plans for a new Museum building.

Certain tentative sketch plans had previously been prepared, in

order to indicate to the Eegents the general style and approximate size

of a building which it was thought would best meet the requirements.

The cost of such a building in stone was estimated at from $5,000,000

to $6,000,000. The matter was discussed with the Committees on

Appropriations of both Houses of Congress, the Secretary and others

appearing before them in support of the measure. A dehnite sum for

the cost of the building had not been fixed, nor were the tentative

plans considered as entirely appropriate to be followed. It was

explained that the amount named in the estimate was required to per-

mit of a inore careful study of the conditions, and that the plans to

be prepared would embod}" onl}' the actual needs. The item was not

reported by the House committee, but passed the Senate with a clause

limiting the cost of the building to $2,ot)0,0(M>. In conference, how-

ever, this limit was reduced to $1,500,000, the bill as passed, in con-

nection with the sundry civil act for 1908, ])eing as follows:

Plans for additional building, National Museum: For the preparation, under the

direction of the Secretary of the Smithsonian Institution, of preliminary plans for an

additional fireproof steel-frame brick and terra cotta building, to cost not exceeding

one million five hundred thousand dollars, for the United States National ]\Iuseum,

to be erected, when appropriated for, on the Mall, between Nintli and Twelfth

streets west, said plans when completed to be transmitted l)y the Secretary of the

Smithsonian Institution to Congress, five thousand dollars.

The i)reliminary plans called for by the above act were completed

during the following winter and on January 22, 1903, they Avere pre-

sented, together with an explanatory report, to a special committee of

the Board of Regents, appointed the previous year, "to represent to

Congress the pressing necessity of additional room for the proper

exhibition of specimens belonging to the National Museum." This

committee, consisting of the six Congressional Regents, namely, Sen-

ators O. II. Piatt, S. :\r. CnUlom, and F. :M. C^ockrell. and Representa-

tives R. R. Ilitt, Robert Adams, jr., and Hugh A. Dinsmore, after

NAT MUS 1903 19
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a full di.sciif^sion, })iiss('d the follow'mj;- I'osolution, which was subse-

(|uently transmitted to Congress:

That under the Hinitations of the law the eoniinittee hereby report to Congress

Plan B for a new National Mnsenni l)uilding as the best ol)tainal)le for the amonnt

mentioned; but in the judgment of the connnittee the larger plan, A, is V^elieved

to be the one wliich should ])e adopted, and we therefore ask that Congress shall

make the appropriation for it instead of for tlie smaller plan.

On January !23, 1903, the plans and report wore transmitted to Con-

gress and printed as Document No. 314, House of Representatives,

Fifty-seventh Congress, second session. The arguments presented in

the report have practically all been set forth in previous pages of this

paper, and therefore only such extracts need be quoted here as relate

to the plans and to the questions directly concerning their preparation.

Of the plans themselves only two are given, one, marked "A,'' show-

ing the outlines of the entire building as then designed, the other,

marked " B," showing the half of the building, which it was estimated

could be erected for the sum of f>l, 500,000, the limit of cost first

established. Following tire the extracts from the report prepared by

the assistant secretary in charge of the Museum:

The plan contemplates a rectangular building al)out 486 feet front l)y about o-15

feet deep and about 80 feet high including the basement. The building is designed

for four floors, and will afford about 400,000 square feet of floor space, the first and

second floors to be used for exhibition, the basement and upper floor for storage,

workrooms, and other purposes necessary to the conduct of a museum. It could be

erected in substantial form as a fireproof building for a sum not exceeding 13,000,000.

The plan has been designed in such a manner that approximately one-half of the

building could be constructed at once, presenting the appearance of a completed

building and suitable for the Museum needs. This half would consist of the main

or south wing and the middle wing, and is exhibited in a separate drawing. Whilst

it would in no way provide for the growth of the Museum, it would relieve the

present congested condition of the exhibition halls, render possible a proper classifi-

cation of the reserve collections, and remove the necessity of employing any rented

buildings.

The plan of the liuilding lias been drawn after a study of all important existing

museums, both in this country and abroad, and eiid)odies their useful features and

avoids defects which have been revealed in the course of time. It is expected that,

should this building ])e authorized, it would be superior for museum purposes to any

building in this country or al)road, and it is respectfully recommended that the sum
of $1,500,000 be appropriated for the construction of substantially so much of the

building as is exhibited in Plan B.
* * * * * * *

The National jNIuseum occupies the ])uilding erected for its use in 1881, the greater

part of the Smithsonian building, parts of three detached l)uildingson the Mall, and

several renteil buildings south of B sti'eet SW. The area represented, together with

the general use to which the several floors of the larger l)uildings and each of the

smaller l)uil(lings are devoted, is shown in the following table:

Smithsonian building: Square feet.

Basement ( maiidy storage and heating plant) 11, 778

Ground floor (mainly exhibition halls) 17, 372

Second floor (mainly workrooms) 6, 587
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Square feet.

Third floor (mainly exhihitioii) 10, 889

Upper part of north tower ( workrooms and storapre) 2, 617

East end ( ofhces, shipping rooms, etc. ) 2, 755
51,998

Museum building:

Ground floor (exhibition) 74, 209

(Tallery floor (mainly exhibition) 28, 986

Central towers and pavilions (mainly workrooms, storage, offices,

library, etc. ) 40, 293
143,488

Outside buildings:

Smithsonian stalile (taxidermist's workroom) 615

Frame building on Smithsonian reservation (taxidermist's and

1 mechanical workshop ) 1, 400

Frame building on Armory Square (storage of specimens) 7, 073

Buildings at No. 431 Ninth street SW. (rented—storage of speci-

mens and property) 21 , 129

Building No. 309 to 313 Tenth street SW. (rented—storage of

specimens, preparators' and mechanical workshops) 6, 406

Building No. 217 Seventh street SW. (rented—carpenter shops). 3,655

Building in rear of 915 Virginia avenue SW. (rented, paint and
glass shop) 2, 925

43,203

Total space now occupied 238, 689

The allotments of space by subjects and by departments is as follows:

By subjects: S<iuarefeet.

Exhibition 112, 697

Storage of reserve collections, scientific laboratories, and workrooms 75,468

General and miscellaneous purposes, including mechanical workshops
and storage, heating plant, liljrary, lecture hall, pul^lic comfort,

administrative ofiices, etc 50, 524

Total 238, 689

By departments:

Anthropology, including ethnology, archaeology, Ameri(!an history, and
arts and industries 78, 280

Biology, including zoology and botany 72, 914

Geology, including division of practical geology 36, 971

General and miscellaneous purposes 50, 524

Total 238, 689

An inspection of the several buildings shows conditions which are exceedingly
deplorable for the National Mtiseum of a great country. Every branch is seriously

liampered by the total inadequacy of the space assigned it, and the proper disposition

of specimens long ago became impossible, with the result that year after year valu-

able collections, often of large size, have had to be paiked away in insecure rented

buildings, where they are also inaccessible. While the Museum building is not ill

adapted to exhibition ]>urposes, it is much too small to serve the ])resent needs. Its

halls are overcrowded, the cases being generally placed so near together that two
persons can scarcely pass between them and no effective view of their contents can
be obtained. An increase in space of one-half to two-thirds at least would be nec-
essary to i)roperly display the present contents of these halls.



292 REPORT OF NATIONAL MUSEUM, 1903.

Having practically no l)ayenient, the only space available for the reserve storage,

workrooms, and offices is the small rooms of the central towers and corner paviMons,

except that some of the galleries designed for exhibition have from necessity been

turned over to these purposes. In these quarters the specimens are packed almost

solidly, in cases generally reaching to such a height as to make access to the upper

ones extremely inconvenient. The workers have scarcely room in which to place

their tables, and there is little space anywhere for the spreading out of specimens for

purposes of study and classification or of preparation for exhibition.

In the Smithsonian building, which was originally designed to l)e used only in

small part for museum purposes, the conditions are similar. There are four exhi-

bition halls, three used for zoology and one for prehistoric archaeology. The latter,

occupying the entire upper floor of the main building, has, through the loosening

and fall of large areas of plaster from the ceiling, been pronounced unsafe and closed

to the public until funds can be obtained for its repair and renovation. The large

corresponding room on the ground floor has four galleries extending nearly its entire

length, which some fifteen years ago were turned into work and storage quarters

for several branches of zoology. They are overcrowded with cases and tables and

are, moreover, extremely unhealthful places for the assistants stationed there because

of the impure air arising from the exhibition floor below.

In the basement is stored the greater part of the valuable alcoholic collection of

the Museum, in a series of dark, damp rooms, wholly unsuited to the purpose, and

where a great deal of work has to be carried on. The other workrooms and store-

rooms in the Smithsonian building, besides two or three small ones on the main

floor, are in the north tower, which is utilized for these purposes up to the height of

the seventh story. It is scarcely necessary to explain that many of these rooms, all

of which are very small, are inconvenient of access, and that specimens can be car-

ried to and from them only with difficulty.

Many of the activities of the Museum and much the greater part of its storage have

for a long period had to be provided for in outside buildings, partly on the Mall and

partly rented at an annual expense of over $4,000. The taxidermists are quartered

in the upper pait of the Smithsonian stable and in a temporary frame structure back

of the Smithsonian building. On Armory square, adjoining the Fish Commission

building, is an old, dilapidated wooden shed filled with specimens. On Ninth street

SW. there is under lease a large area of land covered with wooden sheds containing

an immense amount of valuable collections and much other Museum property. The

greater part of the so-called Marsh collection of vertebrate fossils, which has been

valued at above $150,000, is still stored in a rented building at Tenth street and Mary-

land avenue, which also provides space for several preparators' workshops. Two
other rented buildings are likeM'ise required to accommodate the extensive carpenter,

paint, and glazing shops which are required for the making of furniture and for the

repairs about the main buildings.

In order to carry out the purposes for which it exists, the National Museum requires

a greatly increased amount of space and that any additional space provided be better

adapted to its wants than that now occupied.

For the exhibition collections a connected series of relatively large rooms or halls _

is needed to permit of the arrangement of the specimens and groups of specimens

(many being of considerable size) in such manner as will best adapt them to the

comprehension of the public and, by the avoidance of crowding, allow them to be

viewed effectively.

The record collections, commonly known as the reserve or study series, comprising

the bulk of the material in most departments, while demanding such a convenient

disposition as will insure the ready examination of specimens, require relatively less

space than the exhibition collections, as they can be much more compactly arranged
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in drawers and on shelves. Yet their extent is so great that the question of their

accomniodatioii is one of the most important ones for consideration. Tliey have

lit't'n mainly derived from the Government surveys of the past sixty years and rep-

resent a very large expenditure of pulilic money.

For the activities of the Museum are needed many well-lighted and well-appointed

rooms to serve as laboratories for classifying collections and for scientific research

and as workshops for the prejiaration of specimens for study and for exhibition. It

sliould be noted in this connection that tiie Museum is called ujjon to furnish work-

rooms for several of the scientific bureaus, whose collections are partly studied there,

and that, by a recent act of Congress, it is incumbent upon the Musemu U) pro\ide

facilities for such students and investigators from any part of the country as may

choose to visit it for purposes of research.

Finally, space must be provided for certain general and miscellaneous purposes,

such as the mechanical workshops and storerooms, the heating plant, public-comfort

rooms, the library, a lecture hall, the administrative offices, etc.

An estimate of the amount of space needed ha.* been reached by a careful consid-

eration of the several requirements as set forth below, namely:

(1) To relieve the present very congested condition of the exhibition halls.

(2) To provide for the display of f)bjects now in storage which are suitaljle and

intended for public exhibition.

(3) Convenient and systematic storage for the vast reserve or record collections,

which are now for the most part inaccessible for examination.

(4) Suitable scientific lal)oratories, preparators' workshops, etc.

(5) The mechanical worksho{)S required in making repairs to buildings and in the

construction and repair of cases and other furniture and fixtures.

(6) Offices necessary for administrative and other purposes common to all the

branches of the Museum.

(7) The space required for the heating plant, the library, a lecture hall, public-

comfort rooms, and other miscellaneous purposes.

(8) Provision for future growth. The limitation of cost fixed by the sundry civil

appropriation act of June 28, 1902, prevents the carrying out of any extravagant

views in this regard; and if the building erected have only the area contemplated by

the plans svabmitted the National Museum will again be crowded and in need of

room certainly before the end of another ten years and probably of five years.

The growth of the Museum for a number of years past has been mainly through

the receii)t of material whii-h by law it must receive and care for. The amount of

material declined or diverted elsewhere during the last ten or fifteen years because of

the lack of room would have occupied a very large proportion of the present exhi-

bition space and have greatly increased the money value of the collections. The
same c*onditions have prevented the Museum authorities from soliciting large contri-

butions, Imt with adequate facilities many extensive exhil>it,s can be had for the

asking. The department of arts and industries, the more ]>ractical side of the

Museum, has perhaps sufferetl most from the lack of accommodations, l^arge exhibits

have had to be removed to storage, and the growth of this most important and

striking branch was necessarily stojiped some time ago. It should l)e made here, as

it has l)een in all the larger cai)itals of the world, one of the most important features

of tlie national collections, and its increase, once stimulated, would go forward rap-

idly and at relatively small expense, as generous donations might l)e exjiei-ted from

all quarters.

Using the above topics as a basis for calculations, the amount of space imme-
diately required has been worked out for each of the departments. This information

is summarized in the following table, which gives also for each sul)ject the space

now ot'cu]>ied. With regard to the present storage areas, it should be borne in mind
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that iriiicli of the niaterial in now compactly Htored in packinjr ])oxes, and if trans-

ferred to classified storage would sjtread out over many times the si)ace. The depart-

ments named an' those under which the jNluseum is classified for convenience of

administration.

Subject.

Exhibition space:

Department of anthropology, inchiding ethnology, archaeology, American

hi.story, and art.s and indu.stries

Deidirtment of biology, including zoology and botany

Department of geology, including museum of practical geology

Laboratories, workrooms, and storage:

Department of anthropology

Department of liiology

Department of geology

General and miscellaneous:

Administrative offices, record tiles, etc "

Mechanical workshops

Mechanical and miscellaneous storage

Library, photographic laboratory, lecture hall, restaurant, public comfort,

heating and electrical plant, etc

Entrances, hallways, etc

Total

Spa<'e
now oc
cupied

Sc/.feet.

.^SS, 790

34,00."")

19,901!

19, 490

;^8, 909

17, 009

t;, :m
8, 789

12, 032

19,056

4,141

238, 689

Siiace re-

c|uired.

Sq. fed.

184, 000

95, 000

74, 000

81,000

110,000

4(;, 000

12, 000

15, 000

22, 000

31,000

670, 000

With regard to the space now occupied, there are certain areas which, for various

reasons, slfould be abandoned, namely:
Square feet.

Rented buildings (area) 34, 115

Outside buildings on the Smithsonian reservation and Armory square, which

have been used only as temporary expedients and are for the most part

insecure structures (area) 9, 088

Space used for storage and some other purposes in the basement, in the upper

part of the north tower, and at the east end of the Smithsonian building,

being partly unsuitable and partly inaccessible (area) 12, 885

Total 56,088

Deducting this area from the total area now occupied (238,689 square feet) leaves

182,601 square feet as the amount of space now actually available and appropriate

for the future needs of the Museum. Again, deducting this amount from the total

space named above as required for the Museum (670,000 square feet) leaves approx-

imately 487,000 square feet to be provided for in a new building. The sum named
in the sundry civil act of June 28, 1902 ($1,500,000) as the limit of cost for the pro-

posed new building will not, however, permit of the erection by any method of

construction of a building having that amount of space.

Several jilans have been drawn in an effort to reconcile the needs of the Museum
with the limitation of cost proposed by Congress, but none succe.ssfully. The last

l)lan, contemplating the smallest size of building thi^t it has been judged advisable

to recommend, is the one herewith presented. It rei)resents a rectangular build-

ing, having a frontage of about 486 feet, a depth of about 345 feet, not including

projections, and a height above the ground at the front of about 70 feet. There will

be two open courts. The building is designed to have four floors, inclusive of the

basement (which will underlie the entire structure), and will afford about 400,000

square feet of floor space. The first and second floors are intended to be used for
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the public exhi))ition ('(illections and the baseiiiciit and n]>iicr floor for the reserve

or record collections, workrooms, ofliccs, and otliei- general ami miscellaneous pur-

poses. This is an approximately equal division of the space between the public

halls and the other requirements of the Museum. The plan shows entire simplicity

of design, and has been drawn with reference to the use of brick and terra cotta in

the construction of the outer faces, although stone could lie substituti'd ior these

materials if so ordered.

The interior arrangement al)ove the basement is a cond)ination of large and small

halls, the three largest halls l)eing lighted from above and having two series of gal-

leries of sufficient width to permit of their being screened off and made into series of

separate rooms for exhibition and other purposes. This arrangement has been

adopted as practically furnishing the largest possible amount of well-lighted floor

space in a building of the size ])ro[)(ised, and as presenting many other important

advantages. It is felt that a building i)ut up on these lines would in many, if not in

all, respects prove sui)erior for museum purposes to those of any existing museums,
either at home or abroad.

The cost of erecting a building in accordance with the plan submitted in a most

simple though substantial manner has been estimated at about $3,000,000. The
plan has been so designed, however, that approximately one-half the building can

be constructed separately, with practically the appearance of a completed building

and suited to the different kinds of museum requirements. This half would consist

of the main or south wing and the middle wing, as represented in a separate draw-

ing. While this part would not provide for future growth, it would relieve the

l^resent congested condition of the ^Museum, make outside storage unnecessary, and
render possible a safe disposition and essentially t-onvenient arrangement of the

present collections.

This half section of the building as planned could be erected for $1,500,000.

At the hearing'' before the House Committee on Appropriations, on

Januar3' 23, 1903, the question of legislation for the new building- was
thoroughly discussed. It was not douT)ted that half the building could

be erected within the limit of $1,500,000 fixed hy the act of the previ-

ous ,year, and the entire building for not exceeding $3,000,000, ])ut in

either case the fronts would require to be constructed of brick and

terra cotta. There was no objection to the use of these materials on

the score of durability, but in view of the lavge size of the building,

its conspicuous position, and the fact that it would be expected to rank

among the prominent pu})lic structures at the capital, it was urged

upon the connnittee that stone fronts would produce a more dignified

effect, and that the change in this respect would not add extravagantly

to the cost of the building. Estimates showed, in fact, that if stone

were employed the entire building could be erected within the sum of

$3,500,000, and one-half tlu; building within $1,()25,000.

The matter was not reported to the House in any form, ))iit in tlu^

Senate the granting of the full siun was favorably considered, and the

bill as there passed was finally agreed to in conference as an item in

the sundry civil act for the year ending June 30, lOO-l. It is as follows:

I'>iiilding for National .Museum: To enable the Regents of the Smithsonian Institu-

tion to commence the erection of a suitable fireproof building with granite fronts, for

the use of the National Museum, to be erected on tlie north side of the ^hdl, between
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Ninth and Twelftli streets northwest, suljstantially in accordance with the Plan A,

prei)ared and .submitted to Congress by the Secretary of the Smitlisonian Institution

under tlie {)r()visions of the act approved June twenty-eighth, nineteen hundred and

two, two hundred and lifty thousand dollars. 8aid building com2:)lete, including

heating and ventilating apparatus and elevators, shall cost not to exceed three million

live hundred thousand dollars, and a contract or contracts for its completion is hereby

authorized to be entered into subject to appropriations to be made by Congress.

The construction shall he in charge of Bernard R. Green, Superintendent of Build-

ings and Grounds, Lil)rary of Congress, wlio shall make the contracts herein author-

ized and disburse all aj)propriations made for the work, and shall rec^eive as full

compensation for liis services hereunder the sum of two thousand dollars annually

in addition to his present salary, to be paid out of said appropriations.

At a meeting- of the Board of Keg'ents on March 12, 1903, the passage

of the above act was announced, and it was resolved:

That the Secretary, with the advice and consent of the chancellor and the chair-

man of the executive connnittee, be authorized to represent the Board of Regents so

far as may be necessary in consultation with Bernard R. Green, to whom the con-

struction and contracts for the new Mu.seum building are committed by Congress in

the act making an appropriation for that purpose.

Some little time was consumed in the preliminar}^ arrangements,

which included the selection of Messrs. Hornblower & Marshall, of

Washington, as the architects of the building. The}^ had made the

lirst tentative sketches and the preliminary plans previously mentioned,

and it may also be said that for a number of j^ears they have acted

fof the Smithsonian Institution and National Museum in all matters

requiring architectural advice. They have likewise recently visited

many of the prominent museums of Europe, which has given them an

invalua])le experience in museimi requirements.

At the time of writing the general plans, showing the several floors

and fayades, are nearing completion.

DESCRIPTION.

It is imposi5ible at the present time to describe more than the lead-

ing features of this structure, since, though work upon the foundation

has begun, the plans are not entirely completed. The building will

be rectangular in shape, and faced with granite on all sides. It will

liavo a length of 551 feet, a width of 318 feet, exclusive of projections,

and a height of stonework above the basement floor of YT feet. There

will be four stories including the ))asemeiit, which, beginning above

tiie level of the adjoining street, will be well lighted and entirely

available for use. Tlu> main and second stories will contain tlu^ exhibi-

tion collections, while the basement and upper story will l)e allotted to

the many other requirements of a large nuiseimi.

In a general way it may l)e said that the building will consist pri-

marily of a main part in the shape of a l)i-oad T, comprising three

wide wings or sections diverging at right angles from a large rotunda

at the southern or princij)al entrance. Ranges of narrower width.
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one on each side and two at the north, will connect the three ends of

the T or main sections sous to inclose two lar^e open courts (each 12S

feet square), and thus complete tiie (piadrangle. The two south sec-

tions, which, with the rotunda, comprise the front part of the build-

ino-. will project slightly at each end beyond the w^alls of the side

ranges.

The new^ structure will he located on the north side of the Mall, in

the so-called Smithsonian Park, about midway between Ninth and

Twelfth streets, directly in front of the Smithsonian building, and with

its center, like that of the latter, on the axis of Tenth street. While

the main front and enti'ance wdll face southward, or toward the mid-

dle of the park, there will also be a commodious entrance by wa^- of

the basement on the north, as an approach from Tenth street. The

northern fayade will be about 78 feet from the sidewalk of B street

north, while the central projection thereof, containing the entrance,

will reach about 25 feet nearer to the street.

As the land rises rapidl}^ southward from B street, it has been

planned to have the basement floor slightl}' above the le\'el of that

street, but at the south the top of the basement will be nearly on a

level with the ground, Suita})le embankments will be built along the

sides of the building, inclosing a Inroad area, Avhich will also extend

along the south front, thus making the basement equivalent to a full

story for at least workroom, lalioratory, storage, and heating purposes.

Its height will be 14 feet.

The first and second stories, intended for the public, will be 20 feet

and 19 feet .5 inches high, respectivelv. The windows will measure 11

feet 9 inches high in the tirst and 12 feet high in the second, the cor-

responding ones in the two stories occupying the same embrasure,

though separated by ornamental metal work. These window^s will be

about Hi feet wide, and the intervening wall space about 7 feet wide,

giving a unit for the installation of exhibits of 18 feet 6 inches.

The third story will ])e 12 feet in height, with windows aljout 7 feet

high l)y 5 feet 3 inches wide, thus furnishing am])le light for all the

requirements of the laboratories and storerooms. In the three main

sections of the building thiu'e will be still another low story a])ove the

last, suitable for the storage of dried specimens.

The relativeh' small amount appropriated for this large building

has demanded simplicity of design and the omission of all extrava-

gant decoration. The lines and proportions have been so well phvnned,

however, that the structure can not fail to be onv of great dignity

and beauty and a worthy addition to the public buildings in Wash-
ington. The granite will be laid in ashlar courses, but the entrances

will be worked up with a certain amount of elaborateness. A metal

dome, with skylight, will cover the rotunda, and there will also besky-

iijihts a'vono- the main roofs for liiihtino- the laroe halls.
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Tho rotunda at the south, or main, entrance will be about 116 feet

scjuarc, and lighted entirely from above. It will connect directly

with the three great halls, which are to be similar in character and

of the same length and width, about 20J) by 116 feet, all provided

with galleries except at the inner ends adjoining the rotunda. The
galleries along the sides will be 32 feet wide, leaving an interspace of

50 feet width. This central or open part of the main halls will be lis

feet long and reach to ceiling lights imder the skylights, a distance

of ()() feet, while the galleries and sides of the tirst story will receive

their light from the large windows of the fronts and courts. The
galleries of the second and third floors are intended to be entirel}'

screened off from the central halls and treated as space that can be

divided to suit the requirements. The space under the galleries may
be treated in the same way or left open, as circumstances may dictate.

The remainder of the building, consisting of the ranges on the east,

west, and north, will be 5,5 feet in interior width and have solid floors,

one above the other, their light being entirely obtained from windows.

The main and second floors will, as before stated, be used Avholly

for the public exhi])ition collections, while the upper floor will he

divided into laboratories and storage rooms for the reserve collections.

The basement will have the same dimensions as the first floor, but

under the main halls it will require to l)e lighted artificially. The side

areas will bo of sufficient width for teams, which may enter the build-

ing at both ends of the south front. One of the south wings of the

basement will be utilized for the boilers, power plant, mechanical

workshops, etc, ; the other, as well as the ranges, probably for labora-

tories and for the storage of specimens in such lines as can best be

accommodated there, though some parts of the ranges may ])e availed

of for exhibition purposes.

The northern entrance will be b}^ way of the basement, into a large

vestibule with elevators and stairways. There will also be passage-

ways leading in all three directions, the central one commimicating

directly with a small lecture hall occupying the center of the middle

section of the basement. On each side of this hall will be a series of

small rooms, some of which can be used for connnittee meetings.

The net floor area of the building will be about 111,37-1 square feet,

or about 9.14 acres, subdivided as follows: Basement and main floor,

each about 110,732 square feet; second and third floors, each about

88,955 square feet.

FLOOR SPACE OCCUPIED BY THE NATIONAL MUSEUM.

The following is a detailed statement of the space occupied ])v the

Museum on January 1, 1901, arranged mainly in explanation of the

plans of the two principal existing buildings (Plates 21 and 29). Fig-

ures are also given for the outside buildings, but the plans for these

are omitted as being unim])()rtant.
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National Muskim Bun.niNG.

EXHIBITION HAL1,S AND (iALLERIES.«

North hall.
Square feet

American history (102 feet 8 inches by 62 feet 4 inches) 6,388

East hall.

Floor: Technology (102 feet 2 inches by 62 feet 4 inches) 6, 368

North gallery: Materia inedica (75 feet 6 inches by 14 feet) 1, 057

East gallery : Herbarinni (38 feet by 7 feet 6 inches) 282

Soutli gallery: Herbarium (86 feet 6 inches by 13 feet 6 inches) 1, 166
8,873

South Jiall.

Floor: Mammals (102 feet 1 inch by 62 feet 5 inches) 6, 371

Cialleries: Mammals (212 feet 8 inches by 14 feet; 17 feet 3 inches by

11 feet) 3,169
9, 540

West hall.

Floor: Ethnology, Eastern Hemisphere (102 feet 6 inches by 62 feet

4 inches) 6, 388

North gallery : Ethnology, Indo-Pacific region (86 feet 9 inches by 13

feet 9 inches) 1, 194

South gallery: Historic religions (86 feet 9 inches by 13 feet 9 inches) . . 1, 194

West gallery: Historic religions 301

9,077
Rotunda.

Floor: American history 2,516
Galleries: Miscellaneous 600

3, 116

Nortlieast court.

Floor: Graphic arts (63 feet 1.5 inches by 62 feet 3 inches) 3, 929
Galleries: Ceramics (209 feet 9 inches by 10 feet 3 inches) 2, 150

6,079
Southeast court.

Floor: Fossil vertebrates (63 feet 1 inch by 63 feet 1 inch) 3, 979

North and east galleries: Fossil invertebrates (105 feet 8 inches by 10 feet

3 inches) 1, 083

South and west galleries: Fossil plants (105 feet 8 inches by 10 feet 3

inches) 1 , 083
6, 145

Southwest court.

Floor: Applied geology (63 feet 1 inch by 63 feet 1 inch ) 3, 979

Gallery: Applied geologv (211 feet 4 inches by 10 feet 3 inches) 2, 166
6, 145

Northwest court.

Floor: Ethnology, Pueblo tribes (63 feet 2 inches by 62 feet 3 inches) . 3, 931

Gallery: Ethnology, Central and South America, Philippine Islands;

basketry (209 feet 10 inches by 10 feet 3 inches) 2, 151
. 6,0S2

East-north range.

Lecture hall (89 feet 4 inches by 49 feet 7 inches) 4, 429

"Partly used for classified storage and laboratory purposes, as noted.
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Northenst rang<'.

Square feet.

Floor: Water transportation ((iS feet 2 inches by 4i» iwt 10 indies) 3, 148

Southeast range.

Floor: Reptiles and fishes (63 feet 1 inch by 49 feet 11 inches) 3, 149

Second Hoor: Herl)ariuni (63 feet 1 inch by 19 feet 6 inches) 1, 230

Second floor: Bioloj^ical survey, nianmuil storage (63 feet 1 iiuih ])y

30 feet 5 inches) 1, 918
6, 297

Easf-soul}i, raiu/e.

Floor: Comparative anatomy (89 feet 6 inches by 49 feet 10 inches) . . 4, 463

Gallery: Storage, fossil vertebrates and invertebrates (1,394 feet),

insects (598 feet), (165 feet 2 inches bv 12 feet) 1, 992
6, 455

West-south range.

F''loor: Systematic geology (89 feet 6 inches by 49 feet 10 inches) 4, 463

Gallery: Storage, geology (598 feet), paleobotany (1,394 feet), (165

feet 2 inches by 12 feet) 1, 992
6, 455

Southtve.'it range.

Floor: Minerals and gems (63 feet 1 inch by 49 feet 11 inches) 3, 149

South gallery: Minerals, storage (37 feet 11 inches by 12 feet) 455

North and east galleries: Anthrojiological laboratory (101 feet by 12

feet) 1, 212
4, 816

Norlhieest range.

Floor: Ethnology, Eskimo and Northwest coast tribes (63 feet 2 inches

by 49 feet 10 inches) 3, 147

Gallery: Library (49 feet 10 inches by 12 feet 3 inches) 610
3, 757

West-nortli range.

Floor: Ethnology, Eastern and Great Plains tribes (89 feet by 49 feet

7 inches) 4, 412

South and west galleries: Library (114 feet 5 inches by 12 feet 1 inch ) . 1 , 383

East gallery: History, storage (49 feet 7 inches by 12 feet 1 inch) 598
6, 393

Total floor and gallery space 103, 195

TOWERS AND PAVILKJNS.

Nortli. toirer.

First floor:

Main entrance (25 feet 8 inches by 13 feet) 334

Superintendence, two otlices 527

Property office 250

Captain of the watch • 133

Stairway 126

Second floor:

Editorial offices 404

Biological survey, ))ird storage 860

Third floor:

Coins and medals 129

Telephone exchange , 1 29
2, 892
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EaM lower.

First floor: Square feet.

Entrance 340

Storage of supplies 256

Teclinology , office 275

Herbarium 256

Restaurant 1 , 186

Second floor:

Herbarium 1 , 062

Third floor:

Herbarium 378

3, 753

South tower.

First floor:

Head curator of biology, offices 573

Comparative anatomy, la])oratory 275

I n vertel)rate paleontology, laboratory 523

Second floor:

Paleobotany, laboratories 845

Invertebrate jialeontology, laboratories 253

Third floor:

Paleobotanv, laboratories 260

2, 729

West tower.

First floor:

Head curator of anttiropology, offices 724

Ethnology, laboratories 529

Stairway 133

Second floor:

Ethnology, laboratories 247

Historic archpeology and religions, laboratory 249

Ethnology, storage 460

Third floor:

Ethnology, storage 132

Ethnology, laboratory 132
2,606

Northeast pavilion.

First floor:

Mammals, laboratories and storage 1, 032

Birds' eggs, lal)oratory and storage 600

Superintendence 30

Stairway 230

Second floor:

P^thnology , laboratory J 89

jNIateria mcdica, laboratory 209

Reptiles and batrachians, laboratories and storage 1, 206

Stairway 213

Tliird floor:

^lammals, storage 1, 341

Basement:

Mammals, storage, alcoholic and dry 1, 227

6, 277

s



302 REPORT OF NATIONAL MUSEUM, 1903.

SoiitJieaM jxiriliov.

First floor: Square feet.

Men's toilet room 524

Women's toilet room 614

I nsects, laboratory and storage (Lepidoptera) 900

Stairway 100

Second floor:

Insects, laboratories and storage 1, 183

Photographic laboratory 558

Stairway 110

Third floor:

Photographic laboratory 1 , 440

Fonrth floor:

Photograph print room 79

5, 508

Southwest pavilion.

First floor:

Engineer's office 186

Fossil invertebrates, laboratories and storage 784

Geology, laboratories and storage 864

Stairway 193

Second floor:

Head curator of geology, offices 397

Geology, laboratories and storeroom 1 , 210

Stairway 232

Third floor:"

Mineralogy, laboratory 1, 390

Basement:

Pump room 169

I?oiler room 848

Blacksmith shop 1 , 026

Fuel vaults 2, 436

Stairway 213
9, 948

Northwest pavilion.

First floor:

Vestibule and anteroom 414

Administrative assistant, offices 872

Library .' 929

Second floor:

Assistant secretary, offices 1 , 040

T^ibrary : 502

Stairway _

.

148

Third floor:

Office of correspondence and documents 1 , 320

Basement:

Storage, electrotypes of publications 766

Storage, documents 169

Storage, miscellaneous supplies 420
6, 580

Total floor space in towers and pavilions 40, 293

Total floor and gallery space 103, 195

Total floor space in building 143,488
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SmI'IIISONIAN J5uiLl)IN(i.

PARTS occi rii:i) hy tiik national museum

B(t.vine)it.

" 1. ( International exchanges.

)

Square feet.

2. (International exchanges.)

3. Fuel storage 1,021

4. Boiler room 675

5. Machine shop :W2

6. Electrical storage and connections (iO(3

7. Toilet room ()3

8. (Smithsonian Institution.)

9. Mechanical storage .' 358

10. Men's toilet room 384

11. Women's toilet room 353

12. Supplies, storage 423

Corridor between 12 and 14. Fishes, alcoholic storage 270

13. Mollusks, dry and alcoholic storage 460

Corridor 1)etween 13 and 15. ^larine invertebrates, alcoholic storage. .

.

270

14. Mollusks, alcoholic storage 695

15. 16, and 17. Marine invertebrates, alcoholic stoi'age 1, 498

Corridors between 16, 17, and 18. Fishes, alcoholic storage 626

18. Fishes, alcoholic storage 1, 195

19. Birds, dry and alcoholic storage 1 , 367

20. Fishes, alcoholic storage : 1, 132

First floor.

21. Main entrance hall 279

22. Office of Snjierintendence 233

23. Headquarters of the Watch : 230

24. Game animals and archaeology, exhibition hall (stairway hall) 742

25. Birds, exhil)ition hall (200 feet 4 inches by 49 feet 11 inches). (The

exhibition cases of mollusks occupy 739 square feet through the cen-

ter of this hall) 9,992

26. Children's room, exhibition hall (25 feet 4 inches by 22 feet 8 inches)... 574

27. Insects, exhil)ition hall (60 feet by 37 feet) 1 2, 220

28. Fishes, laboratory 378

29. Marine invertebrates, laboratory 227

30. Marine invertel)rates, e.xhil)ition hall (H() feet 7 inches by 34 feet H

inches) 2, 497

Second Jfoor.

31 and 32. Mollusks, laboratory, and storage, two main galleries and one end
gallery .- 2, 541

33. Birds, laboratory, and storage, one main gallery and one end gallery 1,325

34. Marine invertebrates, laboratory, and storage, one main gallery 1,216

35. (Smithsonian Institution, storage of instruments.)

36. Office, exposition archives 97

37. Birds, laboratory 233

38. Marine invertebrates, laboratory 325

«The numbers refer to the floor jilans of the building (Plates 28 and 29), exclusive

of the eastern end, which is mostly used by the Smithsonian Institution for adminis-

trative purposes, the library, exchange service, etc.
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Sfjiiare foi't.

39. Biological lalwratory 23.3

40. Fishes, storage 617

Third jliior.

41. Prehistoric archirology, exhibition hall (200 feet by 49 feet 7 inches) 9,916

42. (Smithsonian Institution, former Regents' room.)

43. Prehistoric archaeology, storage 198

44. 45, and 46. Prehistoric archseology, laboratory 775

North tower, upptr Jh)or>i.

47-53, and 56. Mollnsks, laboratories, and storage 1, 372

54 and 55. Marine invertel)rates, storage 266

57-62. These rooms constitute the five up])er stories of the north tower and

are not occupied 979

South foicer, upper _ftn<>rs.

The floors above the old Regents' room are used by the Institution mainly

for the storage of publications.

63. Registrar's othce and tiles 424

64. Shipping office 287

65. Disbursing office 471

66. Registrar's storage (basement) 865

67. Documents, storage, and shipping rooms 708

Total floor space in Smithsonian 51, 998

Outside Buildincis.

Frame huildiu;/ on reservation soidh of Sinitliwniun huiulimj.

Square feet.

Mammal taxidermists' workroom 1, 060

Tin shop 340

Total - 1, 400

Natural History Laboratory on reservation //v.s7 uf Siulthsnnidn Imddiny.

Bird taxidermists' workroom, second floor 615

Frame shed on Armory square adjacent to Bureau of Fisheries {eiitiniy used for storage)

.

Anthropology: Square feet.

Ethnology 490

Fisheries exhibit 4, 215

Technology 745

American history 112
5,562

Biology:

Mammals 1 , 318

Geology

:

Minerals .' 193

Total 7, 073

Three buildings on Smithsonian and Armory reservations 9, 088

« Tiiese numbers are not given on the plans.
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Ili(ihliii(/!< lit 4.il ytiilh ^h-i'i-l ,S'ir. {ri'iili'il). {Our lirirk haihlhuj, xmrnl Jruiiif sliedn,

(iiiil II htriji' inicnrcml Kirn niliri'/i/ iixiil for slofiKjc)

AllllirojHilogy: Sciuare feet.

Kthii(il()<j;y •">, '>07

Technol( )gy '^11

Water tniiii^ix )rtat i( >ii 1 22

.American history •>"

(), 500

I'liology:

Mammals - 2, 010

Birds - ^OO

Comparative anatomy 1 , 110

^Samples of woods 1 22
3, 742

Geology

:

Economie ge( )logy 542

Minerals - 535

Fossil yerteljrates 1, 024

Fossil invertebrates 813

Fossil plants 542
3,456

Superintendence

:

Cases, tools, etc (i, 086

Miscellaneous supplies 445

Total 21, 129

Building at Tndh street luid Maryland, urenue SW. {rented).

Anthropology:

Ethnology, workroom 937

Ethnology, storage 165
1,102

Biology:

Comparative anatomy, woi'kroom 706

Comparative anatoniv, storage 216
922

Geology:

Economic geology, workroom 305

Economic geology, storage 1 65

Fossil vertebrates, workroom 1, 166

Fossil vertebrates, storage 1, 417

3, 053
Label office 729

Heating and power plant 600

Total 6, 406

Building at 217 Seventh kreet SW. {rented).

Carpenter shop on all three floors 3, 387

Anthropological workroom ( model making) 26S

Total 3, 655

Ihiildlng in rear of 91'> Virginia arenue S\V. {rented).

Paint and glass shop, two floors 2, 925

Total rented buildings 34, 1 15

NAT MUS 1903 20
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TOTAI, Fl.OOIi AKEA (K'CUl'lEI) liV TIIK INITKI) .STATICS NATIONAI. MUSKUM.

S<iuari' feet.

Museum building - - - l-l-^, -488

Bmithsonian l)uil(linfj; .'il,998

Three buildings on Sniitlisonian and Armory reservations 9, 088

Kented l)uildings :U., Uf)

Total 238,689

U. S. National Muskum.

ALLOTMENTS OP' SPACE, ARRANGED HY Sl'Jl./ECTS, JANUARY 1. 1901,.

DEPARTMENT OF ANTHROI'OUK4Y.

Exhibition halh.

Ethnology: So.uarefeet

Eastern and Great Plains tribes 4, 412

Pueblo tril)es -.
. 3, 931

Eskimo and Nortbwestern tribes 3, 147

Central and 8outh America 1, 076

Eastern Hemisphere 4, 851

Indo-Pacific region -^ 1 , 194

Philiiipine Islands 537

Basketry 538
19,686

Historic archeology 1 j
''•^7

Prehistoric archeology 9, 916

Technology «, ^^68

Water transportation 3, 148

Graphic arts 3, 929

Ceramics 2, 1 50

Materia medica • 1 ,
0*^7

Religions 1, 495

American history - 8, 904

Miscellaneous (rotunda galleries) 600

Olficex, lahoraforirx, irurlcr(M>iiis, (iml xtorafjc.

Office of Head Curator 724

Laboratories and classified storage:

Ethnology 2, 580

Historic archeology and religions 249

Prehistoric archeology 973

Technology 275

Materia medica 209

American historv 727

5,013

Preparators' workrooms 1, 526 ^

Gross storage:

Ethnology 6, 162

Technology - - 5, 771

Water transportation 122

American historv 172
12 227

Total for anthropology - - - 78, 280
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DEl'AliTMKNT OF BIOLOGY.

Exldbition halls.

Sfjuare feet.

Mammals 9, 540

Birds 9, 253

Reptiles and fishes 3, 149

Insects 2, 220

MoUusks 739

Other marine invertebrates 2, 497

Comparative anatomy 4, 463

Game animals ., 742

Children's room 574
33, 177

Offices, hdiunitorics, vorkrooms, and storage.

Offices of Head Curatiir 573

Laboratories and classified storage:

Mammals 5, 51

8

Birds 3, 532

Birds' eggs 600

Reptiles and batrachians 1 , 206

Fishes 4, 451

Insects 2, 681

Mollusks 5, 068

Other marine invertel)rates 3, 802

Comparative anatomy 275

Herbarinm 4, 374
31,507

Preparators' workrooms:

Mammal taxidermists 1, 060

Bird taxidermists 615

Comparative anatomy 706
2, 381

Gross storage;

Mammals 3, 328

Birds , 500

Comparative anatomy 1, 326

Plants 122

5,276

Total for l)i()logy 72,914

DEI'AKTMENT OF GEOLOGY.

Exhibition halls.

Systematic geology 4, 463

A.pplied geology 6, 145

Mineralogy 3, 149

Vertebrate fossils 3, 979

Invertebrate fossils „ _ 1 ^ 083

Fossil plants 1 , 083
19,902
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(>l}i(:t:>^, Idlinrnloricx, irorkrooiiift, mid Klora;/)'.

Siiuare feet.

(M\u-e of I load Curator '.V.il

Laboratories and classified storage:

General geology 2, 672

Minerals 1, 845

Fossil vertebrates - 1, 39-4

Fossil invertebrates 1 , 560

Fossil plants 2, 499
9, 970

Preparators' workrooms:

General geologj' 305

Fossil vertebrates ] , 166
1,471

Gross storage:

General geology 707

Minerals 728

Fossil vertebrates 2, 441

Fossil invertebrates 813

Fossil plants 542
5, 231

Total for geology 36, 971

ADMINISTRATION, GENERAL WORKSHOPS AND STORAGE, AND MISCELLANEOUS.

Offices:

Assistant Secretary in charge 1, 040

Administrative assistant 872

Correspondence and documents 1, 320

Superintendence 760

Disbursing officer 471

Registration 424

Shipping - 287

Property 250

Editorial 404

Engineer : 186

Watch headquarters 363

Telephone exchange 129
6, 50()

Library 3, 677

Photographic laboratory 2, 077

Lecture hall 4, 429

Restaurant 1 ,
186

Toilet rooms 1, 938

Heating plants:

Boiler room (Museum) , 1, 017

'Fuel storage (Museum ) 2, 436

Boiler room ( Smithsonian ) 675

Fuel storage ( Smithsonian ) 1 , 021

Tenth street building 600
5, 749
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Workshopp: Square feet.

Carpenter 3, 387

Painting and glass 2, 925

Blacksniitli 1, 026

Machine. 382

Tinsniitli 340

Label printing 729
8.789

Storage:

Cases, tools, etc 7, 016

Miscellaneous supi)lie.s 1 , 544

Mechanical supplies 358

Electrical supplies, etc 606

Publications 877

Electrotypes of publications 766

Registrar' s 865
12, 032

Entrances, halls, stairways, etc 4, 141

Total for administration, etc 50, 524

SUMMATION BY DEPARTMENTS.

Anthropology 78, 280

Biology 72, 914

Geology 36, 971

Administration, general workshops and storage, and miscellaneous 50, 524

Total 238, 689

I

SUMMATION BY SUBJECTS.

Exhibition halls:

Anthropology 58, 790

Biology 34, 005

Geology 19, 902
112,697

Scientific offices, laboratories, workrooms, and classified storage:

Anthropology 5, 737

Biology. 31 , 252

Geolbgv - 10, 367
47, 356

Preparators' workrooms:

Anthropology 1, 526

Biology 2, 381

Geology 1, 471
5, 378

Gross storage of collections:

Anthropology 1 2, 227

Biology 5, 276

Geology 5, 231

22,734
Administrative offices 6, 506

Library, photographic laboratory, lecture hall, restaurant, toilet rooms 13,307

Heating plants 5, 749

Workshops (construction and repair) 8, 789

Storage of outfit, supplies, publications, etc 12, 032

Entrances, halls, stairways, etc 4, 141

Total 238,689


